
1 

AGENDA 
Mason Transit Authority Board 

Regular Meeting 
July 21, 2020, 4:00 p.m. 
Mason Transit Authority 

Pursuant to Governor’s Proclamation 20-28.7, the public 
meeting held virtually using the follow ing WebEx credentials 

To join by phone: 1-408-418-9388 
Meeting number (access code): 126 706 9767 (Password) 0790 

Mason County is currently in Stage 3, therefore members of the public 
may also attend in person. 

OPENING PROTOCOL 
CALL TO ORDER 
ROLL CALL AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 
ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA – ACTION 

CORRESPONDENCE 

CONSENT AGENDA – ACTION 
1. Pg. 003: Approval of Minutes: Approval of the minutes of the May 19, 2020

 MTA regular Board meeting. 
2. Pg. 006: Financial Reports:  May and June, 2020
3. Pg. 013: Check Approval: May 14 – July 13, 2020

REGULAR AGENDA 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: [None] 
1. Pg. 018: Pear Orchard Cooperative Agreement– Resolution No. 2020-12 – ACTIONABLE 

(Danette) 

NEW BUSINESS: 
1. Pg. 042: Union Contract for Drivers CBU – Resolution No. 2020 –13 ACTIONABLE (Danette)
2. Pg. 095: First view of Transit Development Plan (TDP) – DISCUSSION  (Danette)
3. Pg. 120: Revised Drug & Alcohol Policy (POL-301) – Resolution No. 2020-14 –

 ACTIONABLE (LeeAnn) 
4. Pg. 135: WSTIP Risk Profile – INFORMATIONAL  – (Danette)
5. Pg. 148: Surplus Vehicles – Resolution No. 2020-15 – ACTIONABLE (Marshall)
6. Pg. 151: Change Order 1 – Radich Building Parking Lot – ACTIONABLE (Danette)
7. Pg. 153: Change Order 7 and 8 – Roundabout Project – INFORMATIONAL (Danette)
8. Pg. 161: Change Order 2 – Pear Orchard - ACTIONABLE (Danette)

INFORMATIONAL 
Reports 

1. Pg. 163: Park and Ride Update
2. Pg. 164: Management Reports

GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

COMMENTS BY BOARD 

ADJOURNMENT 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 1



 

2 
 

UPCOMING MEETINGS: 
 
 

Public Hearing on Transit Development Plan 
(Members of the public may attend in person or virtually. 

See www.masontransit.org for more details) 
Mason Transit Authority 
July 29, 2020 at 5:30 p.m. 

Port of Allyn 
Meeting Room 

18560 State Route 3 
Allyn 

 
Public Hearing on Transit Development Plan 

(Members of the public may attend in person or virtually. 
See www.masontransit.org for more details) 

Mason Transit Authority 
August 6, 2020 at 5:30 p.m. 

MTA Transit-Community Center 
601 West Franklin Street 

Shelton 
 

Mason Transit Authority 
Regular Meeting 

August 18, 2020 at 4:00 p.m. 
MTA Transit-Community Center 

601 West Franklin Street 
Shelton 

 
All participants are welcome. The meeting locations are ADA accessible. If you anticipate needing any type 
of accommodation or have questions about the physical access provided, please call 360-426-9434 in 
advance. We will make every effort to meet accommodation requests. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 2

http://www.masontransit.org/
http://www.masontransit.org/


1 

 

               

Mason Transit Authority 
Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting  
May 19, 2020 
Pursuant to Governor’s Proclamation 20-05, the 
public meeting was held virtually using WebEx 
with the public being able to attend in listen-only mode. 
 
OPENING PROTOCOL 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 4:00 p.m.  
 
Authority Voting Board Members Present: Wes Martin, Chair; Sharon Trask, Vice Chair; 
John Campbell, Kevin Dorcy, Matt Jewett, Deb Petersen, Kevin Shutty and 
Sandy Tarzwell. Quorum met, all named Board members present via WebEx virtual 
conference. 
 
Authority Voting Board Members Not Present: Randy Neatherlin. 
 
Authority Non-voting Board Member Present via WebEx virtual conference: 
Greg Heidal, Business Representative, IAM and AW, District Lodge 160. 
 
Citizen Advisor to the Board Present via WebEx virtual conference: John Piety 
 
Others Present: Danette Brannin, General Manager, Tracy Becht, Clerk of the Board, 
LeeAnn McNulty, Administrative Services Manager; Marshall Krier, Maintenance and Facilities 
Manager and Mike Ringgenberg, Operations Manager. 
 
Others Present via WebEx conference: 
Robert Johnson, Legal Counsel. 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA 
 
Moved that the agenda for the May 19, 2020 Mason Transit Authority (MTA) regular board 
meeting be approved. Campbell/Petersen. Motion carried. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
Mason Transit Authority received a thank you card for its assistance in recent deliveries of 
weekly meals and monthly commodities. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved to approve Consent Agenda items 1 – 3, as follows: 
 

1. Moved to approve the minutes of the MTA regular Board meeting of April 21, 2020. 
 
2. Moved that the Mason Transit Authority Board approve the financial reports for May, 

2020 as presented. 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 3



2 

 

               

3. Moved that the Mason Transit Authority Board approve the payments of April 15, 
2020 through May 13, 2020 financial obligations on checks #34033 through #34127, 
as presented for a total of $1,547,165.51. 

 
Campbell/Trask. Motion carried. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS [None.] 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
1. CARES Act 5311 Operating Grant Agreement – Danette Brannin, General Manager, 

described to the Board the purpose of this funding assistance through Washington State 
Department of Transportation’s Operating Grant program to receive federal dollars in 
connection with the FTA 5311 Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act. 
Citizen Representative John Piety asked whether or not there might be more money coming. 
Ms. Brannin indicated that there may be, but unknown with certainty. Moved that the 
Mason Transit Authority Board approve Resolution No. 2020-10 that approves the Operating 
Grant Agreement PTD0192 and authorizes the General Manager to sign that Agreement. 
Shutty/Trask. Motion carried. 

 
2. Electronic Signature Policy (POL-705) – Ms. Brannin described the advantages to using 

electronic signatures, not only in the current COVID-19 environment, but also in the future 
when documents need to be signed while she is traveling and in other circumstances. She 
also stated that the policy had been reviewed by Sandy Tarzwell of the Policy Committee and 
Legal Counsel. Moved that the Mason Transit Authority Board approve Resolution No. 2020-
11 and the attached Electronic Signature Policy (POL-705).  Trask/Campbell. Motion 
carried.  

 
INFORMATIONAL 
Ms. Brannin shared that the roundabout construction in Belfair is almost finished and that 
Marshall Krier, Maintenance and Facilities Manager, is taking care of the final details of the T-CC 
Parking Lot which is also near completion. Board member Campbell inquired about the Shelton-
Matlock park & ride timeline and Ms. Brannin indicated that she is anticipating the work to begin 
in the fall. 
 
GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT – No further additions.  
 
COMMENTS BY THE BOARD – [None]. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – The Board Chair announced that the Board was going to move into 
Executive Session for 20 minutes. There was no public in attendance of the WebEx meeting. It 
was confirmed that the only members permitted into the Executive Session were the voting 
Board members, General Manager and Legal Counsel; therefore, all others had either departed 
the WebEx conference or were in the WebEx or Johns Prairie office lobbies. The Executive 
Session commenced at 4:19 pm. At 4:39 pm, it was announced that the Executive Session 
would continue for five more minutes. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 4



3 

 

               

 
RESUME OPEN SESSION – The Board Chair announced that the meeting was opened in 
regular session. Restriction of any remaining in the electronic lobby was lifted and the meeting 
resumed at 4:44 p.m. 
 
Moved that the meeting be adjourned.  

ADJOURNED 4:45 p.m. 
 
UPCOMING MEETING 

 
 

Mason Transit Authority 
Regular Meeting 

June 16, 2020 at 4:00 p.m. 
MTA Transit-Community Center 

601 West Franklin Street 
Shelton 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 5



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 6



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 7



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 8



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 9



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 10



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 11



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 12



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 13



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 14



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 15



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 16



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 17



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   Unfinished Business – Item 1 – Actionable 
Subject:    Cooperative Agreement with the City of Shelton 
Prepared by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager  
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
As part of the overall park & ride development project, MTA is constructing a park & 
ride on property owned by the city of Shelton known as Pear Orchard. 
 
The project will consist of improvements to the Pear Orchard Park and Ride Facility, 
which will include new pavement, pavement reconstruction, stormwater facilities, 
illumination, security, signing, striping, bus shelter and other work, all in accordance 
with the Contract Plans, Provisions and Standard Specifications. 
 
The Cooperative Agreement is needed to provide an understanding of the 
responsibilities of each party and to provide terms of agreement.  
 
Legal Counsel has reviewed the Cooperative Agreement.  
 
 
Summary:  Approve the Cooperative Agreement with the City of Shelton and authorize 
the General Manager to sign the Cooperative Agreement. 
 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
TBD. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approve. 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
 
Move that the Mason Transit Authority Board adopt Resolution No. 2020-12 approving 
the Cooperative Agreement between Mason Transit Authority and the City of Shelton for 
the purpose of the Pear Orchard Park & Ride and authorizing the General Manager to 
sign the Cooperative Agreement. 
 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 18



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 19



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 20



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 21



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 22



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 23



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 24



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 25



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 26



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 27



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 28



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 29



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 30



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 31



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 32



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 33



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 34



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 35



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 36



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 37



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 38



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 39



Resolution No. 2020-12 Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-12 

A RESOLUTION OF THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY BOARD 
APPROVING THE INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF 

SHELTON REGARDING PEAR ORCHARD PARK AND RIDE OPERATION 
AND MAINTENANCE AND AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO 

SIGN THAT AGREEMENT. 
 
 

WHEREAS, Mason Transit Authority (“MTA”) through its Authority Board desires to 
construct and operate a park and ride lot commonly known as the Pear Orchard Park and Ride 
located near SR 3 and Front Street in Shelton, WA; and 

 
WHEREAS, MTA and the City of Shelton (“City”) desire to enter into an agreement 

relating to the operation and maintenance of the Pear Orchard Park and Ride lot, which is 
located on real property owned by the City; and 

 
WHEREAS, MTA provides public transportation within the City of Shelton and 

Mason County, and has adopted a comprehensive plan to provide mass transit for said rural 
area, which includes providing transit service at the Pear Orchard Park and Ride lot; and 

 
WHEREAS, MTA agrees to operate and maintain the park and ride lot in exchange for 

the right to operate transit services; and  
 
WHEREAS, MTA and the City are authorized to enter into this agreement pursuant to 

Chapter 39.34 RCW;  
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

BOARD approved the Cooperative Agreement between MTA and the City relating to the 
operations and maintenance of the Pear Orchard Park and Ride; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to sign the 

Cooperative Agreement. 
 

Adopted this 21st day of July, 2020. 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Wes Martin, Chair     Sharon Trask, Vice-Chair 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
John Campbell, Authority Member   Kevin Dorcy, Authority Member 
 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 40



Resolution No. 2020-12 Page 2 of 2 
 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 
Matt Jewett, Authority Member    Randy Neatherlin, Authority Member  
 
 
______________________________  ____________________________ 
Deborah Petersen, Authority Member  Kevin Shutty, Authority Member 
 
 
______________________________  
Sandy Tarzwell, Authority Member 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO CONTENT:         
          Danette Brannin, General Manager 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:        
    Robert W. Johnson, Legal Counsel 
 
 
ATTEST:        DATE:      
           Tracy Becht, Clerk of the Board 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 41



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item: New Business – Item 1 – Actionable 
Subject:   Union Contract for Drivers 
Prepared by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:   July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
We have completed the negotiations with the International Association of Machinists 
and Aerospace Workers (IAM&AW) and have reached a tentative agreement on a 
contract with MTA’s drivers. 
 
Attached is a copy for review and approval. 
 
Highlights to note: 
 

• Top of the scale increased by 1.25%. Starting wage increased by 8.5% for the 
purpose of attracting new drivers.  

• Wages in the matrix were aligned by a percentage of the top wage with drivers 
reaching the top of the scale at 6.5 years. 

• Drivers’ wages were aligned with their years of service. 
• Year two of the contract allows for a 2.5% general wage increase to the matrix. 

All drivers will be in the matrix in year two, which has been a goal. 
• In the third year of the contract, wages will be open for negotiation. 
• Longevity increased by .30 for 10 years of service; .30 for 15 years of service; 

.40 for 20 years of service; .40 for 25 years of service. 30 years of service 
longevity pay was added to the matrix. 

• Foreign language premium of $2 was added when a driver that is fluent in a 
foreign language is asked to help translate written documents. 

• Payout on sick leave was added. Drivers may ask annually for a cash out on any 
hours above 480 on a 1:2 basis. Upon separation, under non-disciplinary 
circumstances and with at least 5 years of employment 

• Increase of $25 for annual uniform reimbursement. Added $40 every two years 
for reimbursement for purchase of a timepiece. 

• Increase in vacation payout up to 80 hours from 40 hours if a driver is unable to 
use down vacation to below 240 hours due to MTA’s ability to allow time off.  

• Guaranteed 30 hours per week for extra board drivers. 
 
Contract was negotiated with the assistance of Shannon Phillips from Summit Law. The 
contract has been viewed by Legal Counsel and by a member of each of the Board’s 
Operation and Maintenance Committee (Matt Jewett) and Human Resources Committee 
(Deb Petersen).  

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 42



 
 
Summary: Approval of contract between MTA and IAM&AW of MTA drivers. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
The fiscal impact for 2020 is $131,077 in wages. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approve the IAM&AW contract for MTA’s drivers. 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
 
Move that the Mason Transit Authority Board approve the agreement for the drivers 
between Mason Transit Authority and the International Association of Machinists and 
Aerospace Workers District Lodge 160 for the period June 1, 2020 to May 31, 2023 (the 
“Agreement”) and approve Resolution No. 2020-13 authorizing the General Manager to 
sign the Agreement.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 43



 

 

 

 

TENTATIVE 

AGREEMENT 

Between 

MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

of 

SHELTON, WASHINGTON 

and 

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION 

of 

MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS 

DISTRICT LODGE 160 

for the period 

June 1, 2020 to May 31, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 44



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 45



 

i 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
AGREEMENT   1 
 
ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION OF BARGAINING UNIT 1 
 
ARTICLE 2 RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT 1 
 
ARTICLE 3 JOINT LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 2 
 
ARTICLE 4 NON-BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES 2 
 
ARTICLE 5 EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS 2 
 
ARTICLE 6 STRIKES OR LOCKOUT 3 
 
ARTICLE 7 UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES 3 

7.1 Union Membership – Voluntary 3 
7.2 Authorization of Dues 3 
7.3 Union to be Provided Notice of  
 Meeting of New Employee 3 
7.4 Indemnification 4 

 
ARTICLE 8 BUSINESS REPRESENTATIVES AND UNION ACTIVITY 4 

8.1 Business Representative Access to 4 
Work Site and/or Employees 

8.2 Union Steward 4 
8.3 Union Bulletin Boards 4 
8.4 Union Access to Electronic 

Equipment 4 
8.5 Union Activity 4 
8.6 Union Leave 5 

 
ARTICLE 9 INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED TO THE UNION 5 

9.1 Memo Posting 5 
9.2 Employment/Classification 5 

 
ARTICLE 10 NON-DISCRIMINATION  5 
  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 46



 

ii 

 

 
ARTICLE 11 DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE  6 

11.1 Just and Sufficient Cause 6 
11.2 Definitions 6 
11.3 Performance Counseling 6 
11.4 Categories “A” & “B” 6 
11.5 Discipline Time Limits 7 
11.6 Last Chance Agreement 7 
11.7 Notification of Disciplinary Action 7 

 11.8 Appealing Discipline 8 
 11.9 Reinstatement 8 
 11.10 Administrative Leave 8 
 11.11 Camera Footage 8 
 11.12 Reviewing Disciplines on File 9 
 11.13 Discipline Copies to Union 9 
 
ARTICLE 12 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  9 

12.1 Purpose 9 
12.2 Definition 10 
12.3 Prior to Grievance 10 
12.4 Grievance Steps 10 

Step 1 – Formal Grievance –  
              Department Manager 10 
Step 2 - General Manager 10 
Step 3 – Arbitration 11 

12.5 Time Limits 11 
12.6 Grievance Investigation/Witnesses 12 
12.7 Access to Grievance Procedure 12 
12.8 Outcome of Grievance 12 
12.9 No Reprisals 12 

 
ARTICLE 13 ALTERATION OF AGREEMENT  12
  
ARTICLE 14 SAFETY AND TRAINING  13 

14.1 Mutual Objective 13 
14.2 Safety Committee 13 
14.3 Safety Training and Equipment 13 
14.4 Retraining/Refresher Training 13 
14.5 Access Checks 13 
14.6 On-the-Job Training 13 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 47



 

iii 

 

ARTICLE 15 REQUIREMENT OF MEDICAL EXAMINATION 14 
 15.1 Cost of Exams 14 
 15.2 Employer-Required Exams 14 
 15.3 Return to Work Exam 14 
 15.4 Commercial Driver’s License 
      Examination 14 
  Employer Physician 14 
  Employee Physician 14 
 
ARTICLE 16 HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, INCLEMENT WEATHER 
 PAY AND OTHER WORK ASSIGNMENTS  15 
 16.1 Work Week 15 
 16.2 Work Schedules 15 
 16.3 Block Swapping 15 
 16.4 Paid Time 16 
 16.5 Lack of Work 16 
 16.6 Group Meetings and Training 16 
 16.7 Meal and Rest Periods 17 
  16.7.1 Meal Periods 17 
  16.7.2 Break Periods 17 
 16.8 Work on Scheduled Days Off 17 
 16.9 Overtime 17 
 16.10 Inclement Weather Pay 18 
 16.11 Language Fluency 18 
 
ARTICLE 17 RATES OF PAY AND CLASSIFICATIONS  18 
 17.1 Wage Rate 18 
  17.1.1 Negotiating Changes to 
             Wages 18 
  17.1.2: Longevity Pay Premium 18 
  17.1.3: Pay Premium Classification 18 
 17.2 New Classifications 19 
 17.3 Previously Defined Classification 19 
 
ARTICLE 18 PAID AND UNPAID LEAVES  19 
 18.1 Leave Accruals 19 
 18.2 Weather Conditions 19 
 18.3 Observed Holidays 19 
  a. Dates of Holidays 19 
  b. Eligibility for Pay 19 
  c. Required to Work 20 
  d. Scheduled Day Off 20 
  e. Observance of Religious Holidays 20 
 18.4 Personal Leave 20 
 18.5 Vacation Leave 20 
  a. Vacation Leave Entitlement and 
       Accrual 20 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 48



 

iv 

 

  b. Scheduling Vacation Leave 21 
  c. Vacation Payout 22 
 18.6 Washington Paid Sick Leave 22 
 18.7 Employer Paid Sick Leave 23 
 18.8 Sick Leave Payout 24 
 18.9 FMLA Leave 24 
 18.10 Washington Paid Family & Medical 
  Leave 25 
 18.11 Jury/Court Duty 25 
 18.12 Military Leave 25 
 18.13 Other Non-Medical Leaves 25 
 18.14 Bereavement Leave 25
 18.15 Donated Leave 26 
 
ARTICLE 19 PERSONNEL BENEFITS  26 
 19.1 Health Care & Insurance Benefits 26 
  19.1.1 Healthcare Benefits and 
   Contributions Rates 26 
  19.1.2 Contribution Rates 26 
  19.1.3 Insurance Benefits 26 
  19.1.4 Eligibility 27 
  19.1.5 Self-Pay Due to Leave of 
   Absence 27 
  19.1.6 COBRA Due to Separation 
   of Service 27 
 19.2 State Pension (PERS) 27 
 19.3 Deferred Compensation Plan 27 
 19.4 Education Assistance Program 27 
 19.5 Employee Assistance Program 27 
 19.6 Transportation Passes 27 
 19.7 Employer Sponsored Events or 
  Programs 28 
 
ARTICLE 20 PERSONAL TOOLS AND WORK CLOTHES 28 
 20.1 Employer Provided Work Clothes 28 
 20.2 Uniform Reimbursement 28 
 20.3 Non-Uniform Wear 28 
 20.4 Uniform Committee 28 
 20.5 Uniform Appearances 28 
 
ARTICLE 21 SENIORITY  28 
 21.1 Definition of Seniority 28 
 21.2 Effect of Probation on Seniority 29 
 21.3 Additional Accumulation 29 
 21.4 Loss of Seniority 29 
  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 49



 

v 

 

ARTICLE 22 LAYOFF, RECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADES  29 
 AND RECALL 
 22.1 Definitions 29 
 22.2 Notification of Layoff 30 
 22.3 Reduction in Force Procedures 30 
 22.4 Reclassification and Downgrade 
  Rights 30 
 22.5 Recall Rights 30 
 
ARTICLE 23 PROBATION  31 
 23.1 New Employees 31 
 23.2 Rejected Employees 31 
 23.3 Probationary Employees 31 
 
ARTICLE 24 PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS  31 
 24.1 Job Openings and Posting 31 
 24.2 Right to Return to Former Position 32 
 24.3 Transfer to or from Bargaining Unit 32 
 
ARTICLE 25 SUBCONTRACTING  32 
 
ARTICLE 26 SHIFT BIDDING  33 
 
ARTICLE 27  SAVINGS CLAUSE       34 
 
ARTICLE 28  DURATION OF AGREEMENT     35 

APPENDIX A  WAGE SCHEDULES      A-1 

APPENDIX B  ACCIDENT REVIEW COMMITTEE    B-1 
1.1 Accident Review Definitions 
1.2 Initial Review and Determination 
1.3 Appeal to Accident Review Committee 
1.4 Final Appeal 

APPENDIX C  FACILITIES AND VEHICLE COMMITTEES   C-1 
1.1 Facilities 
1.2 Acquisition of New Vehicles 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK   
                                            

 
 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 51



 

1 

 

 

AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is made by and between Mason Transit Authority of Shelton, Washington, or 
any successors or assignees thereof, and the International Association of Machinists and 
Aerospace Workers, AFL-CIO, District Lodge No. 160, representing employees of the 
Employer as described in Article I of this Agreement. 

The Employer and the Union agree that they will administer this Agreement in accordance 
with the true intent of its terms and provisions and will give each other fullest cooperation to 
the end that harmonious relations may be maintained in the interest of both the Employer and 
the Union. The waiver of any breach or condition of this Agreement by either party shall not 
constitute a precedent for any further waiver of such breach or condition.   

It is understood that the term “employee” as used in this Agreement includes both male and 
female employees covered by this Agreement.  In addition, the term “days” as used in this 
Agreement shall be defined as calendar days.  

 

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION OF BARGAINING UNIT 

Mason Transit Authority of Shelton, Washington (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer") 
recognizes the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, AFL-CIO, 
District Lodge No. 160 (hereinafter referred to as the "Union") as the exclusive collective 
bargaining agent for all regular full-time, regular part-time Drivers and Lead Drivers, as 
certified by PERC. 

 

ARTICLE 2 - RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT 

In accordance with Washington law and RCW 41.56, the Employer and the Union agree to a 
specific list of management rights.  Most notably, the direction of the workforce is vested 
exclusively with the Employer.  This shall include, but is not necessarily limited to, the right to: 

1. Direct and manage employees; 
2. Hire, promote, transfer, assign, re-assign, and retain employees; 
3. Suspend, demote, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against employees; 
4. Maintain the efficiency of the Employer’s operations; 
5. Determine the methods, means and personnel by which the Employer operates and 

conducts its business; 
6. Develop, amend, and enforce reasonable written policies, procedures, rules, or 

regulations governing the workplace, including those described in the Employer’s 
Handbook, providing that such policies, procedures, rules, and regulations do not 
conflict with the provisions of the Agreement; and that such policies, rules, and 
regulations are made available in writing to employees; 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 52



 

2 

 

7. Take any actions reasonably necessary in conditions of emergency, regardless of prior 
commitments, to carry out the duties and mission of the Employer; and 

8. Relieve employees from duty because of lack of work. 

Provided, however, that items (1)-(8) above shall not conflict with any terms and conditions 
stated in this Agreement or other supplemental agreements with the Union. 

 

 ARTICLE 3 - JOINT LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

A labor-management committee shall be established, which shall meet every other month, or 
more frequently as mutually agreed, to communicate and resolve issues of mutual interest in 
areas including, but not necessarily limited to: general operational issues as raised by either 
party; health and welfare concerns; apprenticeship program; and safety.  

The committee shall consist of not more than three management representatives of the 
Employer and three representatives from the Union. By mutual agreement, other persons 
may be invited to participate from time to time in order to provide input on specific issues. 

The Committee will meet at the request of either party.  Meetings will occur no more often 
than every other month, unless mutually agreed.  An agenda will be established in advance 
of each meeting.  Time spent by bargaining unit members will be paid.  Approval to attend will 
be subject to operational needs. 

The Joint Labor-Management Committee may propose changes to the Union and the 
Employer; however, its recommendations are not binding, and its actions are not a substitute 
for formal bargaining. 

 

ARTICLE 4 - NON-BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES 

Non-bargaining unit employees shall not take the place of a bargaining unit employee, 
except: 

(1) for purposes of instruction; or 

(2) in cases of emergency or other unanticipated circumstances impacting shift or service 
coverage that are beyond the control of the Employer. 

 

ARTICLE 5 - EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS 

Mason Transit Authority reserves the right to evaluate employees' work performance. Drivers 
will be evaluated no more than two times annually on their road performance with one 
evaluation to include Core Competencies and Guiding Principles. The evaluations will be 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 53



 

3 

 

conducted based on standards set forth on the Driver Evaluation form and in line with 
published policies. The employee shall receive a copy of the Driver Evaluation form in 
advance of their evaluation.  Employees shall be presented a copy of their evaluation at a 
private conference with their immediate Supervisor. If an employee is dissatisfied with their 
evaluation, the employee may request and shall be granted a meeting to discuss the 
appraisal with the next level supervisor. The employee may attach a written response to the 
evaluation within seven (7) days of the evaluation or meeting, whichever is later. 
Management will provide opportunity annually for Shop Stewards to provide input on the 
evaluation form and process. 

 

ARTICLE 6 - STRIKES OR LOCKOUT 

During the term of this Agreement, neither the Union nor any employee shall cause, engage 
in, sanction, encourage, direct, request or assist in a slowdown, work stoppage, interruption 
of work, strike of any kind, including a sympathy strike, against the Employer. The Union and 
its representatives will undertake every reasonable measure to prevent and/or terminate all 
such strikes, slowdowns or stoppage of work. The Employer may discipline or discharge any 
employee who violates this Article. Discipline or discharge for violation of this Article may be 
processed through the grievance and arbitration procedure. This remedy shall not be 
exclusive of any other remedy available to the Employer. During the term of this Agreement, 
the Employer shall not cause, permit or engage in any lockout of its employees. 

 

ARTICLE 7 - UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES 

Section 7.1 Union Membership – Voluntary. Employees in positions in the bargaining unit 
represented by the Union will have the opportunity to voluntarily become members of the 
Union. The Union agrees that membership in the Union will not be denied or terminated for 
any reason other than the failure of an employee covered by this Agreement to tender the 
periodic dues and initiation fees uniformly required as a condition of acquiring membership in 
the Union. 

Section 7.2 Authorization of Dues. The Employer agrees to deduct from the paycheck of 
each employee who has so authorized it, the regular monthly dues or fees. The amounts 
deducted shall be transmitted monthly to the Union on behalf of the employees involved. 
Authorization may be written, electronic, or by recorded voice, and must be made to the 
Union. The employer will deduct once it receives the authorization. An authorization remains 
in effect until revoked in writing, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
authorization. 

Section 7.3  Union to be Provided Notice of Meeting of New Employee. The Employer 
shall schedule a voluntary meeting between newly hired employees and the designated 
Union representative. The employer shall provide written notice by email to the designated 
union representative of the time and place of such meeting. The meeting shall take place 
during the Employer’s orientation process for the new employee; or, if there is not such 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 54



 

4 

 

orientation, within three days after the employee starts work. The union representative shall 
respond by email confirming the Union’s availability to attend the meeting. 

Section 7.4  Indemnification. The Union shall indemnify and hold the Employer harmless 
against any and all claims, suits, orders or judgments brought or issued against the Employer 
as a result of any action taken or not taken by the Employer under the provisions of this 
Article. 

ARTICLE 8 - BUSINESS REPRESENTATIVES AND UNION ACTIVITY 

Section 8.1 Business Representative Access to Work Site and/or Employees: The 
Business Representative or other full-time representatives of the Union shall be admitted to 
the facility by the Employer or allowed to talk to employees during working hours, provided 
advance notification is provided to the General Manager or designee and such visitation does 
not interfere with normal operations. All such representatives shall comply with the security 
regulations as required of all other visitors. 
 
Section 8.2 Union Steward: The Union shall designate three employees as Union 
Stewards and one alternate to investigate complaints or claims of grievance on the part of the 
employees or the Union.  The Union will inform the Employer in writing when a change in 
Union Steward or alternate takes place. Investigations will not interfere with the normal 
business of the Employer or any employee, except when approved by the Employer. 
Stewards will strive to minimize normal work time spent on complaints or grievances. Time 
spent by Union Stewards representing employees will be paid by the Employer when such 
time involves meetings with the Employer. 
 
Section 8.3 Union Bulletin Boards:  The Employer shall provide three bulletin boards for 
the Union's exclusive use. One each located at the John's Prairie base driver's lounge, the 
Transit-Community Center driver's lounge, and the Belfair Base driver's lounge. The bulletin 
board is for the posting of rules, regulations, and notices of meetings and other business 
affairs of the Union. It shall be the responsibility of the Union and its representatives to assure 
that information posted on such board is "Union Business". Nothing posted on the bulletin 
board shall be derogatory in nature towards the Employer, its elected officials, its bargaining 
representatives, or other personnel. 
 
Section 8.4 Union Access to Electronic Equipment:  The Employer and Union agree the 
Employer’s computer and telecommunication equipment shall be used primarily for 
conducting the Employer’s business. However, employees and Union Stewards may make 
limited use of the Employer’s computers, telephones, fax machines, photocopiers, and similar 
telecommunication equipment for tasks related to collective bargaining and contract 
administration. Such use must comply with the Employer’s policies, must not interfere with 
the Employer’s daily operations, and must have a de minimus cost. The Union and 
employees understand and accept there is no right to privacy for any communication taking 
place over the Employer’s email and telecommunication equipment, and that any 
communication is subject to inspection and public disclosure.  
 
Section 8.5 Union Activity: No employee shall be discharged or discriminated against in 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 55



 

5 

 

any way because of their membership or participation in sanctioned activities in behalf of the 
Union. 
 
Section 8.6 Union Leave:  Employees accepting full-time positions as elected or 
appointed representatives shall be granted leaves of absence without pay for the term of 
office or any renewal thereof; provided, however, that thirty (30) day’s notice is given. 
Employees granted such leave may return to their former classification without loss of 
seniority rights, provided that they remain qualified, with or without reasonable 
accommodation, and there is a vacancy in that position. 
 
Employees may also be granted short-term leaves of absence without pay for the purpose of 
attending Union conventions, meetings, contract negotiations and any other bona fide Union 
business. Requests for time off must be in writing, signed by the Business Representative, 
seven (7) days in advance of the time off and addressed to the Manager of Operations 
except in emergency situations, in which event such advance notice shall be given no less 
than forty-eight (48) hours in advance. 
 
 

ARTICLE 9 - INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED TO THE UNION 

Section 9.1 Memo Posting:  Copies of all memos posted will be provided to the 
designated shop steward at his/her request. 
 
Section 9.2 Employment/Classification:  The Employer agrees to make available to the 
Union the following information regarding bargaining unit employees: 

a. A list of members and any new members. 

b. Classification of employees. 

c. Rate of pay of employees. 

d. Seniority date. 

e. Employee’s loss of seniority for any reason. 

f. Job descriptions (if new or revised). 

g. Employee Handbook and other agency written policies. 

 

ARTICLE 10 - NON-DISCRIMINATION 

It is mutually agreed that there shall be no discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, 
sexual orientation, gender identity, age, marital status, national origin or physical, mental or 
sensory disabilities, honorably discharged veteran or military status, discrimination pursuant 
to the Americans with Disabilities Act or other basis prohibited by local, State or Federal law. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 56



 

6 

 

The Union and Employer representatives shall work cooperatively to assure the achievement 
of equal employment opportunity.  

ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE 

Section 11.1 Just and Sufficient Cause:  No employee shall be discharged, suspended or 
otherwise disciplined without just cause.  
 
Section 11.2 Definitions: For purposes of this Article “active for work” is defined as:  All paid 
time being credited towards the specified period of time. Any unpaid leave time beyond ten 
(10) consecutive calendar days will not be considered active for work, with the exception of 
military leave. 

 
For purposes of this Article “active disciplines” are defined as:  All disciplines that have not 
expired. 
 
Section 11.3 Performance Counseling: Performance issues, unless otherwise addressed in 
Section 11.4, will be administered through the performance counseling process set forth in 
the Employer’s Performance Counseling Policy and made part of this agreement. The 
Performance Counseling Policy is designed to address performance issues through five 
levels depending on the severity of the issue: 

a. Counseling and Verbal Warning 
b. Written Warning 
c. Decision-Making Leave 
d. Suspension 
e. Discharge 

 
Section 11.4 Categories “A” & “B”: Most performance problems in the workplace will fall 
under the Performance Counseling Policy as a means of correcting the performance.  
However, there are some infractions which, by their severity or seriousness, would warrant 
more immediate and decisive action and therefore are categorized as A or B offenses. 
 Category "A" 

Category A infractions are major infractions having the potential of dismissal on a first 
(or any) occurrence.  These include, but are not limited to: 

• Prohibited harassment 
• Prohibited discrimination 
• Fighting or violence in the workplace 
• Theft 
• Gross insubordination 
• Reckless driving 
• Violations applicable to the Drug and Alcohol Policy 
• Cell phone use in accordance with Washington State law 
• Failure to report an accident 
• Falsification of any employment record 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 57



 

7 

 

 
  

Category “B” 

Category B infractions are serious infractions having the potential of a written warning, 
a suspension or causing an employee to be placed on decision-making leave.  
Discipline in this category will be issued in a line of progression, when appropriate.  
Examples of Category B infractions include, but are not limited to: 

• Insubordination 
• Responsibility for a serious incident 
• Failure to follow accident procedures 
• Falsification of or failure to file a report 
• Traffic violations 

 
In the event a previous Category A violation is considered by the Employer in determining a 
subsequent disciplinary sanction and the subsequent discipline is subject to a Step 3 
(arbitration) review in the grievance procedure found in Article 12, the impact of the previous 
Category A discipline on the subsequent discipline may be considered by the arbitrator in the 
arbitrator’s application of the just cause standard. 

Category A & B violations will remain in effect for twelve (12) months when the employee is 
“active for work.”  The period of effect may be extended up to eighteen (18) months, 
commensurate with the seriousness of the violation and/or number of previous violations.   
 
If a driver is currently at a Written Warning or above level of discipline, a Category B 
infraction may result in termination of their employment at Mason Transit. 
 
Section 11.5 Discipline Time Limits:  The Employer shall have fourteen (14) calendar days 
after the discovery of employee performance issues to complete the investigation, any 
investigatory meetings, and provide final written notice of discipline to the employee. This 
time limit may be extended by mutual agreement of both parties. If the deadline is not met, no 
disciplinary action against the employee shall be taken, and all related documents shall be 
removed from the employee’s file. 

All discipline that falls under the Performance Counseling process shall expire and be 
removed from the employee’s file no later than one (1) year, after the most recent related 
disciplinary event. After each expiration, any disciplinary action that is related to a previous, 
but expired, disciplinary action shall start a new performance counseling progression at the 
lowest applicable level. 

Section 11.6 Last Chance Agreement: In lieu of termination, the parties may agree to the 
terms of a Last Chance Agreement (LCA).  The terms of an LCA are subject to the mutual 
agreement of the parties and unless otherwise agreed set no precedent for other disciplines. 

 
Section 11.7 Notification of Disciplinary Action: In all cases of discharge, demotion or other 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 58



 

8 

 

discipline, the employee involved shall be notified, in writing, of the action and the reason for 
such action. Before imposition of discharge, demotion, or unpaid suspension, the Employer 
will provide advance notice of the intended disciplinary action. 

An employee shall have the right to have a Union Steward present at a disciplinary interview, 
upon request. When a meeting with an employee has been requested by the Employer, and 
where discipline may result, it is agreed that it is the responsibility of the affected employee to 
request representation from their Shop Steward.  If a Shop Steward is requested, the meeting 
will be scheduled for the next day, if necessary.  If relief is required, it is the responsibility of 
the Shop Steward to request time-off. 
 
Section 11.8 Appealing Discipline: Should there be any dispute between the Employer and 
the Union concerning the existence of just cause for discharge, suspension, demotion or 
discipline resulting in loss of compensation or benefits, such dispute shall be adjusted in 
accordance with Grievance and Arbitration provisions in this Agreement. Counseling and 
verbal warnings shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Written warnings may be 
appealed through the first two (2) steps of the Grievance Procedure only. The findings of the 
General Manager shall be attached to the written warning.  If the parties fail to agree, the 
written warning will stand.  The Union may attach a statement of their position to the written 
warning. 

An Employee may appeal his/her suspension or dismissal through the grievance procedure.  
For purposes of this Article, “Decision-Making Leave” is considered a form of suspension. 
 
An employee serving in their initial probationary period may be dismissed within the 
probationary period with no appeal of the dismissal.  It is understood however, that a 
probationary employee has all rights to the grievance procedure for all other actions.  
Probationary employees may request union representation at a dismissal hearing. 
 
Section 11.9 Reinstatement: In the event it is found that an employee has been discharged 
without just cause, such employee shall be reinstated to the employee’s former position. In 
no way shall the period of unjust discharge affect the employee's seniority rights or the 
employee’s rights to the other benefits agreed to herein. 

Section 11.10 Administrative Leave: The Employer may, at its discretion, place employees 
on paid administrative leave during an investigation. Employees on such paid administrative 
leave must remain available during their normal hours of work and are not permitted to 
accept outside employment. Placement on paid administrative leave is not subject to the 
grievance procedure and is not considered a part of discipline. 

Section 11.11 Camera Footage: It is understood that the Employer has the right to access 
and view camera footage of any equipped vehicle at the time of their choosing. For the 
purposes of this section the term “camera footage” shall be defined as any and all information 
recorded through the vehicle mounted recording system and mobile data terminal. The use of 
camera footage for the purpose of discipline is limited to the following conditions: 

a. The driver has received a verifiable complaint, safety or non-safety related, about their 
performance or conduct while in the vehicle.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 59



 

9 

 

b. The driver has submitted, or is expected to submit, an Incident, Event or Injury Report 
concerning events that occurred on or in direct relationship to the vehicle or events 
that occurred concerning the driver while performing their duties while in view of the 
vehicle camera. 

c. The eligible footage is limited to a period no longer than five (5) minutes before the 
start of the event and no longer than five (5) minutes after the conclusion of the event. 
A driver may assent to increasing this window or to viewing specific other time points 
as part of their defense during a video review session. 

d. The driver has the opportunity to view and explain the events within the camera 
footage. 

 

A complaint that is determined to be unjustified or facetious shall not result in discipline. All 
other camera footage viewed by the Employer may not be used in disciplining a driver. Non-
disciplinary retraining of a driver may occur as a result of the Employer viewing camera 
footage that is not subject to the conditions above. Such retraining shall not occur without the 
driver being given the opportunity to view the camera footage and explain or otherwise 
defend the incident. The Employer agrees not to engage in random or targeted surveillance 
(‘fishing’) of any driver. 

The viewing of camera footage that is triggered by an outside agency, such as law 
enforcement, under a Public Records request, not resulting from an Employer vehicle 
accident or incident or complaint about the conduct or performance of a driver, shall not result 
in any form or discipline or retraining. The employer shall endeavor to take all steps possible 
to protect and conceal the identity of the driver, including but not limited to, the use of video 
editing techniques such as blurring or blacking-out the driver’s image 

A driver may request and shall receive a copy of any available camera footage from their 
vehicle. The request shall not trigger a disciplinary event or non-disciplinary retraining event.  

Section 11.12 Reviewing Disciplines on File: An employee has the right to review both the 
personnel file maintained by Administrative Services and the working file maintained by 
his/her Department. 
 
Section 11.13 Discipline Copies to Union: The Employer will send copies of any written 
discipline placed in an employee’s personnel file to the Union office. 

 

ARTICLE 12 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Section 12.1 Purpose:  The purpose of this procedure is to provide an orderly, effective, 
and expeditious method for resolving grievances. A determined effort shall be made to settle 
any such differences at the lowest possible level in the grievance procedure. However, it is 
understood that failure of the parties to come to an agreement shall not be looked at 
disparagingly nor should it have a negative impact on the effectiveness of this procedure. It is 
further understood that there shall be no suspension of work, slowdown or curtailment of 
services while any grievance is in the process of adjustment or arbitration pursuant to the 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 60



 

10 

 

terms of this Agreement. 

Section 12.2 Definition:  A "grievance", as used in this Agreement, shall be defined as a 
claim by an employee that the terms of this Agreement have been violated, or that a dispute 
exists concerning proper application or interpretation of this Agreement. Grievances shall be 
processed in accordance with the following procedures within the stated time limits. 

Section 12.3 Prior to Grievance:  Prior to filing a grievance an attempt should be made to 
settle the dispute by discussing the matter with the immediate supervisor or other appropriate 
management personnel. 

Section 12.4 Grievance Steps:  Steps in the grievance procedure for disputes involving 
contract interpretation or disciplinary action shall be handled in the following manner: 

Step 1:  Formal Grievance – Department Manager 
 
Grievances must be filed within fourteen (14) days of the occurrence of the event which gives 
rise to the grievance, or within fourteen (14) days of when the employee is informed of the 
event, by the individual affected or through their Shop Steward, to the employee’s department 
manager, or the manager’s designee. 
 
The employee’s department manager, or the manager’s designee, shall attempt to 
satisfactorily settle the grievance within fourteen (14) days from the date of receipt of the 
employee’s Step 1 grievance.  Step 1 will include the following: 
 
a. A statement of the grievance and the facts upon which it is based, including the date of 

the occurrence and any relevant witnesses. 
 
b. The Articles or Section in this Agreement claimed to have been violated. 
 
c. Remedy sought.   
 
d. The signature of the aggrieved employee(s) and the Union representative (if presenting 

the grievance). 
 
e. Date of signatures/presentation. 
 
Step 2:  General Manager 

In the event the grievance cannot be settled at the Step 1 level as defined above, it shall be 
submitted in writing within seven (7) days from the date of the department manager's, or the 
manager's designee's, Step 1 reply, by the Shop Steward to the Employer's General 
Manager and the Business Representative of the Union. 

The written submission of a Step 2 grievance shall include the reasons for dissatisfaction with 
the department manager's, or the manager's designee's, solution. 

The Employer's General Manager shall meet with the grievant, the Shop Steward, and the 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 61



 

11 

 

Business Representative of the Union within fourteen (14) days from the date of receipt of the 
Step 2 grievance, to attempt to satisfactorily settle the grievance.  The General Manager will 
give a written response within seven (7) days of the meeting.  If the Union is not in agreement 
with the written decision of the General Manager, the General Manager and the Business 
Representative of the Union will decide whether to submit the grievance to mediation or 
normal arbitration. 

In the event the grievance is submitted to mediation and the recommendations of the 
mediator are not acceptable to either party, either party may request arbitration in accordance 
with Step 3 as defined below. 

Step 3: Arbitration 
 
Within seven (7) days of the Step 2 response or the mediation decision, the Union may on 
behalf of the grievant serve a demand for arbitration upon the other party. Within seven (7) 
days of the demand, the parties shall jointly submit a request to the Federal Mediation and 
Conciliation Service for a list of seven (7) names from which the parties shall select their 
arbitrator. Within seven (7) days after receiving such list, the parties shall each alternately 
strike one name from the list, with the first strike being determined by the toss of a coin, until 
one name remains. The person thereafter remaining on the list shall be and become the 
arbitrator. 
 
The parties will strive to schedule the earliest available dates for the arbitration hearing.  Prior 
to commencement of the hearing, both parties shall stipulate to the issue(s) that will be 
presented for the arbitrator’s consideration. 
 
The arbitrator shall not add to, subtract from or in any way modify or change any of the terms 
or provisions of this Agreement nor shall the arbitrator have jurisdiction or authority to 
consider or decide matters concerning or involving a new or different agreement or requested 
changes in this Agreement. 
 
The decision of the arbitrator shall become final and binding on both parties when delivered 
to them in writing. 
 
Each party shall be responsible for half the costs of the arbitrator’s fees and any joint 
expenditures. Each party is responsible for any compensation and expenses relating to 
presentation of its own case, including any witness and attorney’s fees.    
 
Section 12.5 Time Limits:  The time limits may be extended by mutual agreement of the 
parties.  In the absence of an agreed upon extension of the time limits the following sanctions 
shall apply: 
 
a. If the Union fails to follow the time frame in progressing to the next step, the issue is 

forfeited.  If the Employer fails to follow the time frame in responding to a grievance, the 
grievance will automatically advance to the next step. 

 
b. If the responding party fails to follow the time frame in responding to the moving party, the 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 62



 

12 

 

moving party has the option to move to the next step. "No response" shall be the same as 
"denying the grievance". Thus, the moving party must so notify the responding party of 
this action when taken and said notification must conform within the time limits set forth 
for progressing to the next step. 

 
Section 12.6 Grievance Investigation/Witnesses:  The aggrieved employee and/or the 
shop steward shall be given full opportunity to investigate the grievance. Should the 
grievance proceed to Step 3 (Arbitration), each party will bear the salary costs of their own 
witnesses as follows: 
 
a. Employees participating in the preparation and conduct of an arbitration at the request of 

the Union will be paid through MTA's regular payroll process for such attendance; IAM will 
reimburse MTA for wages, PERS Employer contributions, and the value of all other 
compensation and benefits related to such attendance. 

 
b. MTA will submit a monthly billing to IAM for reimbursements due to MTA; billing to be 

itemized based on hours in attendance, wages, and the value of benefits. 
 
c. The billing rate will be based on an employee's straight time wage rate. Hours spent by 

employees participating in the preparation and conduct of an arbitration on behalf of the 
Union will not count as hours worked for purposes of overtime eligibility. 

 
Section 12.7 Access to the Grievance Procedure: Notwithstanding the above terminology, 
either an employee or management shall have the opportunity to access this grievance 
procedure. 
 
Section 12.8 Outcome of Grievance:  In all cases, the grievant shall receive notification of 
the outcome of the employee’s grievance.  
 
Section 12.9 No Reprisals:  There will be no reprisals against the grievant, the Union, the 
Employer, or others as a result of their participation in the grievance or arbitration process. 

 

ARTICLE 13 - ALTERATION OF AGREEMENT 

No agreement, alteration, understanding, variation, waiver or modification of any of the terms, 
conditions or covenants contained herein shall be made by any employee or group of 
employees with the Employer, and in no case shall it be binding upon the parties hereto 
unless such agreement is made and executed in writing between the parties hereto. 
 
The waiver of any breach or condition of this Agreement by either party shall not constitute a 
precedent in the future enforcement of all the terms and conditions herein. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 63



 

13 

 

 

ARTICLE 14 – SAFETY AND TRAINING 

Section 14.1 Mutual Objective: It is the mutual objective of both parties of this Agreement 
to maintain high standards of safety in order to mitigate as far as possible industrial 
accidents, illness and injuries.  All employees are required to report observed safety hazards 
and concerns immediately to their supervisor. 

Section 14.2 Safety Committee:  A member of the bargaining unit will be elected to the 
Employer’s Safety Committee. The Safety Committee shall meet once every month, or on 
another schedule mutually agreed upon by Committee members, and Safety Committee 
meetings shall be conducted on Employer's paid time. The duties of the Safety Committee 
will be to advise on matters relating to employee safety, review applicable safety laws and 
regulations, and make recommendations for maintenance of proper safety standards. 
Minutes of the meetings will be taken. Copies of the minutes will be posted on the Safety 
Board and on the shared directory. 

Section 14.3 Safety Training and Equipment: The Employer will provide safety training to 
all employees and furnish safety and personal protective equipment for all employees, as is 
appropriate to individual positions. It shall be mandatory for all employees to participate in 
any required safety training provided by the Employer and to use safety and personal 
protective equipment when the Employer determines they are necessary. 
 
Section 14.4  Retraining/Refresher Training: Retraining shall be applicable and practical to 
the extent possible. The Employer will make every effort to ensure retraining is done in a 
manner that meets the need of the Employer’s expectations for the retraining and as well as 
conducted in a manner that is most effective for the employee, to include consideration of the 
employee’s expected work situations. Refresher training will be conducted on a schedule that 
meets the requirements of the particular module and MTA expectations. 

Section 14.5 Access Checks: Drivers may request that the Employer perform an Access 
Check at a particular location to ensure that a safe method of access is available. The 
Access Check will be completed within five (5) days of the request and completed in the 
largest vehicle expected. If a driver indicates that they are concerned about the safety of 
accessing a location, the driver shall not be required to enter the location and given an 
alternative from dispatch until the Employer has completed the Access Check and informed 
the driver(s) of the results. 
Section 14.6 On-the-Job Training: New drivers shall receive in service training with the 
accompaniment of an experienced driver ("On-the-Job Training"), prior to being placed on the 
Extra Board and released to drive solo. On-the-Job-Training shall ensure that new drivers 
receive full-block experience in driving all routes; Dial-A-Ride in Shelton and Belfair, including 
all LINK routes; starting and ending shifts at all bases; and reasonably anticipated special 
circumstances (e.g. mail run, bus swaps, etc.) 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 64



 

14 

 

ARTICLE 15 - REQUIREMENT OF MEDICAL EXAMINATION 

It is understood by the Employer and the Union that physical examinations or tests conducted 
by the physician of the Employer's choice may be required during the term of this Agreement. 
Safety and health of the employees and customers of Mason Transit Authority necessitate 
these requirements. 

Section 15.1 Cost of Exams:  The Employer shall pay the full cost for these examinations 
by the physician of the Employer’s choice, if required. Employees shall receive copies of all 
medical reports from such required examinations.   

Section 15.2 Employer-Required Exams:  Employer-required exams include drug and 
alcohol testing (random, post-accident, reasonable suspicion and return to work agreements) 
and medical exams required by the Employer to determine if an employee can safely fulfill 
their job duties. Examinations which are not considered to be Employer-required include any 
physician report that is required as a condition of returning to work after a medical leave. The 
Employer shall pay for any lost time associated with undergoing any Employer-required 
medical examination. 

Section 15.3 Return to Work Exam:  An employee returning to work following an injury or 
illness that causes an absence of three consecutive days or more, may be required to 
provide a doctor’s certification to return to work.  The Employer may require a further 
examination to determine if the employee can safely fulfill their job duties.  The Employer will 
pay any lost time and the cost of any further examination required by the Employer. 

Section 15.4 Commercial Driver’s License Examination:  All Commercial Driver License 
(CDL) holders are required to undergo and successfully pass a State of Washington 
Department of Licensing physical examination every two (2) years throughout their 
employment. The employee may choose to use an Employer selected physician or may 
choose to use a personal physician for the required examination. Examinations are 
scheduled on the employee’s own time. The employee must always carry the medical 
examiner’s certificate on his/her person  while driving a commercial vehicle. It is the 
employee’s responsibility to timely arrange for the exam to ensure no lapse in the CDL. 
 
Employer Physician: If the employee chooses the Employer selected physician the cost of the 
examination will be billed directly to and paid by the Employer, up to one time per year. 
Employees using the Employer physician will provide the Operations Compliance Coordinator 
with a copy of the medical examiners certificate.  

Employee Physician: If the employee chooses to use a personal physician, the employee 
must schedule his/her own examination.  Employees using their own physician will provide 
Human Resources with an original copy of the completed physical examination, signed by 
their physician.  The employee is eligible to receive reimbursement for the cost of the exam 
(to include any required co-pay for the office visit), up to one time per year, provided the 
employee submits satisfactory evidence of the costs he/she incurred. The maximum allowed 
reimbursement will be up to the same amount the Employer would have paid if the employee 
chose to use the Employer’s physician. 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 65



 

15 

 

 
ARTICLE 16 - HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, INCLEMENT 

WEATHER PAY AND OTHER WORK ASSIGNMENTS 
Section 16.1 Work Week: The work week for pay purposes shall commence at 12:00 AM 
Sunday and end at 11:59 PM the following Saturday. 

Section 16.2 Work Schedules: In developing regular full-time bid shifts, the Employer will 
endeavor to ensure that at least seventy-five (75) percent are straight shifts.  All regular full-
time bid shifts shall have a minimum of thirty-six (36) hours scheduled work, and at least two 
(2) scheduled days off per work week and a minimum of ten(10) hours of time off between 
the end of work on one day to the start of work on the next.    

A driver whose shift is fewer than forty (40) hours may elect to have additional work added to 
their schedule to make a forty (40) hour work week, if such work or duties are available as 
determined by the Employer. The driver must indicate to the Employer in written form a 
desire to work additional hours. The Employer will determine what work is assigned to the 
driver based on the need of the agency. If approved, the driver will be expected to perform 
the duties throughout the duration of the shift bid. If a driver is on leave when the duties 
would otherwise be performed, it is not expected the driver covering the shift would work the 
additional hours unless that driver so chooses. 

Full-time drivers on the Extra board shall be guaranteed at least thirty (30) hours per week 
and two (2) scheduled days off, selected by seniority and a minimum of ten (10) hours of time 
off between the end of work on one day and the start of work on the next, if possible. The 
scheduling supervisor will contact an Extra-board driver prior to scheduling work that does 
not meet the minimum guarantee of 10-hours off between shifts to give the driver the option 
to work the available schedule. Work schedules for Extra-board drivers will otherwise vary 
based on the needs of agency operations. Extra-board drivers who are given a “call in” 
assignment but are not selected to work that day shall receive two (2) hours of pay. Extra-
board drivers who do not meet the thirty (30) hour quota by the end of the work week shall 
claim the balance of hours as hours worked on their timecard, provided the driver worked all 
assigned or offered shifts. 

The Employer shall post the weekly schedule for drivers and supervisors in all drivers’ 
lounges and Paylocity, no later than Thursday of the preceding week. The daily Extra-board 
work assignment sheet shall be posted to the drivers’ lounges and Paylocity no later than 2 
pm the preceding day, or Friday for Monday assignments. Any changes made to a bid-shift 
driver’s schedule after the weekly schedule has been posted, or to any driver listed on the 
daily Extra-board work assignment sheet after it has been posted, shall be notified by the 
scheduling supervisor, or their designee, of the changes as soon as possible. 

Section 16.3 Block Swapping: Two regularly scheduled drivers may swap blocks with each 
other on an individual basis and may do so for the same day, or across different days of the 
same week. Block swaps may only occur when one driver has the day off. Notice of the 
intention to swap must be given to the scheduling supervisor later than the Tuesday before 
the start of the week the swap would occur. A regularly scheduled driver may swap with an 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 66



 

16 

 

open block of work as defined by a block of work not part of a shift, in order to make 
appointments to minimize the impact on the Employer provided the Employer can 
accommodate the swap without adjusting another driver’s schedule. Such swaps shall be 
subject to all conditions of a two-driver swap previously enumerated.  

The Employer may elect to call a regularly scheduled driver and ask them to work a different 
block than scheduled or a non-driving assignment to meet the needs of the Employer. The 
agreement of the driver to work the replacement shift shall be voluntary. If the replacement 
work is fewer hours than those of the block the driver would normally have worked, the driver 
shall be paid for their regularly scheduled shift. 

Section 16.4 Paid Time: Drivers’ paid time shall commence at the time they are required to 
report at the base and will terminate at the time indicated by the block of work or when the 
block of work is completed, whichever occurs later, exclusive of any unpaid meal period. The 
paid time shall be extended in such cases when circumstances cause a driver to return later 
than scheduled, as well as completing any additional required paperwork, such as an incident 
or event report. 

Section 16.5 Lack of Work: Drivers shall be paid the applicable straight time driving rate for 
regularly scheduled work shifts. If a routed driver has completed their scheduled block before 
the scheduled end time, including all necessary paperwork and required or assigned tasks, 
the driver may be released for the day and receive full pay. If a Dial-A-Ride driver has no 
further work assigned to their shift, the driver may be released for the day once all required 
tasks and paperwork are completed and receive the full pay, provided there is one hour or 
less of the shift remaining.  

If on a given day, the overall amount of scheduled rides is such that there is determined to be 
an excess of drivers on duty, the Employer may offer Dial-A-Ride drivers the opportunity to 
voluntarily leave early. Such offers shall be made in order of seniority to those on duty. Any 
driver accepting shall have the time remaining in their shift deducted from their pay. The 
driver may elect to use available vacation leave to make up the difference in time. 

Section 16.6 Group Meetings and Training: Drivers who are scheduled for mandatory 
training sessions or meetings in lieu of some of or their entire regularly scheduled block of 
work, such that they would have fewer hours than they would have normally worked, shall be 
paid as though they worked their regularly scheduled shift. Any mandatory training or meeting 
that exceeds forty (40) hours of work shall be paid in accordance with Overtime, Section 
16.9. 

The Employer may require attendance at group meetings outside of regularly scheduled work 
shifts, so long as Employees are notified at least one week in advance. Time shall be 
counted as time worked and paid in accordance with the federal and state wage and hour 
laws. The Employer may require attendance at group meetings on Sundays up to four (4) 
times per year. An Employee on paid leave status prior to or after the meeting date shall be 
excused from the meeting, except for the Annual All-Staff meeting, but may be scheduled 
later to make up for any missed training. If an employee is on paid leave status, and chooses 
to attend a meeting, they will not be paid for more than their normal scheduled workday. Paid 
leave will be adjusted to complement time spent in the meeting to equal their normal 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 67



 

17 

 

workday. If the meeting occurs on a Sunday, they shall be paid for all hours attended.  

Section 16.7 Meal and Rest Periods: Pursuant to RCW 49.12.187, the parties agree to vary 
and supersede the rules and policies adopted by the Department of Labor and Industries in 
WAC 296-126-092 under the Industrial Welfare Act with respect to rest and meal periods. 

Section 16.7.1 Meal Periods: Work schedules of greater than five consecutive hours 
are developed to include an unpaid, duty-free meal break between thirty (30) to sixty 
(60) minutes in length, not less than two (2) hours nor more than five (5) hours from 
the beginning of the shift. Employees are entitled to eat at any time during their shift as 
time and work duties permit. An employee whose meal period is delayed from the 
scheduled time shall be paid for the time worked.     

The Employer shall make an effort to provide equivalent time later in the shift to 
complete the Employee’s meal break. Such time shall remain paid. Employees must 
promptly notify Dispatch when they are delayed from beginning their meal period or 
unable to complete their meal period due to work interruptions. 

Section 16.7.2 Break Periods:  Drivers will receive a fifteen-minute paid, duty-free 
break period for every four hours worked. In computing the four-hour period, any 
unpaid meal period is not included. Drivers on routed service are expected to take 
their break on an intermittent basis between routes. Drivers on Dial-A-Ride services 
shall receive a continuous fifteen-minute break as scheduled on their manifests. The 
Employer shall ensure that restroom facilities are available at or reasonably near their 
route termination and expected Dial-A-Ride break locations. 

Section 16.8 Work on Scheduled Days Off:  In the event an operator works on their 
scheduled day off, a minimum of two (2) hours shall be paid.  

Drivers interested in working on their scheduled day off or during a special event are 
responsible for putting their names on the “Sign-up Sheet to Work on Scheduled Day Off” or 
particular special event sign-up sheet. Drivers may add or withdraw their name from the 
sheet at any time.  Drivers who have requested work via the sheet will be offered available 
work on a rotating order designed to provide equal access to overtime work. The Employer 
may call Drivers on their scheduled day off to ask if they would work an open shift, agreement 
is strictly voluntary, and Drivers must ensure their name is added to the sign-up sheet as 
soon as possible.  Refusal to work an offered extra shift shall not be grounds for discipline, 
nor shall a Driver be required to work an extra shift as a part of disciplinary action. 

Drivers may be drafted for work in inverse seniority if enough volunteers are not available to 
meet service needs. 

Section 16.9 Overtime: Employees are entitled to additional compensation in the form of 
overtime when they work more than forty (40) hours during the work week. Overtime pay is 
calculated at one and one-half times the employee’s regular rate of pay for all time worked 
beyond (40) hours during a work week, including any additional paid premiums applied to the 
employee’s regular rate of pay. For purposes of this section, the use of any paid leave (when 
an employee is off duty with pay relating to vacation, sick leave, personal leave, observed 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 68



 

18 

 

holidays, military duty, or jury duty) will not be calculated as hours worked for overtime 
purposes. The payment of an observed holiday, if it falls on an employee’s regularly 
scheduled day off, shall not be counted as hours worked for overtime purposes. 

Section 16.10 Inclement Weather Pay: The Employer shall distribute and collect inclement 
weather surveys (as defined by the Inclement Weather Policy) to all employees no later than 
October 31 of each year. The Employer shall maintain a record of all employee responses 
and refer to that information when periods of inclement weather occur. The Employer will take 
into consideration responses by drivers that have concerns of driving in inclement weather 
conditions and will attempt to reassign work. Reassigned work will be assigned by seniority 
and at the Employer’s discretion. 

Any employee directed to operate an Employer vehicle during inclement weather who has 
previously indicated by form an unwillingness to drive in such conditions or tells a supervisor 
that they feel current conditions are not safe for them to operate an Employer vehicle, shall 
be allowed to refuse such work and may be reassigned without discipline. Otherwise, the 
driver will be relieved of their duties for the day and compensated for any time worked or a 
minimum of two (2) hours. The driver may use vacation leave to compensate for hours 
missed.  

When inclement weather conditions cause the Employer to cancel service, the employee 
shall receive compensation equal to hours of their block of work for that day. If the employee 
is unable or unwilling to drive their block of work, the employee may use available vacation 
without prior notice and no penalty of discipline shall be imposed. 

Any available work on curtailed service days will be assigned by seniority. 

Section 16.11 Language Fluency: Any employee deemed to be fluent in a language other 
than English and such language is a benefit to the Employer in regards to conversing with 
customers shall be paid an additional premium of two dollars ($2.00) per hour when the 
Employer requests use of their language skills. 

 
ARTICLE 17 - RATES OF PAY AND CLASSIFICATIONS 

Section 17.1 Wage Rate:  The classification and rates of pay of employees including pay 
premiums, are set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and made part of this Agreement.   

17.1.1: Negotiating Changes to Wages. The parties will reopen this agreement no later 
than January 30, 2022, for the purposes of negotiating changes to wages during the 
final year of the Agreement. 

17.1.2: Longevity Pay Premium. The longevity pay premium shall be added based on 
the driver’s date of initial employment with MTA. 

17.1.3: Pay Premium Classification. A driver in a classification that provides a pay 
premium shall receive that premium for all compensable hours. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 69



 

19 

 

Section 17.2 New Classifications: In the event a new job classification is established or 
there is a substantial change in the duties or requirements of established job, the Employer 
shall develop an appropriate classification and rate of pay to apply to such job. The Employer 
shall furnish the Union with the new classification and the rate of pay to apply to such job. If 
the Union disagrees with the assigned rate of pay within ten (10) days from the date of such 
submission or within such additional time as may be mutually agreed upon, the Employer 
may place the new job classifications and rate in effect subject to continued negotiation for 
rate of pay.  

Section 17.3 Previously Defined Classifications: In the event that previously existing, but 
inactive, classifications that may have been historically entitled to a pay premium, but are  not 
enumerated within this Agreement, are reinstated, they shall be treated in accordance with 
section 17.2 as if they are new classifications.  

 
ARTICLE 18 - PAID AND UNPAID LEAVES 

 
Section 18.1 Leave Accruals:  Employees are eligible to accrue paid leave benefits if they 
work (or are in paid leave status) one half (1/2) or more of a pay period.  Employees who 
work (or are in paid leave status) less than one half (1/2) of a pay period shall receive 
prorated leave benefits; the proration will be based on the number of hours paid.  Leave 
benefits accrued from the current pay period are available to the employee at the start of the 
following pay period (applies to all accrued leaves).  An employee who exhausts their paid 
leave will be credited with any newly accumulated leave time upon their return to work, or at 
their separation of employment if the employee does not return to work.  Leave benefits shall 
not accrue when an employee is on a leave of absence without pay for a full calendar month 
or more. 

Section 18.2 Weather Conditions:  Employees are expected to be at their jobs regardless 
of weather conditions.  During extreme weather conditions, employees who are unavoidably 
absent due to weather conditions may request the use of paid vacation leave. In such event, 
an employee is expected to contact the Dispatcher as soon as reasonably possible, in 
accordance with the department’s established call-in/reporting procedures. 

Section 18.3 Observed Holidays:  All eligible employees shall be granted ten (10) 
observed holidays.  The following holidays shall be observed by Mason Transit:  New Year's 
Day, Martin Luther King, Jr Day, President’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor 
Day, Veteran’s Day (public service provided), Thanksgiving Day, Day after Thanksgiving Day 
(public service provided) and Christmas Day 

a. Dates of Holidays: The Holiday schedule with specific dates is posted each year on 
employee bulletin boards. When a Holiday falls on a Saturday, it will be observed on that 
day. When the Holiday falls on a Sunday, it will be observed on the following Monday. 

b. Eligibility for Pay:  Regular full-time and probationary employees will receive holiday pay 
for their normally scheduled work hours on observed holidays, up to a maximum of eight 
(8) hours per holiday. An employee who works a work shift in excess of eight (8) hours 
may supplement additional accrued vacation leave up to their expected shift length. To be 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 70



 

20 

 

eligible for observed holiday pay, employees must be in a full paid status on the 
employee’s regularly scheduled workday both prior to and following the holiday. If an 
employee takes a sick day on their scheduled workday before or after the holiday, the 
employer may require a doctor’s certificate prior to paying the holiday pay. 

c. Required to Work:  If an employee is required to work on the observed holiday, the 
employee shall receive eight (8) hours holiday pay as stated above, as well as pay for any 
hours worked during the holiday. 

d. Scheduled Day Off:  When an observed holiday falls on an employee's regularly 
scheduled day off, a regular full-time employee will receive eight (8) hours holiday pay in 
addition to their regular pay for that week. Regular part-time employees receive four (4) 
hours holiday pay. 

e. Observance of Religious Holidays:  If an employee’s religious beliefs require observance 
of a holiday not included in the observed holiday schedule, or if the employee desires 
leave for a reason of faith or conscience or an organized activity conducted under the 
auspices of a religious denomination, church, or religious organization, the employee may 
request the day off using paid leave or leave without pay.  The employee is entitled to a 
maximum of two (2) unpaid religious leave days in a calendar year. Requests must be 
submitted to the Operations Manager for approval at least two (2) weeks prior to the 
requested day. The Operations Manager will evaluate whether the employee’s absence 
will cause an undue hardship to Mason Transit. 

Section 18.4 Personal Leave:  In addition to company holidays, regular full-time and part-
time employees are eligible for two (2) personal leave days per year as detailed below: 

 Full-time employees  8 Hours x 2 Personal leave days = 16 Hours 

  Part-time employees 4 Hours x 2 Personal leave days = 8 Hours 

Personal leave days must be taken in eight (8) hour increments for full-time employees and 
four (4) hour increments for part-time employees. Personal leave days must be approved in 
advance by the employee’s supervisor and may not be carried forward to the next year. If an 
employee starts after July 1st, full-time employees will receive one personal leave day (8 
hours) and part-time employees will receive one personal leave day (4 hours). 

Section 18.5 Vacation Leave: 

a. Vacation Leave Entitlement and Accrual:  After completing six months of employment, 
eligible employees may take paid vacation leave. Regular full-time employees accrue 
vacation leave from the first pay period of their employment. Regular part-time employees 
accrue vacation leave at a percentage of hours worked per pay period.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 71



 

21 

 

VACATION ACCRUAL HOURS AND DAYS SCHEDULE 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

PART-TIME VACATION ACCRUAL PERCENTAGE RATE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Employees are encouraged to use their vacation hours. As of December 31, of each year, an 
employee’s total vacation leave balance may not exceed two hundred forty (240) hours.  

b. Scheduling Vacation Leave:  Use of vacation leave must be approved in advance by 
the Operations Manager or designee. Vacations initially shall be scheduled according to 
seniority, then on a first-come, first-served basis, as follows: 

i. The Employer shall have the right to establish a vacation schedule establishing the 
number of employees allowed vacation on given dates and/or shifts. 

ii. The vacation year shall be defined as a twelve (12) month period beginning January 1 
and ending December 31. 

iii. Bidding will start the first Monday in December and will last a total of four (4) weeks. 

START OF 
SERVICE YEAR 

ANNUA
L 

HOURS 
ACCRUAL RATE 

PER PAY PERIOD 
0-1 96 3.69 

Over 1-2 104 4.00 
Over 2-5 112 4.30 

Over 5-10 144 5.53 
Over 10 192 7.38 

START OF 
SERVICE YEAR 

% ACCRUED PER 
PAY PERIOD 

0-1 5.1% 

Over 1-2 5.5% 

Over 2-5 5.9% 

Over 5-10 7.6% 

Over 10 10.2% 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 72



 

22 

 

Employees are to enter their vacation requests into Paylocity.  Vacation will be bid in 
continuous blocks beginning and ending on any day of the work week, or as individual 
days. The choice of vacation days shall be determined by seniority of each employee. 
When an employee selects a vacation week in which one of the fixed holidays fall 
(e.g., Christmas Day) the employee will receive four (4) days of vacation leave and 
one day of holiday pay. 

iv. Following the annual bidding, employees may request approval for vacation days 
following Department procedures.  Any employee whose annual bid request was 
rejected may elect to keep their request active in the event that the date(s) become 
available. These requests shall be considered first and by employee seniority over any 
requests made after the annual bidding period has ended. 

v. Vacation leave will only be granted if the employee making the request has a leave 
balance that, with projected accruals, would be sufficient to cover the entire leave 
request. The Employer reserves the right to cancel any approved leave request when 
there is insufficient leave balance to cover the total leave period. In such cases, the 
Employee will be given written notice of the cancellation. When scheduling vacation, it 
must be for the entire time requested. “Placeholding” hours may not be submitted. 

vi. Pre-approved leave must be cancelled no later than the Tuesday prior to the week  
when approved day(s) off are scheduled . The Employer may grant an exception in 
case of a driver shortage if a driver voluntarily offers to cancel leave and no work is 
being taken away from Extra-board drivers. 

c. Vacation Payout:  All accrued, unused vacation up to two hundred forty (240) hours will be 
paid upon resignation, termination or retirement, when an employee leaves MTA. 
Additionally, as of December 1 of each year, an employee who has not had a reasonable 
opportunity to use accrued vacation leave that would, therefore be lost, may request of 
the General Manager to cash out a maximum of eighty (80) hours of such leave.   

Section 18.6 Washington Paid Sick Leave: Washington Paid Sick Leave (WPSL) is available 
for all employees to use for qualifying reasons per state law. For a full description of the 
Employer’s policy regarding WPSL, see the Washington Paid Sick Leave Policy, which is 
considered part of this agreement. 

a. Accrual: All employees begin accruing WPSL at the commencement of employment. 
All employees accrue WPSL at the rate of one hour for every 40 hours worked 
(including overtime). All full-time employees accrue WPSL at the rate of one hour for 
every 40 hours worked, but in no case accrue less than two (2) hours per pay period. 
(e.g., a full-time employee working 37 hours per week during a two-week pay period 
will accrue two (2) hours of WPSL.) 
 
Part time, Seasonal, and Temporary employees will accrue WPSL at a rate of .025 per 
hour for each hour worked. 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 73



 

23 

 

b. Eligibility: All employees are eligible to use accrued WPSL beginning on the 90th day 
of employment. WPSL accrued during a pay period may not be used until the following 
pay period. 
 

c. Carryover: At the end of the accrual year, up to forty (40) hours of accrued, unused 
WPSL will be carried over to the next accrual year. For regular full-time and part-time 
employees, any accrued, unused WPSL over forty (40) hours will carry over to the 
employee’s Mason Transit Authority Sick Leave balance (see Section 18.6.2). 

 

Section 18.7 Employer Paid Sick Leave: In addition to the Washington Paid Sick Leave, 
Employer paid sick leave is available for all regular, full-time employees to use for qualifying 
reasons as per the Mason Transit Authority Sick Leave (MTASL) Policy. For a full description 
of qualifying reasons and details of usage, refer to the policy, which is considered part of this 
agreement. 

Accrual: All eligible employees begin accruing MTASL at the commencement of 
employment. Regular full-time employees accrue MTASL at the rate of 1.69 hours per 
pay period. For example, 1.69 hours per pay period x 26 pay periods = 44 (rounded) 
hours of MTASL per year in addition to the 52 hours accrued (assuming no overtime 
worked) under the Washington Paid Sick Leave Policy, as required by law, for a total 
of 96 hours per year. MTASL balance will not exceed 960 at the end of the calendar 
year. Hours above 960 will be forfeited at that time. 
 
Use of MTASL: Regular, full-time employees are eligible to use accrued MTASL upon 
commencement of their employment. MTASL accrued during a pay period may not be 
taken until the following pay period. 
 
Employees must provide reasonable notice, as described per the policy, to their team 
manager or designee regarding use of MTASL whenever possible, along with a 
Paylocity Time-Off Request. If no advance notice is possible, then the Paylocity Time 
Off Request must be submitted on the day following the employee’s return to work. 
 
If the absence is foreseeable, the employee must notify his or her team manager at 
least 10 days, or as early as possible, before the first day MTASL will be used. 
 
If the absence is unforeseeable, the employee, or a person on his or her behalf, must 
notify his or her team manager as soon as possible, preferably no later than one (1) 
hour before the employee’s scheduled start time. 
 
The employee may be required to provide verification for using MTASL for a qualifying 
reason, or upon reasonable suspicion of sick leave abuse (e.g., Pattern Absence), as 
provided in the policy. If verification is requested, the employee must submit a 
completed verification form to team manager or supervisor no less than 10 calendar 
days from the first day an employee used MTASL. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 74



 

24 

 

 
Unexcused absences may be subject to the Employer’s Performance Counseling 
Policy. 

 

Section 18.8  Sick Leave Payout: Employees who have accrued at least four hundred eighty 
(480) hours of MTASL as of December 1 of each year may elect to exchange any number of 
hours so long as the balance remains at or above four hundred eighty (480) hours for a 
fractional payout on the following pay period at an exchange of one hour’s pay per two hours 
accrued leave (1:2). 

Upon separation of employment or retirement, under non-disciplinary circumstances and with 
at least five (5) years of employment with the employer, the employee shall be paid for all 
accumulated sick leave up to nine hundred sixty (960) hours at the following rates of pay per 
accrued hours: 

Accrued Sick Leave Cash Out Rate 

0 – 480 hours 1:3 hours 

481 – 960 hours 1:2 hours 

 

Section 18.9 FMLA Leave:  Eligible employees will be granted up to twelve (12) weeks of 
Family & Medical (“FMLA”) leave in a twelve-month period, for any of the following reasons: 

• the birth of a son or daughter and in order to care for such son or daughter (leave to 
be completed within one (1) year of the child’s birth); 

• the placement of a son or daughter for adoption or foster care and in order to care for 
the newly placed son or daughter (leave to be completed within one (1) year of the 
child’s placement); 

• to care for a spouse, son, daughter, or parent with a serious health condition; 
• to care for your own serious health condition, which renders you unable to perform any 

of the essential functions of your position; or 
• a qualifying exigency of a spouse, son, daughter, or parent who is a military member 

on covered active duty or called to covered active duty status (or has been notified of 
an impending call or order to covered active duty). 

Employees may take up to twenty six (26) weeks of FMLA in a single twelve (12) month 
period, beginning on the first day that you take FMLA leave to care for a spouse, son, 
daughter, or next of kin who is a covered service member and who has a serious injury or 
illness related to active duty service, as defined by the FMLA’s regulations (known as “military 
caregiver leave”). 

FMLA leave may be paid, unpaid, or a combination of paid and unpaid, at the employee’s 
discretion. All other aspects of FMLA leave will be administered in accordance with MTA’s 
FMLA policy. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 75



 

25 

 

Section 18.10 Washington Paid Family and Medical Leave: Eligible employees are covered 
by Washington’s Paid Family and Medical Leave Program (PFML), RCW 50A. Eligibility for 
leave and benefits, which begins January 1, 2020, is established by Washington law and is 
therefore independent of this Agreement. Premiums for benefits are established by law and 
for the period ending December 31, 2020, will be total four-tenths of one percent (0.4%) of 
employees’ wages (unless otherwise adjusted up or down by the State). Each year, 
consistent with the law, employees will pay through payroll deduction the full cost of the 
premiums associated with family leave benefits and forty-five (45%) of the cost of the 
premiums associated with the medical leave benefits, as determined under RCW 
50A.10.030. The Employer shall pay any remaining portion as required by law. 

Section 18.11 Jury/Court Duty:  An employee summoned to jury duty during their scheduled 
shift shall submit their timecard showing work hours missed due to jury duty and actual work 
hours, so as to receive a normal workday’s pay. A copy of the court notification for required 
jury duty must be provided to the Operations  Manager fourteen (14) days prior to the 
commencement of the jury duty or as soon as is practicable. 

MTA is not obligated to pay an employee for jury duty outside of an employee’s scheduled 
work hours. Travel time to and from jury duty is not paid time. If an employee is scheduled to 
perform jury duty outside their normally scheduled shift, the employee may make 
arrangements to flex their shift, subject to approval by the Operations Manager. 

Employees must keep the Operations Manager informed as to their status and availability for 
work. If an employee is able to work part of a shift before or after jury duty hours, the 
employee must report to work and perform normal work duties. 

Section 18.12 Military Leave:  Military Leave shall be provided in accordance with the 
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment rights Act (USERRA), RCW 38.40.060 
and other applicable laws.  Written verification supporting the request for Military Leave shall 
be submitted by the employee in a timely manner. Employees will receive regular pay for the 
first twenty one (21) days of military leave during the twelve (12) month period January 1 to 
December 31. 

Section 18.13 Other Non-Medical Leaves:  The Employer may, at its discretion, also grant 
leaves of absence with or without pay for other reasons the Employer considers valid such as 
for education purposes or personal non-medical related problems.  Leaves will only be 
granted when they do not interfere with the operations of MTA.  Requests for leaves must be 
made in writing to the Operations Manager, and must be approved by the General Manager.  
Non-medical leaves shall not exceed a period of six (6) months from the first day of the 
approved leave.  Unpaid time off shall not be granted unless the employee has used all 
available and accrued paid leaves. 

At termination of any leave of absence, the employee shall, upon application to the 
Operations Manager, be returned to their former classification.  In the event the former 
classification has been abolished, then the employee shall be subject to the layoff provisions 
set forth in Article 22. 

Section 18.14 Bereavement Leave:  Employees are entitled to a maximum of three (3) days 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 76



 

26 

 

off with pay, when absent from scheduled workdays to attend the funeral of a member of the 
employee’s immediate family or to attend to other necessary responsibilities resulting from 
the death of the family member. Immediate family includes spouse, domestic partner, parent, 
children, siblings, stepparents, stepchildren, stepsiblings, grandparents, grandchildren, 
parents-in-law, son in-law, daughter in-law and brothers or sisters-in-law. The employee may 
be asked to provide documentation, which may be a doctor’s statement, newspaper article, 
death certificate, etc., prior to being granted the leave. 

Section 18.15 Donated Leave:  An employee may, on a strictly voluntary basis, donate sick 
leave to another employee in the bargaining unit who has exhausted his or her sick leave, 
vacation or personal holidays with the following conditions:  

• Donation must be for an Employee’s serious health condition under FMLA standards. 
• Donor must maintain a minimum of eighty (80) hours of leave. 
• Donations may not accumulate to more than forty (40) hours per event. 
• Employee is not eligible to receive worker’s compensation benefits, unemployment 

benefits, Washington Paid Family and Leave pay, State retirement pension or long-
term disability insurance. 

• Donated leave may be used for the one-week waiting period for Washington Paid 
Family Leave. 

• Hours donated are on an hour for hour basis in one-hour increments. 
• The hours donated will be returned prorated if they are not used by the recipient. 

 

ARTICLE 19 - PERSONNEL BENEFITS 

Section 19.1 Health Care & Insurance Benefits:   
 
 19.1.1 Healthcare Benefits and Contributions Rates:  The Employer provides 

medical, dental, and vision benefits to all eligible employees and their dependents.  
The Employer may elect to change carriers during the term of this Agreement.  The 
actual plan provider, as well as the coverage offered, may be revised at the discretion 
of the Employer.  The Employer has authority to take any action necessary to avoid 
fee, charge, tax, premium increase, or other monetary penalty attributed to the 
Affordable Care Act’s Excise Tax on High Cost Coverage (the “Cadillac Tax”).  
However, prior to any changes being instituted, the Employer agrees to convene a 
committee of a Management Representative, the Union Representative and two (2) 
employees; one (1) each of represented and non-represented to explore options. 

 
 19.1.2 Contribution  Rates:   The Employer will contribute an amount equal to 

ninety-five percent (95%) of the total health care premium for each bargaining unit 
employee eligible for healthcare benefits.  Employees are required to pay, through 
payroll deduction, the employee share of the monthly contribution premium.  If the 
amount of the monthly premium increases by more than 10% during any year, the 
employees and Employer will split the cost of premium increase. 

 
 19.1.3 Insurance Benefits:  Employer pays the cost of Life Insurance and Long-term 

Disability Insurance for eligible employees. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 77



 

27 

 

 
 19.1.4 Eligibility:   Coverage begins on the first day of the month following start of 

employment.  Specific types of coverage, employee/dependent eligibility definitions 
and benefit payment schedules are described in Employer’s healthcare and insurance 
plan booklets available to eligible employees through Human Resources. 

 
 19.1.5 Self-Pay Due to Leave of Absence: Health care coverage is available to an 

employee on unpaid, non-medical leave of absence provided the employee continues 
to pay for the coverage on a self-pay basis.  The coverage of employees on a medical 
leave of absence will be continued; however, employees are responsible for their 
percentage contribution to the monthly premium. 

 
 19.1.6 COBRA Due to Separation of Service: Upon separation from Mason Transit 

employment or other qualifying event, an employee and/or the employee's eligible 
dependents may elect to continue health benefits at their own expense to the extent 
provided by law. 

 
Section 19.2 State Pension (PERS):  The employee and Employer shall be participants of 
the Washington Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) and subject to the rules and 
regulations of Washington State Law. Retirement information shall be provided by the 
Employer at the request of the employees. 

Section 19.3 Deferred Compensation Plan:  As part of the retirement savings package, all 
regular employees may participate in the Washington State Deferred Compensation Plan or 
AIG/Valic as part of their retirement savings package. Annual limits on the deferred amount, 
as set by the federal government, will apply.  

Section 19.4 Education Assistance Program:  Regular, full-time employees with one or 
more years of employment are eligible for reimbursement for courses that employees take at 
a recognized institution.  These courses must, in the opinion of Human Resources, 
realistically increase the employees’ competence in their present jobs or prepare them for 
advancement in the agency. 

Maximum reimbursement is $750 per quarter and $2,250 per employee per year, approved in 
one-year increments, with a life-time maximum of $9,000 per employee.  The employee must 
receive a “C” grade or better (or “Pass” grade in classes which can only be taken “Pass or 
Fail”).  Reimbursement will be made upon completion of the course and submission of course 
grades.  The employee must submit a copy of the record showing grade achieved with 
his/her request for reimbursement.  Books and materials will be reimbursed.  Meals and 
transportation costs will not be reimbursed.  Time off from normal work hours to attend or 
travel to classes will be allowed with prior authorization from the Operations Manager. 

Section 19.5 Employee Assistance Program:  Employer provides access to the Employee 
Assistance Program at no charge to all employees and their dependents. The EAP provides 
confidential help to resolve a variety of issues, including physical or mental illness, substance 
use/abuse, legal, financial or other personal problems.  

Section 19.6 Transportation Passes:  MTA employee’s immediate family shall be provided 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 78



 

28 

 

transportation passes during the employee’s employment. 

For purposes of this benefit, an employee’s dependent is defined as a spouse as evidenced 
by a marriage license, a domestic partner, or a dependent child of the employee between the 
ages of 7 and 19 residing with the employee, and a child older than 19 who resides with 
employee but qualifies as a dependent due to a disability. 

Section 19.7 Employer Sponsored Events or Programs:  Employees are eligible to receive 
prizes, awards, incentives and compensation as the Employer may deem appropriate for their 
participation in Employer sponsored events or programs. 
 
 

ARTICLE 20 - PERSONAL TOOLS AND WORK CLOTHES 

Section 20.1 Employer Provided Work Clothes: The Employer shall provide MTA-branded 
Uniform work clothing and foul weather gear at no cost to the employee. The Employer shall 
ensure that at least seven (7) sets of non-weather clothing (shirts, sweatshirts, etc.) are 
available to the employee, and that replacement of outdated, outsized, or worn out apparel 
may occur at any time. It is the Employer's responsibility to track employee clothing 
allowances and returns.  

Section 20.2 Uniform Reimbursement: The Employer shall reimburse drivers up to $250 for 
pants, shorts, shoes, belts and hats. Additionally, the Employer shall reimburse drivers up to 
$40 for timepieces once every two years. The employee must submit a receipt to their 
supervisor for approval to be reimbursed. Reimbursement will be made through the next 
payroll following submittal to the payroll department.   

Section 20.3 Non-Uniform Wear (Seasonal wear, Sport Logo wear): Hawaiian shirts and 
Professional/College Sports Logo wear may be worn every Friday throughout the year. Other 
non-uniform apparel and items may be worn in accordance with current MTA uniform 
guidelines. 

Section 20.4 Uniform Committee: A Uniform Committee shall consist of up to two members 
appointed by the Employer and of up to four members appointed by the Union. The Uniform 
Committee shall meet at least twice a year to discuss the uniform program and select uniform 
items.  

Section 20.5 Uniform Appearance: It is the responsibility of the driver to maintain their 
uniform in a neat, clean and presentable condition at all times. Uniforms must be worn 
according to the standards agreed upon by the Uniform Committee. 

 

ARTICLE 21 - SENIORITY 

Section 21.1 Definition of Seniority: For purpose of this Article, seniority shall be used for 
determining retention of position (after completion of probation period), bidding and vacation 
scheduling. Seniority shall be defined as the length of continuous time of service with the 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 79



 

29 

 

Employer within classifications covered by this Agreement plus the provisions of Section 21.2 
and 21.3 listed below.  If two or more employees are hired on the same day, seniority 
preference will be assigned by date and time of application for that job opening. 

Seniority as calculated herein shall not be used in determining benefit eligibility/accrual and 
step adjustments (see applicable articles). 

Section 21.2 Effect of Probation on Seniority: If an employee is laid off during his 
probationary period and subsequently rehired, any seniority accumulated during the twelve 
(12) months immediately preceding the rehire date shall be counted toward the seniority. 

Section 21.3 Additional Accumulation: Seniority shall include in addition to length of 
continuous time of service defined in Section 21.1 above: 

a. The time lost by reason of industrial injury, industrial illness or jury duty. 

b. The time spent on authorized medical leave of absences, parental and family leaves. 

c. The time spent on leave of absence granted for the purpose of serving in the Armed 
Services of the United States. 

d. The time spent on authorized Union business or on leave of absence for Union business. 

e. The first thirty (30) days of any other authorized leave of absence. 

f. The time on layoff from the bargaining unit not to exceed in each instance a period of 
twelve (12) months. 

Section 21.4 Loss of Seniority: An individual shall lose seniority rights for the following 
reasons: 
 
a. Voluntary resignation. 

b. Discharge for just cause. 

c. Retirement. 

 

ARTICLE 22 - LAYOFF, RECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADES & RECALL 

Section 22.1 Definitions: The meanings of certain terms used in this Article 22 and 
elsewhere in this Agreement are stated below: 
 
a. Reduction in Force (RIF) refers to reduction of the number of employees within a 

classification as listed in Appendix A of this Agreement. 

b. Reclassification refers to placement into a bargaining-unit classification of equal pay when 
a RIF occurs. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 80



 

30 

 

c. Downgrade refers to placement into a bargaining-unit classification of lower pay when a 
RIF occurs. 

d. Recall refers to the process of reinstatement of employees to former jobs held which were 
lost by reason of a RIF. 

e. Layoff refers to the severance of employment of an employee due to a RIF. 

Section 22.2 Notification of Layoff: The Employer shall inform the Union Stewards and the 
employees affected of date of layoff thirty (30) days or more in advance of such scheduled 
layoff. 
 
Section 22.3 Reduction in Force Procedures: Reverse order of seniority within 
classification, shall determine which employee is affected by the RIF. 
 
Section 22.4 Reclassification and Downgrade Rights: An employee affected by a RIF shall 
be granted rights of reclassification or downgrade to any previously held classifications if their 
seniority is greater than the seniority of another employee in such classification. The 
Employer shall offer the classification with highest rate of pay first to an employee with these 
rights, then if refused, shall offer the next lower paid classification held and so forth until all 
classifications previously held are exhausted. An employee may choose layoff rather than 
exercise these rights. 
 
Section 22.5 Recall Rights: If an opening occurs, employees laid off or downgraded shall 
be recalled to previously held classifications based on the reverse order of the RIF subject 
only to the terms listed hereafter in this Agreement: 
 
a. Employees shall retain recall rights for a period of twelve (12) months from date of the 

reduction in workforce. 

b. Notice of Recall shall be sent to a laid off employee at the employee’s last known address 
by certified/registered mail. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to keep the 
Employer informed of their current address. Any employee who fails to report for work 
within ten (10) days from the date of mailing notice of recall shall be considered resigned 
and shall have their name removed from the Recall List, unless such laid off employee is 
temporarily incapacitated preventing the employee from reporting or is employed 
elsewhere, in which case the employee must notify the Employer in writing within five (5) 
days after the receipt of the notice to return for work as quickly as the employee’s health 
will permit or to give adequate termination notice to the employee’s present employer. 

c. An employee on layoff or downgrade who rejects a recall offer to a classification 
previously held shall lose recall rights to such classification only. 

d. Mason Transit employees with recall rights shall be notified in writing of recall seven (7) 
days in advance of such recall.  The employee shall be allowed twenty-four (24) hours to 
accept or decline. 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 81



 

31 

 

ARTICLE 23 - PROBATION 

23.1 New Employees:  All new employees shall serve a probationary period of six (6) 
months commencing on their date of employment with the Employer. The retention of such 
employees shall be strictly within the discretion of the employer.  This probationary period 
shall be extended by any period of unpaid leave.  Upon mutual agreement of the parties, an 
employee’s probationary period may be extended. 

23.2 Rejected Employees:  Rejected employees shall be notified of such action in writing by 
the Department Manager or designee at any time during their probationary period.  Upon the 
completion of the probationary period, the employee shall be considered as having 
satisfactorily demonstrated qualifications for the position and shall gain regular employee 
status.  The employee shall be notified of successful completion by their supervisor. 

23.3 Probationary Employees:  Probationary employees shall not have recourse through 
the grievance procedure with regard to disciplinary actions, including discharge.  On other 
contractual matters, except as noted below, the probationary employee shall be entitled to 
the same rights as other employees subject to the terms of this agreement. 

Probationary employees are not eligible to receive vacation leave during their probationary 
period.  Upon satisfactorily completing their probationary period, the employee will receive 
vacation leave retroactive to their date of hire into the bargaining unit. 

 

ARTICLE 24 - PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS 

Section 24.1 Job Openings and Posting:  Promotion and transfer within the bargaining unit 
shall be made pursuant to the following procedures: 

a. The Employer shall post all vacancies, job openings and new classifications and it shall 
remain posted for five (5) days. The notice shall state the number of jobs to be filled, the 
rate of pay for each job to be filled and a job description including the work required and 
minimum qualifications. 

b. The notice shall be posted and applications received from employees prior to initiating 
public recruiting efforts, unless the vacant position is at the lowest classification level or, 
on the approval of the General Manager, it is in the best interests of the Employer to 
concurrently recruit internally and externally where, for example, there is a need to fill the 
position without delay or the position requires license or certificates, specialized qualifica-
tions not known to be possessed by employees. 

c. Administrative Services Manager shall be responsible for the initial screening of all 
employee applications for vacant positions for the purpose of determining which 
applicants possess the minimum qualifications.  Administrative Services Manager shall 
refer the most qualified candidate(s) to the Operations Manager, or designee, for 
interviews and/or testing. If the Operations Manager is not satisfied with the candidate(s), 
additional recruiting may be requested. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 82



 

32 

 

d. An employee who is not selected for the test and/or interview may request a meeting with 
the Operations Manager to learn the reasons why the employee was not selected. 

e. In the selection of an employee to fill a vacancy, the following factors may be considered: 

 Qualifications (experience, training, education, skill, ability and past performance); 
 Efficiency; 
 Disciplinary record; and 
 Length of service. 

 
The Operations Manager will have discretion in making the final decision on employee 
selection. 

 
Section 24.2 Right to Return to Former Position:  Bargaining unit employees who transfer 
or are promoted to a position with Mason Transit but not covered by this Collective 
Bargaining Agreement shall have the right to return to their former position for a period of two 
(2) complete shift bids. 

Any employee exercising their right to return to their former position shall have the same 
seniority as of the time they transferred out, but in no case will they accumulate seniority 
while working outside of the Bargaining Unit. 

Section 24.3  Transfer to or from Bargaining Unit: Bargaining Unit Members that transfer or 
are promoted to a non-represented position within MTA shall receive a minimum of a five 
percent (5%) increase in pay based on their current wage rate. If the employee returns to 
their previous position within two (2) complete shift bids, their pay shall revert to the level 
appropriate to their original step date and shall regain their previous seniority status. 

Employees not a part of the bargaining unit that transfer to the drivers’ group shall be placed 
at the step listed in the table in Appendix A of this bargaining agreement that provides a wage 
rate closest to their current rate without reducing their pay, but not to exceed the maximum 
step. All employees transferring to the drivers’ group, including those returning to a previous 
position after two (2) complete shift bids, shall retain their existing MTA seniority date for the 
purposes of vacation selection but will start at the bottom of the driver seniority list for 
purposes of shift selection and/or Reduction-In-Force. 

 

ARTICLE 25 - SUBCONTRACTING 

The Employer shall not contract out work performed as of the date of this contract by 
members of this bargaining unit if the contracting of such work eliminates or reduces the 
normal workload of the bargaining unit. If a condition arises that necessitates contracting of 
work normally performed by the bargaining unit, the Union shall be offered an opportunity to 
be involved in the planning process; provided, however, the Employer shall have the right to 
make the final decision regarding subcontracting. 

If, in order to secure funding for a specific project, the Employer is required to contract all or 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 83



 

33 

 

part of the work to be performed due to the limitations imposed by the funding agreement, 
such contracting shall not be considered a violation of the Agreement. 

In the case of a circumstance which is beyond the control of the Employer at the time action 
is required and which could not reasonably have been foreseen, or the Employer is not 
reasonably able to provide the necessary tools, personnel or equipment to timely perform the 
work, the Employer shall be allowed to enter into subcontracting for this project and not be in 
violation of the Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE 26 - SHIFT BIDDING 

The Employer agrees to shift bidding three (3) times per year.  Additional bids may be 
scheduled to meet business needs regarding routed or other service schedule changes upon 
mutual agreement with the Union.  A minimum of two (2) weeks prior to the shift bid, MTA will 
post all available shifts and the current seniority list.  For purposes of shift bidding, seniority 
will determine on the basis of length of employment within classification. 
 
The Employer has the right to control the work force in its entirety, including the shifts to be 
offered; however, any alteration from the shift bid will be submitted to the Union for review 
and input at least thirty (30) days before shift bidding begins.  The Employer has the right to 
establish the number of positions by classification. 
 
Unanticipated vacancies that occur between bids as the result of a voluntary or involuntary 
termination, or an extended absence of greater than thirty (30) days (including for training or 
a light duty assignment), will be filled by the Employer offering the shift to the Driver who is 
next on the seniority list, and so on until all positions are filled (“line shake-up”) . During the 
shift bid, upon the return of the Regular Driver from a leave of absence, the bid will revert 
back to the original bid at the start of the work week within two weeks of the notification from 
the Regular Driver stating the ability to return to full-time status. If the Regular Driver is only 
able to return part time, the Regular Driver will be assigned to the extra-board until a time 
comes the Regular Driver is able to return full time. 

 If there are fewer than thirty (30) days until the next shift bid, the position will be filled by the 
extra board until the return of the Regular Driver or the next shift bid.  If newly created 
positions or new shifts will be offered in between bids, there will be a bid by seniority if the 
work will commence more than thirty (30) days before the next regular bid. 
 
If a Driver is on a leave of absence that is expected to extend into a new bid cycle and 
expects to be able to work a regular shift during at least thirty (30) days of the bid cycle at any 
point, they shall be able to bid a shift of work. If a Driver is not expected to return to full time 
status within the first thirty (30) days of the bid cycle, a line shake-up for their work will 
immediately commence following the completion of the shift bid.  

If the Driver is not expected to work at least thirty (30) days of the bid cycle, they may not bid, 
with the exception that a Driver on a protected leave of absence, (e.g. FMLA), may bid a shift 
regardless of expected dates of return. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 84



 

34 

 

 
ARTICLE 27 - SAVINGS CLAUSE 

It is the intention of the parties hereto to comply with all applicable provisions of the state and 
federal law, and they believe that each and every part of this Agreement is lawful. All 
provisions of this Agreement shall be complied with unless any of such provisions shall be 
declared invalid or inoperative by a court of final jurisdiction. Should any provision of this 
Agreement or the application of such provision be rendered or declared invalid by any court 
action or by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted legislation, the remaining 
portions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Either party may request re-
negotiation of invalid provisions for the purpose of adequate and lawful replacement thereof. 

 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 85



 

35 

 

 

ARTICLE 28 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, when adopted by the Mason Transit Authority and approved by the Union, 
shall become effective as of June 1, 2020 and shall remain in effect until May 31, 2023 
subject to the following provisions: 
 
Letters of Understanding. In recognition of the possibility that changes may be desired for the 
mutual benefit of the parties during the life of the Agreement, either party may initiate 
discussion of modifications by written communication to the other. The party receiving such 
communication shall arrange to meet with the other party within thirty (30) days of receipt. 
While neither party is obligated to negotiate changes to the Agreement during the contract 
term, should agreement be reached, the modification shall be attached as supplemental letter 
of understanding to this contract and shall remain in effect for the life of this Agreement. 
 
 
AGREED TO THIS  ___  DAY OF   __________________________.                   
 
 
MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
   MACHINISTS & AEROSPACE WORKERS, 
   AFL-CIO, DISTRICT LODGE 160 
 
              
 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 86



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 87



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A - WAGE SCHEDULES 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 6/1/2020 6/1/2021
2.50%

Training 75% 19.20 19.68

1 80% 20.48 20.99

2 1.5 - 2.5 yrs 83% 21.25 21.78

3 2.5 - 3.5 yrs 86% 22.02 22.57

4 3.5 - 4.5 yrs 89% 22.78 23.35

5 4.5 - 5.5 yrs 92% 23.55 24.14

6 5.5 - 6.5 yrs 95% 24.32 24.93

7 6.5 - 7.5 yrs 100% 25.60 26.24

LONGEVITY Per Hour
10 YRS 0.70 Per Hour

$4
15 YRS 0.90 $3

$2
20 YRS 1.20

25 YRS 1.40

30 YRS 1.65

Foreign Language

.25- 1.5 yrs

0 - .25 yrs

Pay Premiums
Lead Driver

OJT, Trainee 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 88



 

 

 

 

 
 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 89



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

ACCIDENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 

1.0  Accident Review Definitions 

● An “accident” is defined as any occurrence involving Mason Transit vehicle that results 
in damage or injury. 

● A “preventable accident” is defined, according to National Safety Council (NSC) 
guidelines, as an accident in which the Driver failed to do everything reasonable to 
avoid it.  

● A “non-preventable accident” is one in which the employee did everything reasonable 
to avoid the accident, yet was involved in an accident.  An example would be an 
accident due to the negligence of another motorist. 

 

1.1  Initial Review and Determination 

Upon receipt of an Event Report regarding an accident, the Safety & Training Supervisor or 
designee will investigate the Event Report, including discussing the circumstances with the 
Driver involved.  All available information will be gathered including statements from 
witnesses or other MTA staff with direct knowledge of the Event.  A review will be conducted 
by the Safety & Training Supervisor or designee within fourteen (14) calendar days of the 
accident and a determination of “preventable” or “non-preventable” will be forwarded, in 
writing, to the Operations Manager, the Operations Supervisors, and the Driver. Failure to 
meet the fourteen (14) calendar day deadline shall result in the dismissal of any and all 
actions against the driver and removal of all documentation relating to the accident from the 
driver’s record. 

If the Safety & Training Supervisor or designee is sent to the scene of an Event to interview 
the driver, they shall ask the driver if they would like to have a Union Steward present. If the 
driver asks for a Steward, the Supervisor shall either arrange for a Steward to join them at the 
scene and delay the interview until their arrival or reschedule the interview for a later time. 

1.2  Appeal to Accident Review Committee 

If the Driver disagrees with the findings, he/she may submit a written request within five (5) 
calendar days of receipt of the written finding to the Operations Manager requesting a review 
by the Accident Review Committee.  The Accident Review Committee will consist of four 
members:  two members identified by the Union, the Operations Manager, and an additional 
Employer designee.   

The non-voting Safety & Training Supervisor or designee will chair the Committee.  The ARC 
will meet as needed, and will try to meet within fourteen (14) calendar days of notice of the 
appeal, subject to service needs.  ARC meeting time will be considered paid work time.  The 
driver involved may choose to present their facts to the committee and the committee may 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 90



 

 

 

 

call the driver before them to present his/her facts regarding the accident.  The driver will 
have the right to Union Representation at the meeting.   

The decision of the Committee will be arrived at by secret ballot counted in the presence of 
the committee members. The Committee shall judge the accidents as non-preventable or 
preventable.  In the event that the committee is unable to reach a majority decision, the 
original decision shall stand unless appealed to the General Manager. The Safety & Training 
Supervisor will inform the Operator and the Union in writing of the committee’s decision. 

1.3  Final Appeal 

If the Driver does not agree with the Accident Review Committee findings, he/she may submit 
a written appeal to the MTA General Manager within five (5) calendar days of notice of the 
ARC decision requesting a review of the ARC’s findings. The General Manager will review 
the findings, all available information, and meet with the Driver within five (5) working days of 
receipt of the Request for a Final Appeal. The General Manager will rate the accident as 
“preventable” or “non-preventable.”  The decision of the General Manager will be final.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 91



 

 

 

 

New Article 

 

 APPENDIX C 

FACILITIES and VEHICLE COMMITTEES 

 

1. Facilities: When remodeling or refurnishing existing infrastructure or constructing new 
infrastructure, the Employer shall seek and consider feedback on furniture, equipment, 
access, usability and function of spaces as it relates directly to the driver work or break 
areas.   
 
 

2. Acquisition of new vehicles: When the Employer purchases new vehicles to be used 
by drivers, it shall use a committee of drivers to assist in the selection, design, and 
approval of the vehicles. The Employer shall make a good faith effort to incorporate as 
many of the committee’s recommendations as is practical. The committee shall be 
primarily composed of drivers who currently use the same type of vehicle on a regular 
basis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 92



Resolution No. 2020-13 Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-13 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY BOARD 
APPROVING THE AGREEMENT WITH THE INTERNATIONAL 

ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS DISTRICT 
LODGE 160, FOR THE PERIOD JUNE 1, 2020 TO MAY 31, 2023 AND 

AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO SIGN THAT AGREEMENT. 

 
WHEREAS, negotiations between the International Association of Machinists and 

Aerospace Workers District Lodge 160 and Mason Transit Authority have been completed and 
both parties have reached an agreement for the regular full-time, regular part-time and 
Lead Drivers collective bargaining unit for the period June 1, 2020 to May 31, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
BOARD that it approves the agreement between the International Association of Machinists 
and Aerospace Workers District Lodge 160 and Mason Transit Authority for the period June 1, 
2020 to May 31, 2023 (the “Agreement”); and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that it hereby authorizes the General Manager to sign the 

Agreement. 
 

Adopted this 21st day of July, 2020. 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Wes Martin, Chair     Sharon Trask, Vice-Chair 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
John Campbell, Authority Member   Kevin Dorcy, Authority Member 
 
 
_______________________________  ______________________________ 
Matt Jewett, Authority Member    Randy Neatherlin, Authority Member  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 93



Resolution No. 2020-13 Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
______________________________  ____________________________ 
Deborah Petersen, Authority Member  Kevin Shutty, Authority Member 
 
 
______________________________  
Sandy Tarzwell, Authority Member 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO CONTENT:    _______    ______ 
          Danette Brannin, General Manager 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:        ______ 
    Robert W. Johnson, Legal Counsel 
 
 
ATTEST:        DATE:    ______ 
           Tracy Becht, Clerk of the Board 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 94



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item: New Business – Item 2 –Discussion 
Subject:    Transit Development Plan (TDP) – First View 
Prepared by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
The attached draft Transit Development Plan (TDP) is Mason Transit Authority’s annual 
update as required under Washington State RCW Section 35.58.2795, Public 
Transportation Systems – Six-Year Transit Plans. This report provides summary 
information for 2019 as well as projected changes for 2020-2025. The TDP details 
MTA’s current service, infrastructure, equipment and financial outlook and provides a 
five-year forecast of and planned service development, capital investment and budget 
assumptions. The structure of the TDP has changed and been updated according to the 
required elements that must be present in the TDP. 
 
Public hearings to receive comment will be held on July 29 at the Port of Allyn and 
August 6 at the T-CC. Additional details relating to those public hearings are on the 
MTA website, as well as the copy of the TDP. MTA will take written questions and/or 
comments until 4:00 p.m. on Friday, August 14, 2020. 
 
The attached draft is the Board’s first view of the TDP. Staff will be seeking final 
approval of the TDP at the August Board meeting. 
 
 
Summary:  First view of Transit Development Plan (TDP). 
 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
None. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
None at this time. 
 
 
 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 95



Page | 1 

 

Mason Transit Authority 
790 E Johns Prairie Rd 

Shelton, WA 98584 
 

 
 

 
  

  

Date of Public Hearings: 

July 29, 2020 and August 6, 2020 

Adopted on:  August 18, 2020 

Prepared by Mason Transit Authority Staff 
 
 

w 

 
 

 2020-2025 

TRANSIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
and 

2019 Annual Report 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 96



 

Page | 2 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
Plan Adoption, Public Hearing and Distribution ......................................................................................... 3 

Plan Adoption ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Public Participation Process .................................................................................................................... 3 

Plan Distribution ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

Description of Service Area, Operations and Facilities .............................................................................. 4 

Service Area .............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Operations ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Map 1 – Service Area ................................................................................................................................ 6 

Table 1 - Fares ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

Facilities .................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Park and Ride Lots ............................................................................................................................... 9 

State and Agency Goals, Objectives and Strategies .................................................................................. 9 

Table 2:  2020 – 2025 Goals, Objectives, and Strategies, and Alignment with State Goal ................. 10 

Local Performance Measures and Targets ............................................................................................... 14 

Table 3:  2020 – 2025 Performance Measurements and Targets .......................................................... 15 

Plan Consistency ......................................................................................................................................... 15 

Planned Capital Expenses .......................................................................................................................... 16 

Table 4 – Planned Capital Expenses ...................................................................................................... 16 

Planned Operating Changes ...................................................................................................................... 16 

Table 5 – Planned Operating Changes ................................................................................................... 17 

Multiyear Financial Plan .............................................................................................................................. 17 

Capital Improvement: ............................................................................................................................. 17 

Table 6 – Capital Purchases ................................................................................................................... 18 

Operating Financial Assumptions through 2025 .................................................................................. 18 

Table 7 – Operating ................................................................................................................................ 19 

Projects of Regional Significance .............................................................................................................. 20 

Agency History, Organizational Structure, Accomplishments, Outlook and Outreach Coordination .. 20 

Board of Directors: ................................................................................................................................. 20 

Citizen Adviser to the Board: .................................................................................................................. 21 

Public Outreach: ...................................................................................................................................... 21 

2019 Accomplishments: ......................................................................................................................... 22 

Table 9 – 2019 Accomplishments .......................................................................................................... 23 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 97



 

Page | 3 
 

 

Plan Adoption, Public Hearing and Distribution 

Plan Adoption 
Mason Transit Authority (MTA)  Board of Directors adopted the 2020 Transit 
Development Plan on August 18, 2020 

Public Participation Process 
 Public Comment Period: July 21, 2020 – August 13, 2020 
 Comments Submitted to: MTA@masontransit.org 
     Mason Transit Authority 
     General Manager 
     790 E Johns Prairie Rd 
     Shelton, WA 98584 
 

Public Hearing: Mason Transit Authority held two public hearings on the Transit 
Development Plan on July 29, 2020 at 5:30pm at the Port of Allyn 18560 E State Route 
3, Allyn, WA 98524 and August 6, 2020 at 5:30 pm at the Transit-Community Center, 
601 W Franklin Ave, Shelton, WA 98584. 
 
Notice Posted to Website: MTA posted a notice of the hearing on the Transit 
Development Plan to its website at www.masontransit.org on July 17, 2020. 
 
Notice Published in Local Paper: The Shelton Journal published a notice of the 
hearing on the Transit Development Plan on July 23, 2020. 
 
Requests for Paper or Digital Copies: MTA allowed the public to request a paper or 
digital copy of the Transit Development Plan on and after July 17, 2020 by emailing 
MTA@masontransit.org. or by calling (360) 426-9434. 
 
Available to the Public for Review: MTA allow the public to view a copy of the draft 
Transit Development Plan at the Mason Transit Authority Business Office, 790 E 
Johns Prairie Rd, Shelton, WA 98584 and at the Transit-Community Center, 601 W 
Franklin Ave, Shelton, WA 98584. 

Plan Distribution 
On August 19, 2020, Mason Transit Authority distributed the adopted Transit 
Development Plan to:  

• PTDPlans@wsdot.wa.gov 
• The agency’s assigned WSDOT Community Liaison. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 98

mailto:MTA@masontransit.org
http://www.masontransit.org/
mailto:MTA@masontransit.org
mailto:PTDPlans@wsdot.wa.gov


 

Page | 4 
 

• The Transportation Improvement Board via: 
o Vaugh Nelson, Finance Manager at vaughnn@tib.wa.gov 
o Chris Workman, Engineering Manager at chrisw@tib.wa.gov 

• All cities, counties and regional transportation planning organizations within 
which Mason Transit Authority operates. 

 

Description of Service Area, Operations and Facilities 

Service Area 
Mason Transit Authority serves the general public throughout Mason County and 
provides regional connections with other transits and modes of transportation. 

Regional connections with other transit systems occur Monday through Saturday 
with Intercity Transit, Sound Transit and Grays Harbor Transit in Olympia; Kitsap 
Transit and the Washington State Ferry system in Bremerton; and Jefferson Transit at 
Triton Cove State Park.  Regional connection with Squaxin Transit occurs Monday 
through Friday at the Squaxin Island Tribe Park and Ride Facility near the intersection 
of SR-101 and SR-108. 

The majority of MTA’s connecting services are at transfer facilities located near 
services that allow connections to other ground transportation including Washington 
State Ferries in Bremerton and Greyhound and Amtrak in Olympia. 

Service is available to persons traveling to and from area schools including 
Olympic College, South Puget Sound Community College, Evergreen State College, 
and Grays Harbor College by using MTA to transfer to Intercity, Grays Harbor and 
Kitsap Transit systems at respective transit centers. 

Route schedules and maps can be found on MTA’s website at 
http://www.masontransit.org/ 

Operations 
At time of publication of the Transit Development Plan, MTA was running reduced 
service due to COVID-19. Days of operations were Monday – Friday, with limited 
emergency Dial-a-Ride on Saturday. 

MTA provides services consisting of local and regional deviated fixed routes, 
Worker/Driver commuter service to Puget Sound Naval Shipyard (PSNS) and public 
commuter services on high demand regional routes, Demand Response (general dial-
a-ride), Vanpools and volunteers using private cars under the Volunteer Driver 
Program that serves those over the age of 60 needing out-of-county services.    

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 99

mailto:vaughnn@tib.wa.gov
mailto:chrisw@tib.wa.gov
http://www.masontransit.org/
http://www.masontransit.org/


 

Page | 5 
 

Hours of operation of the transportation service are 4:00 a.m. to 8:30 p.m., Monday 
through Friday, and 6:00 a.m. to 8:30 p.m. on Saturday.  There is no service on 
Sunday, and either no service or reduced service on observed holidays.  MTA 
operates nine (9) Fixed Routes on weekdays and eight (8) routes on Saturdays that 
allow minimal deviated service to persons traveling off designated routes.  Dial-A-
Ride service operates in rural areas where there is no fixed route service or where 
deviations are not possible as well as in populated areas of Mason County for people 
who have difficulty using the routed service.  All Dial-A-Ride service is open to the 
general public.  Riders using Dial-A-Ride can make a trip request from two (2) hours 
before to two (2) weeks prior to the preferred pick-up time but may request a ride 
for anytime if there is availability.  All vehicles in MTA scheduled service are equipped 
with bike racks and are accessible to persons with disabilities. 

MTA coordinates all service requests with other local and regional area 
transportation providers.  Squaxin Transit coordinates local service with MTA 
regional service at Kamaliche.   MTA partners with local and regional human and 
social services providers so that the best service possible is provided throughout the 
region on a regular basis. 

MTA administers a Volunteer Driver Program (VDP) that is possible through 
partnership with the Lewis, Mason and Thurston County Area Agency on Aging and 
funding from the Federal Older Americans Act and the Washington State Senior 
Citizens Act, as well as donations from recipients.  The VDP provides essential 
transportation for seniors (60+) who are unable to drive or use public transit to their 
out-of-county medical appointments and other essential services.  To provide this 
service, MTA utilizes volunteers that donate their time and drive their own vehicles.  
In 2019, the Volunteer Driver Program served 149 clients and covered 1,354 rides, 
60,463 miles and 2,726 volunteer hours. 

MTA’s vanpool program started in 2005. At time of publication, MTA has a fleet of 12 
vanpool vans to promote statewide ridesharing goals and benefits to commuters 
living or working in Mason County.  This program complements Mason Transit 
Authority’s network of local and express services, providing commute alternatives to 
destinations that cannot be effectively served by Fixed Route services.  In 2019, 
Mason Transit Authority Vanpools provided over 20,222 rides, 5.5% of the agency’s 
fixed route ridership.  2019 ended with 8 active vanpools. 

 

 

 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 100



 

Page | 6 
 

Map 1 – Service Area 
 

 

 

 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 101



 

Page | 7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 102



 

Page | 8 
 

Table 1 - Fares 
Travel within Mason County and Active Military     Fare Free 
Out of County Travel: 

Cash Fares 
Adults and Youth (one way)                                                                         $1.50 
Seniors and Persons with Disabilities                                                           $  .50 
Transportation Incentive Program (PSNS)                                                   $ 2.50 
Children under six                                                                                  No Charge 

Monthly Pass 
Adults                                                                                                          $  30.00 
Seniors and Persons with Disabilities                                                          $  10.00 
Youth (ages 6-17 years)                                                                              $  18.00 
Summer Youth Adventure Pass                                                                  $  20.00 
Transportation Incentive Program (PSNS)                                                  $110.00 

 

To qualify for reduced fare due to a disability, riders are required to show a Regional Reduced 
Fare Permit (RRFP) card. RRFP eligibility is based on age, disability or possession of a Medicare 
card. Personal care attendants ride free when accompanying a person with a RRFP. 
Transportation Incentive Program (TIP) passes are available for Worker/Driver routes to and 
from Puget Sound Naval Shipyard for day shift employees. Routes originate in Belfair and 
Shelton. Active-duty military personnel with current military ID are not charged fare if ID is 
shown. 

In July 2018, MTA began recognizing the STAR pass for State of Washington employees living 
in Mason County that work in Thurston County. STAR pass holders are not charged a fare and 
MTA is compensated through the funds provided in the Transportation budget. 

Facilities 
MTA operations, maintenance and administrative facilities are located at 790 E. Johns 
Prairie Road in Shelton, Washington.  A rented satellite operations facility is located 
at 23780 NE State Hwy 3 in Belfair, Washington.  MTA also leases space at the Glacier 
West Boat, RV & Self Storage commercial storage facility on SR 106 in Belfair to park 
two coaches and five cutaway vans used to provide services in the northern part of 
Mason County. 

MTA owns the Transit-Community Center, formerly the Shelton Armory, located at 
601 W. Franklin St. in Shelton, Washington.  The facility was renovated with additional 
new construction transforming the original armory built in the 1950’s to a modern, 
ADA accessible and LEED Silver Certified Transit-Community Center (T-CC).  

A seven-acre parcel was purchased north of Belfair for a Park and Ride lot. The lot will 
contain 100 parking stalls and a building consisting of MTA office space, a meeting 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 103



 

Page | 9 
 

room, bathrooms, a kitchen, breakroom and future customer service area. The Park 
and Ride is slated to open in summer of 2021 with the building to open in 2022. 

Park and Ride Lots 
MTA supports a network of Park and Ride facilities that are located throughout 
Mason County.  At time of publication, 255 parking spaces are provided at facilities 
owned and operated by Washington State Department of Transportation, Mason 
County and the City of Shelton.  While MTA manages and provides routine light 
maintenance to these locations, the agency does not own the properties.  On 
average, 37 percent of the Park and Ride lot capacity is occupied on any given 
weekday.  

In November of 2015, MTA was formally awarded funding through the Washington 
State Regional Mobility Grant Program and the Connecting Washington Transit 
Project List for a major retrofit and improvement project of current Park and Ride 
lots located within Mason County. The project will add needed upgrades to existing 
locations including enhanced security, lighting, paving and electric car charging 
stations at high use lots.  The project also includes the building of one new Park and 
Ride facility in North Mason County and one within the city limits of Shelton.  The 
Shelton-Matlock Park & Ride was slated for improvements only but will now be 
relocated due to the Coffee Creek Fish Passage project. The funding provides over 
nine million dollars and includes local matching funds from MTA.  The state funding is 
apportioned over the current and next biennium budget periods.  In April of 2016, 
MTA selected SCJ Alliance of Lacey, Washington, to guide the project through to 
completion. MTA expects completion of the project in 2022.   

State and Agency Goals, Objectives and Strategies 
 

From 2020-2025, Mason Transit Authority will focus on the five key priorities in Table 2 
below. The table shows how MTA’s local priorities align with state goals established in the 
Washington State Transportation Plan.  

Through its mission, Mason Transit Authority strives to provide transportation choices that 
connect people, jobs and community; increasing the quality of life in Mason County. To 
that end, MTA’s proposed project and action strategies line up with the mission statement 
and the state’s public transportation objectives.  
 
The state’s six policy goals are: 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 104



 

Page | 10 
 

• Economic Vitality: To promote and develop transportation systems that stimulate, 
support, and enhance the movement of people and goods to ensure a prosperous 
economy. 

• Preservation: To maintain, preserve, and extend the life and utility of prior 
investments in transportation systems and services. 

• Safety: To provide for and improve the safety and security of transportation 
customers and the transportation system. 

• Mobility: To improve the predictable movement of goods and people throughout 
Washington State. 

• Environment: To enhance Washington’s quality of life through transportation 
investments that promote energy conservation, enhance healthy communities, 
and protect the environment. 

• Stewardship: To continuously improve the quality, effectiveness, and efficiency of 
the transportation system. 

Table 2:  2020 – 2025 Goals, Objectives, and Strategies, and Alignment with State 
Goal 

  State Goal Areas 

Goals, Objectives and Strategies 

Ec
on

om
ic

 V
ita

lit
y 

Pr
es

er
va

tio
n 

Sa
fe

ty
 

M
ob

ili
ty

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

St
ew

ar
ds

hi
p 

Goal I: Safe and Secure 
Objective 1.1 - Emphasize safety of MTA riders, citizens and 
employees in all aspects of MTA operations             

Strategic Work Plan 1.1.1 Define Safety Committee's 
purpose and direction     X   X   

Strategic Work Plan 1.1.2 Place curbs or bollards in 
parking area next to building at Johns Prairie     X       

Strategic Work Plan 1.1.3 Review WSTIP's Best Practices 
in the area of safety     X X   X 

Strategic Work Plan 1.1.4 Purchase rain jackets for 
employee safety     X       

Strategic Work Plan 1.1.5 Replace vehicles to comply with 
State of Good Repair goals   x X       
Objective 1.2 - Ensure training for a safe and secure 
experience for all and to eliminate preventable accidents             

Strategic Work Plan 1.2.1 Quarterly Driver training and 
refresher training as required   X X       

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 105



 

Page | 11 
 

Strategic Work Plan 1.2.2 Ensure L&I safety compliance 
through training.     X       
Objective 1.3 - Provide technology and resources to support 
secure movement of buses             

Strategic Work Plan 1.3.1 Complete CAD/AVL/GPS 
installation       X   X 
Objective 1.4 - Proactive approach to safety throughout the 
agency to increase and improve security throughout the 
service area             

Strategic Work Plan 1.4.1 Change from flag stops to fixed 
stops in urban area of Shelton     X X   X 
Objective 1.5 - Enforce transit rules and establish 
consistency of service to riders in a safe, accessible manner             

Strategic Work Plan 1.5.1 Have a manager or supervisor 
on duty during service hours by moving the Ops office to 
the T-CC     X X   X 
Goal 2: Effective Transportation Services 
Objective 2.1 - Creating a positive transportation experience 
within all modes of MTA services that is reliable, accessible, 
equitable, safe, secure and comfortable for all users             

Strategic Work Plan 2.1.1 Continue review of the 
Comprehensive Service Review suggestions to improve 
services           X 

Strategic Work Plan 2.1.2 Plan for 2021 service changes 
and ensure each mode meets the goals of creating a 
positive transportation experience for all   X X X   X 
Objective 2.2 - Establish a culture of customer service and 
deliver services that are responsive to community needs.             

Strategic Work Plan 2.2.1 Benchmark route performance 
and discontinue or adjust low performing routes           X 
Objective 2.3 - Strive to look for ways to improve service 
through a variety of tools including outreach, community 
meetings, service review and passenger amenities             

Strategic Work Plan 2.3.1 Review Dial-a-Ride services and 
hours to ensure efficiency and availability of resources       X   X 

Strategic Work Plan 2.3.2 Conduct outreach for all service 
changes X         X 

Strategic Work Plan 2.3.3 Improve passenger amenities 
by providing apps and on-line scheduling     X X   X 
Objective 2.4 - Seek new opportunities to enhance the 
riders' experience through better route planning and 
additional services when feasible             

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 106



 

Page | 12 
 

Strategic Work Plan 2.4.1 Seek pilot route opportunities 
to reach more riders X         X 

Strategic Work Plan 2.4.2 Expand Zipper route time to 
8:00am - 5:00 pm   X   X   X 

Strategic Work Plan 2.4.3 Allyn Transit Parking Lot 
planning   X         
Goal 3: Financial Stewardship 
Objective 3.1 - Operate an efficient, cost-effective system             

Strategic Work Plan 3.1.1 Prepare for potential revenue 
impacts           X 
Objective 3.2 - Maintain internal controls and compliance 
over public resources             

Strategic Work Plan 3.2.1 Ensure compliance of 2019-2021 
grant contracts           X 

Strategic Work Plan 3.2.2 Review and renew leases for T-
CC and Johns Prairie tenants   X       X 

Strategic Work Plan 3.2.3 Continued work in records 
management cleanup           X 
Objective 3.3 - Provide current, accurate and transparent 
financial data             

Strategic Work Plan 3.3.1 Provide accurate, timely 
financial reports to the Board and the public           X 
Objective 3.4 - Strive for a 5-year sustainability plan             

Strategic Work Plan 3.4.1 Review 5-year sustainability 
plan and adjust as needed           X 
Objective 3.5 - Plan for future operational and capital needs 
through maintaining financial reserves             

Strategic Work Plan 3.5.1 Transferring excess revenue to 
reserves for future operating and capital needs.   X       X 
Objective 3.6 - Proficiency in regulatory requirements 
through continuing education             

Strategic Work Plan 3.6.1 Procurement training for Public 
Works projects, prevailing wage requirements and FTA 
compliance           X 

Strategic Work Plan 3.6.2 Complete the competitive 
purchases analysis for FTA compliance           X 
Objective 3.7 - Manage key financial indicators             

Strategic Work Plan 3.7.1 Identify needed financial 
policies or manual to outline financial objectives           X 
Goal 4: Community Partnerships 
Objective 4.1 - Cultivate partnerships throughout the 
community             

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 107



 

Page | 13 
 

Strategic Work Plan 3.1.1 Prepare for potential revenue 
impacts   X   X   X 
Objective 4.2 - Participate in outside committees, regional 
planning organizations and boards             

Strategic Work Plan 3.2.1 Ensure compliance of 2019-2021 
grant contracts           X 

Strategic Work Plan 3.2.2 Review and renew leases for T-
CC and Johns Prairie tenants           X 

Strategic Work Plan 3.2.3 Continued work in records 
management cleanup           X 
Objective 4.3 - Participate in mentorship programs at local 
schools and colleges             

Strategic Work Plan 4.3.1 Staff share knowledge of the 
transit industry and job opportunities through mentorship 
programs and job fairs. X X         
Objective 4.4 - Exemplify exceptional customer service that 
goes above and beyond             

Strategic Work Plan 4.4.1 Training throughout the agency 
to ensure highest standards of customer service.   X   X   X 
Objective 4.5 - Provide transportation choices and support 
travel that uses less energy, produces fewer pollutants and 
reduces greenhouse gases in the region             

Strategic Work Plan 4.5.2 Seek opportunity through 
federal and state grants for electric or hybrid service 
vehicles         X   

Strategic Work Plan 4.5.1 Continue seeking opportunities 
to add electric infrastructure to MTA facilities         X   
Objective 4.6 - Support efforts to mitigate traffic 
congestion throughout the region             

Strategic Work Plan 4.6.1 Support groups like the PRTPO 
as well as partnering with other entities to help mitigate 
traffic. This includes using MTA's park & ride project for 
transit rider option to single occupant travel. X   X X X   
Objective 4.7 - Cooperative relationships with T-CC tenants 
and events             

Strategic Work Plan 4.7.1 Continue support to the 
tenants and promotion of events. X         X 
Goal 5: Workplace Culture of Excellence 
Objective 5.1 - Provide an atmosphere where employees are 
valued and respected             

Strategic Work Plan 5.1.1 Enhance meaningful employee 
recognition.           X 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 108



 

Page | 14 
 

Strategic Work Plan 5.1.2 Ensure policies are up-to-date 
and current through a regular review cycle.           X 
Objective 5.2 - Develop and empower employees             

Strategic Work Plan 5.2.1 Promote skills and job 
knowledge through webinars, conferences and training.   X X     X 

Strategic Work Plan 5.2.2              
Strategic Work Plan 5.2.3              

Objective 5.3 - Support the philosophy of team culture             
Strategic Work Plan 5.3.1 Bargain contracts   X   X   X 

Objective 5.4 - Promote healthy dialogue on important 
issues             

Strategic Work Plan 5.4.1 Improve communications 
through established methods and monitor outcome 
through a survey.   X       X 
Objective 5.5 - Encourage an active and engaged 
environment including Board of Directors             

Strategic Work Plan 5.5.1 Provide more Belfair interaction 
and oversight.             

Strategic Work Plan 5.5.2 Board participation through 
designated committees. X X X X   X 
Objective 5.6 - Be an employer of choice in Mason County             

Strategic Work Plan 5.6.1 Continue the Employee 
Engagement Committee for seeking opportunities to 
improve the work environment.   X       X 

Strategic Work Plan 5.6.2 Incorporate strategies for 
work/life balance in MTA's wellness program and 
encourage participation.           X 

 

Local Performance Measures and Targets 
 

MTA uses various tools to measure performance by looking for key issues and 
opportunities that may impact the goals of the Agency. Performance indicators may relate 
to such things as funding, demographic changes, ridership decline or employee shortage. 
Measuring performance allows the agency leadership team to look for ways to minimize 
the impact of shortfalls and strategize ways to meet the strategic goals and objectives.  

Transit Asset Management plan is used as a method to maintain and guide decisions on the 
agency’s assets, most importantly, rolling stock. 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 109



 

Page | 15 
 

Table 3:  2020 – 2025 Performance Measurements and Targets 
Performance Measure Target 

Technology Amenities 

Install CAD/AVL in all revenue vehicles                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
Install tablets on all revenue vehicles                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
Provide apps and icons on the MTA website for customers to schedule 

Passenger Amenities 

Install lighting in all shelters                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Construct or improve park and ride lots throughout Mason County to create 
convenient, safe locations for riders to park that will then increase ridership.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

Collisions Collisions per 100,00 revenue miles less than or equal to 1. 
Alternative Fuels Convert 10% of fleet to green, environmentally friendly alternative by 2025. 
Transit Productivity Benchmark of 8 passengers per service hour; 39,000 rides per month.   
Vehicle State of Good Repair Maintain 80% of the rolling stock within a state of good repair.   
Service Hours To maintain current levels of service hours at 1,300 per week. 

 

Plan Consistency 
 

Mason Transit Authority is a voting member of the Peninsula Regional 
Transportation Planning Organization and participates in the planning of regional 
project, policies and program decisions. Information regarding MTA is submitted 
to the PRTPO’s Coordinated Public Transit-Human Services Transportation Plan to 
align the with region’s goals. Projects are submitted to the Regional 
Transportation Improvement Program. 

Within Mason County, the Mason County Comprehensive Plan is used to 
coordinate consistency. MTA submits information to the Plan as required. 

Throughout the region, MTA coordinates with other connecting transits as well as 
efforts to align with the ferry systems, Amtrak and Greyhound.  

MTA continued efforts in strategic planning and implementation of goals, 
objectives and work plans.  Annually, we review the work plan to create projects to 
meet the goals of constant adherence to guidance provided through local, state 
and federal oversight implementing all service planning and effective/efficient 
changes, fleet replacement standards, facility upgrade and modernization planning 
and implementation, policy development and modification, and procedural 
standards.  

MTA incorporates the Transportation System Policy Goals throughout all strategies. 
These goals as addressed in RCW 14.04.280 include preservation, safety, mobility, 
environment, and stewardship.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 110



 

Page | 16 
 

Planned Capital Expenses 
 

The table below reflects planned capital expenses for 2020-2025. 

Table 4 – Planned Capital Expenses 
 

Year 
Received/Expensed Type 

Preservation/Replacement 
(quantity) 

Expansion/Improvement 
(quantity) 

Rolling Stock 
2020 Light-duty Cutaways 9   
2020 40 ' Coaches 2   
2020 Mini-cutaway   1 
2021 Light-duty Cutaways 6   
2021 35' Coaches 4   
2022 N/A     
2023 N/A     
2024 35' Coaches 2   
2025 N/A     

Equipment 
2020 Copy Machine 1   
2021 Scissor lift for T-CC   1 

2021 
Generator to power Johns 

Prairie   1 
2022 Generator to power T-CC   1 

Facilities and Infrastructure 
2021 North Mason Base   1 
2021 Radich building roof repair 1   
2023 Allyn Park & Ride   1 
2024 Bus Wash    1 

2025 
Administration building upgrade 

or replacement   1 
 

Planned Operating Changes 
 

At the time of preparing MTA’s Transit Development Plan, the agency is uncertain in 
regards to the ability to plan expansion due to the pandemic and the unknown 
outcome of I-976, both of which have the potential to reduce revenue to the system, 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 111



 

Page | 17 
 

which would result in a reduction of service. The agency is planning for a reduction in 
2021 due to I-976 but is taking the approach of looking for ways to improve the 
system. This approach will include looking for new areas for potential routes, 
increasing frequency on popular routes, lining up time points with major employers 
and exploring more efficient ways to deliver service. 

Table 5 outlines Mason Transit’s planned operating changes for 2020-2025. 

Table 5 – Planned Operating Changes 
 

Year Type Reduction Expansion/Improvement 

2020 
Implement service changes that include more 
Zipper hours of service and adjusted DAR hours   X 

2020 
Add a route to a high use area that is now served 
by DAR   X 

2020 Adjust express routes to better fit needs of riders   X 

2021 
Adjust route to serve new park & ride facility 
opening   X 

2021 Revise service hours based on impact of I-976 X   
2022 No service changes planned     
2023 Add service previously cut back as funding allows   X 
2024 No service changes planned     

2025 
Conduct an assessment of current service and 
adjust as needed   X 

 

Multiyear Financial Plan 
 

Capital Improvement: 
 The Park and Ride Development Project is expected to be completed in the 2021-

2023 Biennium. 
 Additional vehicle replacements are expected to be funded at 80% with a 20% 

match from local funds.  

Facility improvements, preservation and expansion that extend the life of the building 
according to MTA’s capitalization standards are expected to be funded by grants with 
local funds used as match. Building repairs or replacement to such equipment will be 
funded by reserves and appropriated through the capital budget presented annually. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 112



 

Page | 18 
 

Table 6 – Capital Purchases 
 

 

Operating Financial Assumptions through 2025 
 Local Sales Tax –While the average growth rate of sales tax revenue has been 8% 

over the past five years, to remain conservative, a 3% growth rate has been used 
to project out through 2025.  

 Operating Grants – State grant funds are anticipated to be reduce due to impact 
of I-976. At time of preparing the TDP, MTA has not included state funds in revenue 
projects beginning July 1, 2021. 

 Fares – Assumed 1% growth beginning in 2022. 
 Expended Reserves – Based on current projections expended reserves are deemed 

necessary to meet current service levels. Services designated for operating will 
expend in early 2022. 

 Salaries and Benefits – Based on union contracts through 2021 and non-
represented compensation assumptions, then assumed 2.5% growth through 2025. 

 Insurance – Used 5-year trend. 
 T-CC Expenses – 2.5% growth for expenses other than wages and benefits through 

2025. 

Capital Expenditure 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Cutaways 990,000     660,000     
Coaches 1,020,000 4,080,000 1,020,000 
Mini cutaway 82,000       
Copy Machine 7,000          
Scissor Lift 15,000       
Generators 100,000     100,000     
North Mason Base 1,750,000 
Radich Roof Repair 35,000       
Allyn Park & Ride 1,000,000 
Bus Wash facillity 500,000     
Park & Ride Development 3,847,379 1,992,612 1,542,500 771,250     

Administration building 
upgrade or replacement 2,500,000 

Total Capital Expenditures 5,946,379 8,632,612 1,642,500 1,771,250 1,520,000 2,500,000 

Capital Revenue 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Federal Competitive 1,507,500 3,555,000 800,000     1,216,000 2,000,000 
State Grants 3,646,147 2,521,250 1,542,500 771,250     
Local Funds 792,732     1,335,000 100,000     200,000     304,000     500,000     
Total Revenue 5,946,379 7,411,250 1,642,500 1,771,250 1,520,000 2,500,000 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 113



 

Page | 19 
 

 Other Goods and Services – Assumed 2.5% growth. 

Table 7 – Operating  
 

 

MTA designates reserves for future capital and operating expenditures, emergency 
funds, grant match obligations and general liabilities. At the end of 2019, the cash 
reserve balance invested was $10,000,000, which was an increase of approximately 
48% over the balance at the end of 2018. It is anticipated operating reserves currently 
set aside will be exhausted by the end of 2022 and require additional service 
reductions. This outcome is the result of the anticipated loss of state funds due to I-
976 impacts. 

 

Operating Revenues
2020 

Budget
2021 

Projected
2022 

Projected
2023 

Projected
2024 

Projected
2025 

Projected
Sales Tax 4,054,264 3,973,179 4,092,374   4,215,145   4,341,600   4,471,848   
Farebox 105,000     105,000     106,050       107,111       108,182       109,263       
Worker/Driver - Vanpool 260,000     260,000     262,600       265,226       267,878       270,557       
State Operating Grants 1,390,600 695,304     
Federal Operating Grants 1,658,688 1,436,854 1,465,027   1,494,328   1,524,215   1,554,699   
Other 291,030     348,597     359,055       369,827       380,921       392,349       
Transfers from Reserves 130,406     1,639,011 830,583       

Total Operating Revenues 7,889,988 8,457,945 7,115,689   6,451,636   6,622,795   6,798,716   
Annual % Change 7% -16% -9% 3% 3%

Operating and 
Maintenance Expenses 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Fixed Route Preservation 
and Maintenance 4,650,463 5,024,681 3,894,128   3,991,481   4,091,268   4,193,550   
Demand Response (DAR) 
Preservation and 
Maintenance 1,953,583 2,109,870 1,635,149   1,676,028   1,717,928   1,760,877   
Worker/Driver 
Preservation and 
Maintenance 1,046,043 1,077,424 1,104,360   1,131,969   1,160,268   1,189,275   
Vanpool Preservation and 
Maintenance 71,240       72,665       74,481         76,343         78,252         80,208         
Other 166,639     173,305     177,638       182,079       186,630       191,296       

Total Operating Expenses 7,889,988 8,457,945 6,885,756   7,057,900   7,234,347   7,415,206   

Profit (Loss) -              -              229,933       (606,263)     (611,552)     (616,490)     

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 114



 

Page | 20 
 

Projects of Regional Significance 
 

Mason Transit Authority has one major project of regional significance. In 2014, MTA 
was awarded funds to construct new park & ride lots and upgrade existing lots with 
security enhancements, passenger amenities and increased stalls. 

Agency History, Organizational Structure, 
Accomplishments, Outlook and Outreach Coordination 

 

Mason County Public Transportation Benefit Area, doing business as Mason Transit 
Authority (MTA), is a Public Transportation Benefit Area (PTBA), authorized in 
Chapter 36.57A RCW. Located in Mason County, Washington, the Mason County 
voters approved the PTBA in November 1991 and began public transportation service 
in December 1992.  The service area includes all of Mason County, if road access is 
available, with connections to adjacent counties. 

The proposition imposing a sales and use tax of two-tenths of one percent (0.2%) to 
fund public transportation was also passed in 1991, creating a prepaid fare system 
service. In the aftermath of Initiative 695 and the elimination of Motor Vehicle Excise 
Tax that was available to transits, the voters were asked to approve an additional 
four-tenths of one percent increase (0.4%) in 1999. The first attempt failed but was 
successful when County residents responded with an approval of the additional sales 
tax increase on September 18, 2001. This raised the taxing base to six-tenths of one 
percent (0.6%) or $.06 on every $10 of retail sales, effective January 1, 2002. MTA then 
began to charge a fare, but only for routes going out-of-county. 

Board of Directors: 
The Mason County Public Transportation Benefit Authority Board of Directors is 
composed of ten members as follows: 

 Three (3) elected members representing Mason County Commissioners; 
 One (1) elected member representing the City of Shelton Council; 
 Five (5) members who shall be elected officials selected by the Mason County 

Commissioners with the goal of seeking equal voting representation among 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 115



 

Page | 21 
 

the County Commissioner Districts. The recommendation was approved by 
Mason County and the City of Shelton pursuant to Resolutions Nos. 71-17 and 
1112-1217, respectively; and 

 In accordance with revisions made to RCW 36.57A.050, there shall be one (1) 
non-voting labor representative recommended by the labor organization 
representing the public transportation employees. 

Mason County Public Transportation Benefit Authority (MTA) Board Members at time of 
publication are: 

 Wes Martin, Grapeview School District (Chair) 
 Sharon Trask, Mason County Commissioner (Vice Chair) 
 Randy Neatherlin, Mason County Commissioner  
 Kevin Shutty, Mason County Commissioner 
 Kevin Dorcy, City of Shelton Council Member 
 John Campbell, North Mason School District  
 Deborah Petersen, Hood Canal School District 
 Sandy Tarzwell, Shelton School District 
 Matt Jewett, Southside School District 
 Greg Heidel, Bargaining Unit Representative 

Citizen Adviser to the Board: 
Effective January 1, 2019, there may be one (1) non-voting representative of the public 
residing in Mason County, Washington, as a citizen adviser to the Board. The citizen 
adviser to the Board shall serve for a period of one year (unless extended by motion by 
the Authority Board).  

At the time of publication of the Transit Development Plan, the position of the Citizen 
Adviser to the Board was filled by: 

 John Piety 

Public Outreach: 
MTA staff is committed to public engagement and transparency through robust public 
interaction that informs, involves, and empowers people and communities. Staff 
participate in several opportunities to promote and educate citizens through the 
following methods: 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 116



 

Page | 22 
 

 Public meetings 
 Media – outreach 
 Radio spots 
 Community events and meetings 
 Presentations 
 Website improvements 

 
The public outreach program includes: 
 Developing an awareness of MTA services with non-riders through 

presentations, media and community events. 
 Engaging riders and the general public by soliciting feedback through active 

seeking of information by face-to-face interaction and surveys. 
 Seeking opportunities to increase ridership amongst riders of choice. 
 Visiting businesses to discover way to assist their employees with 

transportation, either by using vanpool, fixed-route or Dial-a-Ride. 
 Promoting positive public image in the community and build relationships 

throughout. 
 Conducting Community Conversations to give the public opportunity to give 

input, suggestions and ask questions about MTA. 
 Public Hearings for service changes, Transit Development Plan (TDP), fare 

changes, and other topics that impact citizens. 
 
There are comment cards on MTA vehicles to be filled out and submitted as a method 
to communicate compliments, complaints or other information a rider wants staff to 
be aware. Management or designated staff responds to the individual comment cards 
as appropriate.  
 
Citizens may contact MTA through customer service or to an individual by the 
following methods: 
 Email: mta@masontransit.org 
 Phone: 360-427-5033 or 360-426-9434 or 800-374-3747 
 TTY/TTD: 711 or 800-833-6388 
 Website: www.masontransit.org 
 
Individual staff members may be contacted through using the website or phone to 
locate email addresses or phone extensions. 
 
For ADA needs, citizens may use the website or call customer service for assistance. 

2019 Accomplishments: 
The following chart lists major accomplishments by MTA during 2019.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 117

http://www.masontransit.org/


 

Page | 23 
 

Table 9 – 2019 Accomplishments 
  State Goal Areas 
2019 Accomplishments toward State Goal Areas 

Ec
on

om
ic

 V
ita

lit
y 

Pr
es

er
va

tio
n 

Sa
fe

ty
 

M
ob

ili
ty

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

St
ew

ar
ds

hi
p 

Administration 
Updated server, installed new desktops and other IT 
upgrades 

          X 

Reorganized records vault and began records 
management 

          X 

Wage analysis on non-represented employees, 
maintenance and drivers 

          X 

Restructured finance department for better efficiency           X 
Improved on-boarding process for drivers     X     X 
Lowered turn-over rate           X 
Updated 18 policies; created 6 new policies           X 
Created Employee Engagement Committee; re-established 
Wellness Committee 

          X 

Outreach 
Staff participation on outside committees to promote 
transit 

X           

Participated in local events X           
Presentations on Transit to community organizations   X   X     
Community Conversations with public X X   X   X 
Public Meetings for service changes, roundabout project 
and North Mason Park & Ride 

X X   X     

Outreach to major employers in the region to coordinate 
work and bus schedules 

X     X     

T-CC 
Passenger information Kiosk installed with monitor, 
charging station, electronic sign for passenger information 
and one for estimated arrival times 

  X       X 

Parking lot proposal released; soil testing completed X X         
Operations 
Reviewed recommendations from the Comprehensive 
Service Review 

X X X X   X 

Eliminated non-productive routes X X   X   X 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 118



 

Page | 24 
 

Created the Zipper route to provide a shorter, more 
frequent route 

X     X     

Addressed frequency of fixed route as requested in the 
survey done during the Comprehensive Service Review 

      X     

Lined up fixed route times in Olympia and Bremerton to 
better serve large employers 

      X     

Begin pilot route planning X     X     
Added another Operations Supervisor to make sure 
coverage is available during hours of operation 

    X       

Outlined supervisor training to ensure success of the 
operations team 

    X     X 

Consistent driver training - lowered rate of accidents per 
100k miles 

    X       

Semi-annual driver evaluations     X       
Upgraded cameras on coaches for safety and to expand 
storage for footage 

    X       

Maintenance 
Installed LED lighting in shop   X X   X   
New roofs on building 1 and 2   X         
Installed new door hoods   X X       
Created separate work/break areas           X 
Installed solar lighting in additional shelters     X       
Purchased coolers for shop   X X     X 
Replaced gate to bus lot for safety     X       
Chip sealed bus parking lot and driveway   X         
L&I Training and tech training     X     X 
Bus replacement builds for 9 cutaways, 4 coaches and mini 
cutaway 

  X X       

Major Projects 
Bus Technology - continue progress in installing tablets, 
CAD/AVL, new scheduling software, passenger counters 

  X X X     

Park & Ride Development - continued with new 
construction of park & ride lots and retro-fitting, 
upgrading existing lots 

X X X X   X 

T-CC Parking Lot - released RFP and continued work with 
Department of Ecology for the Voluntary Cleanup Program 

X X X   X   

New bus shelters add in 5 locations     X   X   
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 119



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   New Business – Item 3 – Actionable 
Subject:    Update to Drug and Alcohol Policy (POL-301) 
Prepared by:  LeeAnn McNulty, Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
This policy was previously prepared using the USDOT/FTA Policy builder. This update to 
the policy relates to a new Section 5.0 relating to MTA’s obligation to report positive 
test results and refusals to test for pre-employment and current CDL holders per 
RCW 46.25. 
 
Since this addition is a requirement by the USDOT and FTA for grant funding, this has 
not been reviewed by the Policy Committee. 
 
This has been reviewed by Legal Counsel.   
 
 
Summary: Amend existing Drug and Alcohol Policy (POL-301). 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
None. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approve 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
 
Move that the Mason Transit Authority Board Resolution No. 2020-14 and the attached 
Drug and Alcohol Policy (POL-301).  
 
 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 120



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 1 of 12 
 

1.0 Purpose of Policy 

This policy complies with 49 CFR Part 655, as amended and 49 CFR Part 40, as amended. Copies of Parts 
655 and 40 are available in the drug and alcohol program manager’s office and can be found on the 
internet at the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Drug and Alcohol Program website 
http://transit-safety.fta.dot.gov/DrugAndAlcohol/.  

All covered employees are required to submit to drug and alcohol tests as a condition of employment in 
accordance with 49 CFR Part 655. 

Portions of this policy are not FTA-mandated but reflect Mason Transit Authority’s policy or Washington 
State law. Portions of this policy are mandated by state law and are reflected in italics.  Mason Transit 
Authority’s additional provisions are identified by bold text.  

In addition, DOT has published 49 CFR Part 32, implementing the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, 
which requires the establishment of drug-free workplace policies and the reporting of certain drug-
related offenses to the FTA.  

All Mason Transit Authority employees are subject to the provisions of the Drug-Free Workplace Act 
of 1988. 

The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of a controlled substance is 
prohibited in the covered workplace. An employee who is convicted of any criminal drug statute for a 
violation occurring in the workplace shall notify the DAPM/DER, see Attachment B, no later than five 
days after such conviction.  

2.0 Covered Employees 

This policy applies to every person, including an applicant or transferee, who performs or will perform a 
“safety-sensitive function” as defined in Part 655, section 655.4.  

You are a covered employee if you perform any of the following: 

• Operating a revenue service vehicle, in or out of revenue service 
• Operating a non-revenue vehicle requiring a commercial driver’s license  
• Controlling movement or dispatch of a revenue service vehicle 
• Maintaining (including repairs, overhaul and rebuilding) of a revenue service vehicle or 

equipment used in revenue service 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 121

http://transit-safety.fta.dot.gov/DrugAndAlcohol/


 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 2 of 12 
 

• Carrying a firearm for security purposes 

See Attachment A for a list of covered positions by job title.  

3.0 Prohibited Behavior  

Use of illegal drugs is prohibited at all times. All covered employees are prohibited from reporting for 
duty or remaining on duty any time there is a quantifiable presence of a prohibited drug in the body at 
or above the minimum thresholds defined in Part 40. Prohibited drugs include: 

• marijuana 
• cocaine 
• phencyclidine (PCP) 
• opioids 
• amphetamines 

All covered employees are prohibited from performing or continuing to perform safety-sensitive 
functions while having an alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater.  

All covered employees are prohibited from consuming alcohol while performing safety-sensitive job 
functions or while on-call to perform safety-sensitive job functions. If an on-call employee has consumed 
alcohol, they must acknowledge the use of alcohol at the time that they are called to report for duty. If 
the on-call employee claims the ability to perform his or her safety-sensitive function, he or she must 
take an alcohol test with a result of less than 0.02 prior to performance. 

All covered employees are prohibited from consuming alcohol within four (4) hours prior to the 
performance of safety-sensitive job functions.  

All covered employees are prohibited from consuming alcohol for eight (8) hours following involvement 
in an accident or until he or she submits to the post-accident drug and alcohol test, whichever occurs 
first.  

4.0 Consequences for Violations 

Following a positive drug or alcohol (BAC at or above 0.04) test result or test refusal, the employee will 
be immediately removed from safety-sensitive duty and referred to a Substance Abuse Professional.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 122



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 3 of 12 
 

Following a BAC of 0.02 or greater, but less than 0.04, the employee will be immediately removed from 
safety-sensitive duties for at least eight hours unless a retest results in the employee’s alcohol 
concentration being less than 0.02.  

Zero Tolerance 

Per Mason Transit Authority policy, any employee who tests positive for drugs or alcohol (BAC at or 
above 0.04) or refuses to test will be referred to a Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) and terminated 
from employment. 

5.0 Positive Test Reporting 

In accordance with the provisions of RCW 46.25, Mason Transit Authority shall report positive drug test 
results and refusals to test of current CDL holders for tests conducted under the authority of the FTA 
regulations 49 CFR Part 655 to the Washington State Department of Licensing (DOL) under the following 
circumstances:  
  

1) An employee is terminated or resigns;  
2) An employee has exhausted all grievance processes up to, but not including, arbitration;  
3) An employee has not been cleared to return to performing safety sensitive functions.  

  
Also in accordance with this regulatory requirement, Mason Transit Authority’s MRO and BAT shall 
report all positive pre-employment drug test results or refusals to test for current CDL holders to DOL 
after consultation with Mason Transit Authority’s Drug and Alcohol Program Manager to confirm 
applicability of the regulation.  
  
Individuals whose positive test results or refusals to test are reported to DOL will be subject to the 
consequences outlined in the RCW. 

6.0 Circumstances for Testing 

Pre-Employment Testing 

A negative pre-employment drug test result is required before an employee can first perform safety-
sensitive functions. If a pre-employment test is cancelled, the individual will be required to undergo 
another test and successfully pass with a verified negative result before performing safety-sensitive 
functions. 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 123



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 4 of 12 
 

If a covered employee has not performed a safety-sensitive function for 90 or more consecutive 
calendar days and has not been in the random testing pool during that time, the employee must take 
and pass a pre-employment test before he or she can return to a safety-sensitive function.  
 
A covered employee or applicant who has previously failed or refused a DOT pre-employment drug 
and/or alcohol test must provide proof of having successfully completed a referral, evaluation, and 
treatment plan meeting DOT requirements.  
 

Reasonable Suspicion Testing 

All covered employees shall be subject to a drug and/or alcohol test when Mason Transit Authority has 
reasonable suspicion to believe that the covered employee has used a prohibited drug and/or engaged 
in alcohol misuse. A reasonable suspicion referral for testing will be made by a trained supervisor or 
other trained company official on the basis of specific, contemporaneous, articulable observations 
concerning the appearance, behavior, speech, or body odors of the covered employee.  
 
Covered employees may be subject to reasonable suspicion drug testing any time while on duty. 
Covered employees may be subject to reasonable suspicion alcohol testing while the employee is 
performing safety-sensitive functions, just before the employee is to perform safety-sensitive functions, 
or just after the employee has ceased performing such functions.  Following a reasonable suspicion 
test, a covered employee will be removed from safety-sensitive duties and placed on paid 
administrative leave until test results are received. 
 

Post-Accident Testing 

Covered employees shall be subject to post-accident drug and alcohol testing under the following 
circumstances:  
 

Fatal Accidents 
As soon as practicable following an accident involving the loss of a human life, drug and alcohol 
tests will be conducted on each surviving covered employee operating the public transportation 
vehicle at the time of the accident. In addition, any other covered employee whose performance 
could have contributed to the accident, as determined by Mason Transit Authority using the 
best information available at the time of the decision, will be tested.  

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 124



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 5 of 12 
 

Non-fatal Accidents  
As soon as practicable following an accident not involving the loss of a human life, drug and 
alcohol tests will be conducted on each covered employee operating the public transportation 
vehicle at the time of the accident if at least one of the following conditions is met: 

(1) The accident results in injuries requiring immediate medical treatment away from 
the scene, unless the covered employee can be completely discounted as a 
contributing factor to the accident 

(2) One or more vehicles incurs disabling damage and must be towed away from the 
scene, unless the covered employee can be completely discounted as a contributing 
factor to the accident 
 

In addition, any other covered employee whose performance could have contributed to the 
accident, as determined by Mason Transit Authority using the best information available at the 
time of the decision, will be tested. 

 
A covered employee subject to post-accident testing must remain readily available, or it is considered a 
refusal to test. Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the delay of necessary medical 
attention for the injured following an accident or to prohibit a covered employee from leaving the scene 
of an accident for the period necessary to obtain assistance in responding to the accident or to obtain 
necessary emergency medical care.  Following a post-accident test, a covered employee will be 
removed from safety-sensitive duties and placed on paid administrative leave until test results are 
received. 
 

Random Testing 

Random drug and alcohol tests are unannounced and unpredictable, and the dates for administering 
random tests are spread reasonably throughout the calendar year. Random testing will be conducted at 
all times of the day when safety-sensitive functions are performed.  
 
Testing rates will meet or exceed the minimum annual percentage rate set each year by the FTA 
administrator. The current year testing rates can be viewed online at 
www.transportation.gov/odapc/random-testing-rates.  
 
The selection of employees for random drug and alcohol testing will be made by a scientifically valid 
method, such as a random number table or a computer-based random number generator. Under the 
selection process used, each covered employee will have an equal chance of being tested each time 
selections are made.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 125

http://www.transportation.gov/odapc/random-testing-rates


 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 6 of 12 
 

 
A covered employee may only be randomly tested for alcohol misuse while the employee is performing 
safety-sensitive functions, just before the employee is to perform safety-sensitive functions, or just after 
the employee has ceased performing such functions. A covered employee may be randomly tested for 
prohibited drug use anytime while on duty.  
 
Each covered employee who is notified of selection for random drug or random alcohol testing must 
immediately proceed to the designated testing site.  
 
Random Testing – End of Shift 

Random testing may occur anytime an employee is on duty so long as the employee is notified prior to 
the end of the shift. Employees who provide advance, verifiable notice of scheduled medical or child 
care commitments will be random drug tested no later than three hours before the end of their shift 
and random alcohol tested no later than 30 minutes before the end of their shift. Verifiable 
documentation of a previously scheduled medical or child care commitment, for the period immediately 
following an employee’s shift, must be provided at least 30 minutes before the end of the shift.  

7.0 Testing Procedures 

All FTA drug and alcohol testing will be conducted in accordance with 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.  
 

Dilute Urine Specimen 

If there is a negative dilute test result, Mason Transit Authority will conduct one additional retest. The 
result of the second test will be the test of record. 
 
Dilute negative results with a creatinine level greater than or equal to 2 mg/dL but less than or equal to 
5 mg/dL require an immediate recollection under direct observation (see 49 CFR Part 40, section 40.67).  
 

Split Specimen Test 

In the event of a verified positive test result, or a verified adulterated or substituted result, the 
employee can request that the split specimen be tested at a second laboratory. Mason Transit Authority 
guarantees that the split specimen test will be conducted in a timely fashion.  
 
Test Refusals 
As a covered employee, you have refused to test if you: 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 126



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 7 of 12 
 

 
(1) Fail to appear for any test (except a pre-employment test) within a reasonable time, as 

determined by Mason Transit Authority. 
(2) Fail to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete.  An employee who 

leaves the testing site before the testing process commences for a pre-employment test has 
not refused to test.  

(3) Fail to attempt to provide a breath or urine specimen. An employee who does not provide a 
urine or breath specimen because he or she has left the testing site before the testing process 
commenced for a pre-employment test has not refused to test. 

(4) In the case of a directly-observed or monitored urine drug collection, fail to permit monitoring 
or observation of your provision of a specimen. 

(5) Fail to provide a sufficient quantity of urine or breath without a valid medical explanation. 
(6) Fail or decline to take a second test as directed by the collector or Mason Transit Authority for 

drug testing. 
(7) Fail to undergo a medical evaluation as required by the MRO or Mason Transit Authority’s 

Designated Employer Representative (DER). 
(8) Fail to cooperate with any part of the testing process. 
(9) Fail to follow an observer’s instructions to raise and lower clothing and turn around during a 

directly-observed test. 
(10) Possess or wear a prosthetic or other device used to tamper with the collection process. 
(11) Admit to the adulteration or substitution of a specimen to the collector or MRO. 
(12) Refuse to sign the certification at Step 2 of the Alcohol Testing Form (ATF). 
(13) Fail to remain readily available following an accident. 

 
As a covered employee, if the MRO reports that you have a verified adulterated or substituted test 
result, you have refused to take a drug test.  
 
As a covered employee, if you refuse to take a drug and/or alcohol test, you incur the same 
consequences as testing positive and will be immediately removed from performing safety-sensitive 
functions, and referred to a SAP.  

8.0 Voluntary Self-Referral 

Any employee who has a drug and/or alcohol abuse problem and has not been selected for 
reasonable suspicion, random or post-accident testing or has not refused a drug or alcohol test may 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 127



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 8 of 12 
 

voluntarily refer her or himself to the DAPM/DER, see Attachment B, who will refer the individual to a 
substance abuse counselor for evaluation and treatment.  
 
The substance abuse counselor will evaluate the employee and make a specific recommendation 
regarding the appropriate treatment.  Employees are encouraged to voluntarily seek professional 
substance abuse assistance before any substance use or dependence affects job performance. 
 
Any safety-sensitive employee who admits to a drug and/or alcohol problem will immediately be 
removed from his/her safety-sensitive function and will not be allowed to perform such function until 
successful completion of a prescribed rehabilitation program. 

9.0 Prescription Drug Use 

The appropriate use of legally prescribed drugs and non-prescription medications is not prohibited. 
However, the use of any substance which carries a warning label that indicates that mental 
functioning, motor skills, or judgment may be adversely affected must be reported to the DAPM/DER, 
see Attachment B. Medical advice should be sought, as appropriate, while taking such medication and 
before performing safety-sensitive duties. 

10.0 Contact Person 

For questions about Mason Transit Authority’s anti-drug and alcohol misuse program, contact the 
DAPM/DER, see Attachment B.  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 128



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 9 of 12 
 

Attachment A: Covered Positions  

The following list includes safety-sensitive job titles of MTA employees or contractors who meet FTA 
safety-sensitive criteria: 

• Cleaner/Fueler 

• CommCenter Supervisor 

• Custodian/Detailer 

• Customer Service Representative 

• Drivers 

• Facilities Technician 

• Mechanic 

• Maintenance Manager 

• Maintenance Support Technician 

• Operations Manager 

• Operations Supervisor 

• Operations Safety & Training Supervisor 

• Scheduler/Dispatcher 

• Service Mechanic 

• Worker/Driver 

  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 129



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 10 of 12 
 

Attachment B: List of Program Contacts  

Drug and Alcohol Program Manager (DAPM) & Designated Employer Representative (DER) 
LeeAnn McNulty, Administrative Services Manager 
790 E Johns Prairie Road, Shelton, WA  98584 
Office: (360) 426-9434 or 1-800-281-9434 ext. 138 
Secure Fax:  360) 426-9143 
Agency Cell: (360) 545-7969 
Email:  lmcnulty@masontransit.org 
 

Alternate Designated Employer Representative (DER) 
Haley Dorian, Accounting Assistant 
790 E Johns Prairie Road, Shelton, WA  98584 
Office: (360) 426-9434 or 1-800-281-9434 ext. 123 
Fax: (360) 426-9143 
Email:  hdorian@masontransit.org 
 

Second Alternate Designated Employer Representative (DER) 
Christina Haugan, Accounting Assistant 
790 E Johns Prairie Road, Shelton, WA  98584 
Office: (360) 426-9434 or 1-800-281-9434 ext. 152 
Fax: (360) 426-9143 
Email:  chaugan@masontransit.org 
 

Testing Coordinator                                                                                                                          
Mason General Hospital Lab    AWorkSAFE Service, Inc.   
901 Mountain View Drive    1696 Capital St. NE 
Shelton, WA  98584     Salem, OR 97301 
Phone: (360) 427-9565                  Phone: (503) 391-9363 
Hours:  Mon-Fri 8 am to 3 pm    Hours:  24 hr./day 
24 hr. Post-Accident/Reasonable Suspicion  
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 130



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 11 of 12 
 

Medical Review Officer    Employee Assistance Program 
Drug Free Business    ComPsych 
Dr. Dee McGonigle, MD, MRO   1-800-570-9315 
11511 N.E. 195th Street, Suite 102  www.guidanceresources.com 
Bothell, WA  98011 
Phone:  866-448-0651 
Phone:  425-489-0832 
 
Substance Abuse Professionals                                                                                                              
ComPsych     Alfreda Haines, NAADAC, SAP 
1-800-570-9315     F.H. Counseling & Associates, PLLC 
www.guidanceresources.com   917 Pacific Ave., Suite #214 
      Tacoma, WA 98402 
David Pearlman, NCAC II, SAP   Phone: (253) 777-4772 Ext. 31 
20102 Cedar Valley Road 
Suite 103 (Main Office) 
Lynnwood, WA 98036  
(425) 478-0152         
    
 
 

  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 131



 
 

Title: Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Number: 301 
Effective: July 21, 2020 
Cancels: June 18, 2019 
Prepared by: LeeAnn McNulty 
 Administrative Services Manager 
Approved by: Authority Board 
 Resolution No. 2020-14 

 

Page 12 of 12 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY DRUG AND ALCOHOL 
TESTING POLICY 

I, _________________________, hereby acknowledge that I have received a copy of the revised MTA 
Drug & Alcohol Policy mandated by the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit 
Administration, for all covered personnel who perform a safety-sensitive function. 
 
I understand this policy is required by and conforms to 49 CFR PART 655, as amended, and has been 
duly adopted by the governing body of MTA.  Any provisions contained herein which are not required by 
either 49 CFR Part 655  or 49 CFR Part 40, as amended, and have been imposed solely on the authority 
of MTA designated as such in the policy. 
 
I also affirm my understanding that compliance with all provisions contained in this policy is a condition 
of my initial and continued employment.  By accepting employment or continuing to be employed by 
MTA in a safety-sensitive position, I am giving my consent to submit to testing for alcohol and drugs as 
specified in this policy and the regulations upon which it is based. 
 
I hereby agree to comply with all requirements of MTA policy and USDOT reglations 49 CFR 655 and 49 
CFR 40 with regard to implementation and execution of their substance abuse programs. 
 
I further understand that the information contained in the approved policy is subject to change, and that 
any change or addendum to this policy shall be provided to me in a manner consistent with the 
provisions of 49 CFR Part 655, as amended. 
 
Please sign and date this certification and return it to the Administrative Services Manager. 
 
 
            
Employee Name (Print)     Witness Name (Print) 
 
            
Employee Signature     Witness Signature 
 
            
Date       Date  

 

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 132



Resolution No. 2020-14 Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-14 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY BOARD 
ADOPTING A REVISED DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Mason Transit Authority Board approved and adopted Mason Transit 
Authority’s Drug and Alcohol Policy (POL-301) on February 6, 1996; and 

WHEREAS, from time to time, revisions are necessary to be consistent and in 
compliance with drug and alcohol testing as mandated by the Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) and the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) in 49 CFR Part 40, 
and Part 655, as amended; and 

 WHEREAS, this revised policy includes a new Section 5.0 relating to MTA’s obligation to 
report positive test results and refusals to test for pre-employment and current CDL holders per 
RCW 46.25;  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
BOARD that the revised Drug and Alcohol Policy (POL-301), which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein, be established and adopted. 

 
Adopted this 21st day of July, 2020. 

 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Wes Martin, Chair     Sharon Trask, Vice-Chair 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
John Campbell, Authority Member   Kevin Dorcy, Authority Member 
 
 
_______________________________  ______________________________ 
Matt Jewett, Authority Member    Randy Neatherlin, Authority Member  
 
 
______________________________  ____________________________ 
Deborah Petersen, Authority Member  Kevin Shutty, Authority Member 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 133



Resolution No. 2020-14 Page 2 of 2 
 

 
______________________________  
Sandy Tarzwell, Authority Member 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO CONTENT:    _______    ______ 
          Danette Brannin, General Manager 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:        ______ 
    Robert W. Johnson, Legal Counsel 
 
 
ATTEST:        DATE:    ______ 
           Tracy Becht, Clerk of the Board 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 134



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:    New Business – Item 4 – Informational 
Subject:        WSTIP Risk Profile 
Prepared by:     Danette Brannin, General Manager  
Approved by:    Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:         July 21, 2020 
 
Background: 
 
Annually, WSTIP prepares a risk profile for each member that looks at auto losses. 
During the performance years, we have had three significant occurrences that have 
raised our loss statistics for Fixed Route (driver hit a guardrail) and Demand Response 
(two passenger falls). Vanpool has no loss statistics for the period being reported. 
Administrative/Maintenance had one occurrence with two claims in 2018 (ladder fell 
hitting two vehicles). 
 
Operations has taken steps to have frequent, quarterly and annual training to reduce 
potential losses. 
 
 
Summary:  Risk Profile information on MTA’s performance for years 2014-2018. 
 
 
 
 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 135



WASHINGTON STATE TRANSIT INSURANCE POOL

2019 Risk Profile

The Art of
Shared Vision            

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 136



Page intentionally left blank

Scan the QR code to order additional printed copies of this Risk Profile.

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 137



About the Graphs

Loss Rate

Loss Frequency
Claims

Loss Severity  Loss Severity Formula 
is a financial figure determined by taking the financial loss data (paid 
losses plus reserves) for a mode, divided by the number of claims 
experienced for that mode. The result is a dollar amount reflecting the 
average financial loss of a claim for that mode.

Losses Capped
= Loss

SeverityNumber of claims

 Loss Frequency Formula 

is a financial figure determined by taking the financial loss data (paid 
losses plus reserves) for a mode, multiplied by 1,000 miles and divided 
by the actual miles traveled by that mode. The result is a dollar amount 
of incurred losses per 1,000 miles traveled.

 Losses
Capped x  1,000

Miles = Loss
Rate

Miles Traveled

is the number of claims experienced for a mode, divided by the actual 
miles traveled by that mode and multiplied by 100,000 miles. The result 
is the number of claims incurred per 100,000 miles traveled. x 100,000

Miles = Loss
FrequencyMiles

Traveled

 Loss Rate Formula 

For completeness, graphs have been prepared to include all agencies in your group.
If an agency doesn't have the mode being graphed the agency name will be listed but with no values shown.

Your losses are capped at $50,000 as are the losses of all agencies in your group. Your group includes:
Clallam, Everett, Grant, Grays Harbor, Island, Link, Mason, Skagit, Whatcom and Yakima.

The following statistical information provides a comparison of your transit agency’s operational performance to 
other transit agencies of similar size and to the Washington State Transit Insurance Pool (WSTIP) as a group.  
The comparison will be of the fixed route, paratransit / demand response, vanpool modes and administrative & 
maintenance utilization for the years 2014 - 2018 with financial information presented as of 12/31/2019.

The loss data used in this report represents auto liability claims information only. No credit was given for 
deductibles or other recoveries. A claim is counted as a claim when an actual claim for damages was filed 
regardless if any money was paid (denied claims are counted as claims). Claim counts were not capped per 
event. The financial loss data used is capped, utilizing individual caps based on each agency’s size. This is the 
same financial loss cap utilized for determining member rates.

Mason Transit Authority

About This Report

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 138



Fixed Route

40,613 x 1,000 

15
3,602,350 

The WSTIP combined average loss 
severity was $4,678.

Mason's loss severity is 42% less 
than the WSTIP average.

 Loss Severity Formula 
40,613 

=  $ 2,708 
15

Mason had capped losses of $40,613 
and had 15 claims, equating to an 
average loss severity of $2,708 per 
claim made.

Mason's loss frequency is 48% less 
than the WSTIP average.

The WSTIP combined average loss 
frequency was 0.80.

x 100,000 =       0.42 

 Loss Frequency Formula 

Mason had 15 claims, traveled 
3,602,350 miles, equating to an 
average loss frequency of 0.42 
claims incurred per 100,000 miles 
traveled.

=
3,602,350

 $ 11.27 

Mason's loss rate is 70% less than 
the WSTIP average.

The WSTIP combined average loss 
rate was $37.29.

For the years 2014 - 2018

Mason had capped losses of 
$40,613, traveled 3,602,350 miles, 
equating to an average loss rate of 
$11.27 per 1,000 miles traveled.

 Loss Rate Formula 

$3.10

$23.91

$13.99

$37.68

$4.00

$34.79

$11.27

$32.38

$18.52

$29.09

$0

$5

$10

$15

$20

$25

$30

$35

$40

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Rate WSTIP  

0.36

0.94

0.23

0.69

0.28

0.63

0.42

0.54

0.85

0.61

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

0.40

0.50

0.60

0.70

0.80

0.90

1.00

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Frequency WSTIP  

$873

$2,549

$6,070
$5,460

$1,418

$5,523

$2,708

$6,016

$2,184

$4,796

$0

$1,000

$2,000

$3,000

$4,000

$5,000

$6,000

$7,000

$8,000

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Severity WSTIP  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 139



Paratransit / Demand Response

84,006 x 1,000 

12
1,724,385 

The WSTIP combined average loss 
severity was $4,992.

Mason's loss severity is 40% more 
than the WSTIP average.

84,006 
=  $ 7,001 

12

Mason had capped losses of 
$84,006 and had 12 claims, 
equating to an average loss severity 
of $7,001 per claim made.

 Loss Severity Formula 

Mason's loss frequency is 6% less 
than the WSTIP average.

The WSTIP combined average loss 
frequency was 0.74.

 Loss Frequency Formula 

x 100,000 =       0.70 

The WSTIP combined average loss 
rate was $37.11.

Mason had 12 claims, traveled 
1,724,385 miles, equating to an 
average loss frequency of 0.70 
claims incurred per 100,000 miles 
traveled.

1,724,385
=  $ 48.72 

Mason's loss rate is 31% more than 
the WSTIP average.

For the years 2014 - 2018

Mason had capped losses of 
$84,006, traveled 1,724,385 miles, 
equating to an average loss rate of 
$48.72 per 1,000 miles traveled.

 Loss Rate Formula 

$35.02

$26.60

$0.00

$29.39 $30.10

$3.82

$48.72

$7.78

$40.31

$19.92

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Rate WSTIP  

1.34

0.75

0.00
0.32

0.62
0.56

0.70

0.53

1.14 1.09

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Frequency WSTIP  

$2,612
$3,556

$0

$9,275

$4,837

$680

$7,001

$1,468

$3,526

$1,833
$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Severity WSTIP  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 140



Vanpool

0 x 1,000 

0
1,159,337 

The WSTIP combined average loss 
severity was $4,561.

Mason's loss severity is 100% less 
than the WSTIP average.

0 
=  $        -   

0

Mason had capped losses of $0 and 
had 0 claims, equating to an average 
loss severity of $0 per claim made.

 Loss Severity Formula 

Mason's loss frequency is 100% less 
than the WSTIP average.

x 100,000 =            -   

The WSTIP combined average loss 
frequency was 0.27.

 Loss Frequency Formula 

The WSTIP combined average loss 
rate was $12.30.

Mason had 0 claims, traveled 
1,159,337 miles, equating to an 
average loss frequency of 0.00 
claims incurred per 100,000 miles 
traveled.

1,159,337
=  $        -   

Mason's loss rate is 100% less than 
the WSTIP average.

For the years 2014 - 2018

Mason had capped losses of $0, 
traveled 1,159,337 miles, equating to 
an average loss rate of $0.00 per 
1,000 miles traveled.

 Loss Rate Formula 

$9.79

$0.00 $3.22

$14.19

$0.00 $0.91

$31.33

$0.44
$0

$5

$10

$15

$20

$25

$30

$35

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Rate WSTIP  

0.20

0.00 0.06

0.35

0.00 0.06

0.29

0.06
0.00

0.05

0.10

0.15

0.20

0.25

0.30

0.35

0.40

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Frequency

$4,939

$0

$5,716

$4,018

$0 $1,617

$10,810

$699
$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

$14,000

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Severity

WSTIP  

WSTIP  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 141



Administrative / Maintenance

3,359 x 1,000 

2
127,440 

2

The WSTIP combined average loss 
severity was $7,927.

Mason's loss severity is 79% less 
than the WSTIP average.

3,359 
=  $   1,679 

 Loss Severity Formula 

Mason's loss frequency is 220% 
more than the WSTIP average.

100,000 =         1.57 x

The WSTIP combined average loss 
frequency was 0.49.

Mason had capped losses of $3,359 
and had 2 claims, equating to an 
average loss severity of $1,679 per 
claim made.

 Loss Frequency Formula 

The WSTIP combined average loss 
rate was $38.83.

Mason had 2 claims, traveled 
127,440 miles, equating to an 
average loss frequency of 1.57 
claims incurred per 100,000 miles 
traveled.

127,440
=

Mason's loss rate is 32% less than 
the WSTIP average.

 $   26.36 

For the years 2014 - 2018

Mason had capped losses of $3,359, 
traveled 127,440 miles, equating to 
an average loss rate of $26.36 per 
1,000 miles traveled.

 Loss Rate Formula 

$89.31

$164.82

$67.62

$0.00 $18.30 $0.72 $26.36 $5.58 $14.85 $0.00
$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

$140

$160

$180

$200

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Rate

0.36

1.17

0.76

0.00

0.43

0.23

1.57

0.38

1.14

0.00
0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

1.60

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Frequency

$25,000

$14,113

$8,865

$0 $4,280 $319 $1,679 $1,473 $1,300 $0

-$4,000

$1,000

$6,000

$11,000

$16,000

$21,000

$26,000

Clallam Everett Grant Grays
Harbor

Island Link Mason Skagit Whatcom Yakima

Loss Severity WSTIP  

WSTIP  

WSTIP  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 142



[A] [B] [C] [D] [E] [F] [G] [H]

Small 
Asotin 163,998$      0.35% 1,593,077     0.32% 36,561$        0.13% 0.023$   2.40% 41.10%
Columbia 161,696        0.34% 1,617,992     0.33% -                    0.00% -            0.00% 0.00%
Jefferson 385,321        0.81% 3,878,632     0.79% 54,995          0.20% 0.014     1.49% 25.39%
Pacific 222,271        0.47% 2,268,381     0.46% 7,850            0.03% 0.003     0.36% 6.20%
Pullman 248,472        0.52% 2,249,147     0.46% 88,742          0.32% 0.039     4.13% 70.66%
RiverCities 297,251        0.63% 3,043,685     0.62% 86,509          0.32% 0.028     2.98% 50.90%
Twin 183,525        0.39% 1,818,341     0.37% 19,329          0.07% 0.011     1.11% 19.04%
Valley 309,108        0.65% 3,016,670     0.61% 35,280          0.13% 0.012     1.23% 20.95%

Medium 
Clallam 1,097,216     2.31% 11,175,449   2.27% 197,598        0.72% 0.018     1.85% 31.67%
Everett 1,156,575     2.44% 10,539,916   2.14% 540,582        1.97% 0.051     5.37% 91.86%
Grant 720,143        1.52% 7,327,223     1.49% 125,564        0.46% 0.017     1.80% 30.69%
Grays Harbor 861,930        1.81% 8,854,319     1.80% 252,018        0.92% 0.028     2.98% 50.98%
Island 1,434,089     3.02% 15,340,347   3.12% 193,782        0.71% 0.013     1.32% 22.62%

Link 1,224,410     2.58% 10,575,811   2.15% 401,476        1.46% 0.038     3.98% 67.99%

Mason 707,537        1.49% 6,613,512     1.35% 180,261        0.66% 0.027     2.86% 48.82%

Skagit 1,353,251     2.85% 14,489,146   2.95% 316,987        1.15% 0.022     2.29% 39.18%
WTA 1,736,271     3.66% 18,979,285   3.86% 691,080        2.52% 0.036     3.82% 65.21%
Yakima 828,733        1.75% 7,537,339     1.53% 206,548        0.75% 0.027     2.87% 49.08%

Large 
Ben Franklin 3,933,827     8.28% 44,404,542   9.03% 909,453        3.31% 0.020     2.15% 36.68%
Community 6,625,062     13.95% 69,839,542   14.21% 1,287,606     4.69% 0.018     1.93% 33.02%
C-Tran 3,522,102     7.42% 35,123,793   7.15% 1,349,915     4.92% 0.038     4.03% 68.83%
Intercity 3,898,026     8.21% 38,230,355   7.78% 1,636,191     5.96% 0.043     4.48% 76.65%
Kitsap 2,660,644     5.60% 26,130,006   5.32% 7,717,588     28.12% 0.295     30.95% 528.97%
Pierce 8,924,067     18.79% 102,261,966 20.80% 9,429,766     34.36% 0.092     9.66% 165.15%
Spokane 4,834,834     10.18% 44,664,861   9.09% 1,681,751     6.13% 0.038     3.95% 67.43%

WSTIP 47,490,359$ 100.0% 491,573,337 100.0% 27,447,432$ 100.0% 0.056$   100.0%

A favorable loss trend is less than 100% of the Pool and indicates the member's performance is better than of the 
WSTIP average (and therefore helping the Pool).  An unfavorable loss trend is more that 100% of the Pool and 
indicates the member's performance is worse than WSTIP average.

 Members 

 [E] / [C]
Losses
per Mile 

 % of
Total 

 [F] / [D]
(Loss% / 
Miles%) 

 Member 
Contribution 

 % of
Total 

 Miles
Traveled 

 % of
Total 

 Auto Liab
Losses

(Uncapped) 
 % of
Total 

Exposure to Loss Table: Auto Liability Uncapped (paid loss + reserves)
This table shows contributions for auto liability, miles traveled and auto liability losses for the years 2014 - 2018.
Column H compares a members % of loss to their % of miles to WSTIP as a whole (or 100% of the Pool).

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 143



Exposure to Loss Graphs:  For the years 2014 - 2018.

0.00%
0.10%
0.20%
0.30%
0.40%
0.50%
0.60%
0.70%
0.80%
0.90%

 Asotin  Columbia  Jefferson  Pacific  Pullman  RiverCities  Twin  Valley

Small Members

% Contribution % Actual Miles % Losses

0.0%
0.5%
1.0%
1.5%
2.0%
2.5%
3.0%
3.5%
4.0%

 Clallam  Everett  Grant  Grays
Harbor

 Island  Link  Mason  Skagit  WTA  Yakima

Medium Members

% Contribution % Actual Miles % Losses

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

 Ben Franklin  Community  C-Tran  Intercity  Kitsap  Pierce  Spokane

Large Members

% Contribution % Actual Miles % Losses

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 144



Grant Funding
The purpose of these grants is to 
provide funding for projects or programs 
intended to avoid, prevent, or reduce the 
likelihood of losses to WSTIP members.

Risk Management Grant
WSTIP members may receive up to 
$2,500 per year. The grant is generally 
used for loss prevention, loss reduction, 
safety, or training programs/products.

Network Security Grant
WSTIP members may receive up to 
$2,000 per year. The grant can be used 
for loss prevention, loss reduction, cyber 
security, or training programs/products.

Technology Grant
WSTIP members may receive up to 
25% of any one project. Officially the 
Technology Risk Reduction Initiative 

We Believe We Are in this Together

2019 Executive Committee

We Believe in Investing 
in Our Members

Grant Program, the Program exists to 
encourage WSTIP members to pilot 
emerging and or “new to the agency” 
technology specifically for loss 
prevention purposes. This grant program 
also strives to promote knowledge 
transfer among WSTIP’s membership 
regarding risk reduction technologies. 
This is a competitive grant program. 
Funding is subject to WSTIP budgeted 
amounts and is funded on a first come, 
first approved basis.

Put Ideas Into Action
Applications for Grant funding should be 
coordinated through your WSTIP Board 
Member Representative. Submit your 
application anytime before December 15. 
Questions regarding the grant program or 
your application are welcomed.

Contact Matthew Branson, Member 
Services Manager, matthew@wstip.org

We Are 
in This 

Together

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 145



We Believe We Are in this Together

Have questions about this 
report or how WSTIP can 

help you manage risk?
CONTACT US

Matthew Branson
Member Services Manager

matthew@wstip.org

Cedric Adams
Claims Manager

cedric@wstip.org

Chris DeVoll
Transit Risk Consultant

chris@wstip.org

Robyn Galindo
Claims Specialist
robyn@wstip.org

Laura Juell
Risk & Training Specialist

laura@wstip.org

Joel Lambert
Claims Associate
joel@wstip.org

We Believe in Training

We Believe in Managing Risk

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 146



WASHINGTON STATE TRANSIT INSURANCE POOL

PO Box 11219 Olympia, WA 98508

(360) 786-1620  |  www.wstip.org

30YEARS
SERVICEOF

1989-20191989-20191989-2019

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 147



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   New Business – Item 5 – Actionable 
Subject:    Surplus Vehicles 
Prepared by:  Marshall Krier, Facilities and Maintenance Manager 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
Mason Transit has nine cutaways that have exceeded their useful life and are ready for 
surplus: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All of these vehicles were replaced by recently acquired cutaways numbered 470-474 
and 480-483.   
 
 
Summary:  Surplus nine cutaway vehicles. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
TBD. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approve. 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
 
Move that the Mason Transit Authority Board adopt Resolution No. 2020-15 declaring 
and approving the surplus and disposal of vehicles as set forth therein.  

Vehicle 
Number 

Year, Model & 
Description 

  Current 
     Miles 

   
438 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 294,802 
439 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 272,243 
440 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 289,750 
441 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 278,886 
442 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 245,932 
443 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 246,984 
444 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 245,857 
445 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 244,927 
446 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 250,769 

   

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 148



Resolution No. 2020-15 Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-15 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY BOARD 
AUTHORIZING THE DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS VEHICLES. 

 
WHEREAS, the Mason Transit Authority Board, by Resolution No. 2000-04, as 

amended, has adopted established policies to ensure the fair, impartial, responsible and 
practical disposition of surplus property of MTA; and 

WHEREAS, such policies ensure that the public shall receive the greatest possible 
value for such items; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MASON TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
BOARD that the following vehicles be declared as surplus and to be disposed of pursuant to 
MTA’s Surplus Disposal Policy (POL-408): 

 

 
 
Adopted this 21st day of July, 2020. 

 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Wes Martin, Chair     Sharon Trask, Vice-Chair 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
John Campbell, Authority Member   Kevin Dorcy, Authority Member 
 

 

Vehicle 
Number 

Year, Model & 
Description 

  Current 
     Miles 

   
438 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 294,802 
439 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 272,243 
440 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 289,750 
441 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 278,886 
442 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 245,932 
443 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 246,984 
444 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 245,857 
445 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 244,927 
446 2012 Chevrolet Champion Challenger 250,769 

   

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 149



Resolution No. 2020-15 Page 2 of 2 
 

 
_______________________________  ______________________________ 
Matt Jewett, Authority Member    Randy Neatherlin, Authority Member  
 
 
______________________________  ____________________________ 
Deborah Petersen, Authority Member  Kevin Shutty, Authority Member 
 
 
______________________________  
Sandy Tarzwell, Authority Member 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO CONTENT:    _______    ______ 
          Danette Brannin, General Manager 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:        ______ 
    Robert W. Johnson, Legal Counsel 
 
 
ATTEST:        DATE:    ______ 
           Tracy Becht, Clerk of the Board 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 150



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   New Business – Item 6 – Actionable 
Subject:    Change Order 1 – T-CC Parking Lot 
Prepared by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
The following describes the need for Change Order 1 in connection with the contract 
between the City of Shelton and MTA dated February 25, 2016. 
  
The outcome of the soil testing conducted to complete the requirements to receive a No 
Further Action letter from the Department of Ecology’s Volunteer Cleanup Program 
resulted in finding contaminated soil that necessitated the handling, hauling and 
disposal of the soils to a facility that accepts contaminated soil. Because of the level of 
contamination in some of the soil, it had to be split between two facilities, one in 
Tacoma and one in Bremerton that takes higher level of soil contamination. The 
additional cost to the contract relates to the transporting of the contaminated soil, as 
well as three (3) additional working days. 
 
The original bid accounted for hauling soil off site to a location in Shelton. Initially the 
cost was estimated to be $33,810. The cost increased to $114,054, resulting in a 
request for approval of Change Order 1 in the amount of $80,244. 
 
 
Summary: Approval of Change Order No. 1 and resulting increase in costs of 
$80,244. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
Not to Exceed $80,244 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approve. 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
 
Move that the Mason Transit Authority Board approve Change Order No. 1 expenditure 
increase of $80,244 relating to the February 25, 2016 contract between the City of 
Shelton and MTA.  

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 151



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 152



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   New Business – Item 7 – Informational 
Subject:    Change Order 7 and 8 – Roundabout Project 
Prepared by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
The following describes Change Order 7 pertaining to the Log Yard Road/SR 3 
Roundabout: Provide short block walls at several illumination pole vault locations due to 
unforeseen slope constraints.  
 
This Change Order is a result of differences between the actual existing topography and 
interpolated survey information. The grades were not able to be flattened out due to 
the right of way constraints and continuation of the steep grade.  
 
The following describes Change Order 8 pertaining to the Log Yard Road/SR 3 
Roundabout: WSDOT required additional modification to the traffic control beyond what 
was approved in the plans. Active tracked these costs throughout the life of the project 
and provided a final additional traffic control cost. Also, due to WSDOT changes and 
project modifications after bid, additional survey staking was required throughout the 
project. 
 
This Change Order is a result of these additional costs throughout the life of the 
project.  
 
 
 
Summary: Information provided regarding Change Order 7 and 8. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
Change Order 7 - Not to Exceed $5,000 
Change Order 8 – Not to Exceed $7,571.22 
 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 153



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 154



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 155



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 156



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 157



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 158



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 159



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 160



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   New Business – Item 8 – Actionable 
Subject:    Change Order 2 – Pear Orchard 
Prepared by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
 
Background: 
 
The following describes Change Order 2 pertaining to the Pear Orchard Park & Ride: 
Remobilize to the project site and resume work on the park and ride lot. This includes 
subcontractors. The largest portion of the additional cost to resume the project relates 
to the increased site supervisor costs. The original bid from Scarsella assumed a site 
supervisor could be shared with the Coffee Creek project as that project was in early 
stages and it was assumed Pear Orchard would be complete or nearly complete when 
Coffee Creek was in full construction. The breakdown of the Change Order is included. 
 
This Change Order is a result of resuming work after a 13-month shut down due to 
potential contamination at the site. The City hired an environmentalist firm to do soil 
sampling around the discovered manhole. No contamination was found, and the City 
approved resuming the project.  
 
 
 
Summary: Information provided regarding Change Order 2 for the Pear 
Orchard Park & Ride. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
Not to Exceed $68,352.50. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approve. 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
 
Move that the Mason Transit Authority Board approve Change Order #2 not to exceed 
$68,352.50 to resume work on the Pear Orchard Park & Ride.  
 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 161



MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 162



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   Informational Report Item 1 - Informational 
Subject:    Mason Transit Authority Regional Mobility Park and Ride 

Progress Update 
Prepared by:  Patrick Holm, SCJ Alliance 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
Summary for Discussion Purposes:   
 
Project Management:  SCJ is continually managing the design team and subconsultant 
team. SCJ is tracking on-going project progress.  
 
Permitting: Permits have been completed for the MTA Park and Ride Development 
Program 
 
Log Yard Road/SR 3 Roundabout Project:  

• Construction 
o ACI has completed construction of the Log Yard Road roundabout. 

 
Belfair Park and Ride Project Advertisement: The Belfair park and ride documents have 
been revised and are being re-bid with the certain aspects detailed as alternates to 
allow MTA to phase construction if necessary. 
 
Pear Orchard Construction: Scarsella lowered their initial estimate from $78,000 to 
$68,000 to re-mobilize and complete construction. 
 
Construction Documents: Construction Document/Bid Packages are ready for Pickering 
Road and Cole Road and are currently being advertised with as a combined package. 
The combined package (Cole Rd, Shelton Matlock Rd, Pickering Road, and Belfair) was 
advertised on 7/8/20 and will be opened on 7/31/20. 
 
Other progress: Scarsella/Parsons provided their estimate to MTA for a total of 
approximately $590,000. WSDOT will remove the original price Scarsella/Parsons 
planned for the park and ride replacement, which was ~$73,000. The total cost of the 
Shelton Matlock Park and Ride will come to ~$517,000. 
 
SCJ is coordinating with Hood Canal Communications to provide security cameras at the 
Pickering Road park and ride. 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 163



Mason Transit Authority Regular Board Meeting 
Agenda Item:   Informational Report Item 2 – Informational 
Subject:    Management Reports 
Prepared by:  Tracy Becht, Executive Assistant 
Approved by:  Danette Brannin, General Manager 
Date:    July 21, 2020 
 
Summary for Informational Purposes: 
 
The monthly MTA Management Reports are attached for your information. 
 

M
ason T

ransit A
uthority B

oard 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 164



  

  

 

MTA MANAGEMENT REPORTS 
 

Submitted to MTA Authority Board July 21, 2020 
 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 165



 
 1 

M
TA

 M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

RE
PO

RT
S 

|7
/2

1/
20

20
  

 

MTA MANAGEMENT REPORTS 
Submitted to MTA Authority Board July 21, 2020 

GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

Below is a l ist of major activit ies for the month: 
 
Park & Ride Development: 

• Belfair: Roundabout has been completed.  
• Bid package for all projects was released on July 8, 2020. The bid package covers the remaining work 

to be done at Shelton-Matlock that was not part of the in-kind piece and expansion of the in-kind to be 
completed through the Coffee Creek fish passage project. Also included are Belfair Park & Ride, Cole 
Rd upgrades and Pickering upgrades.  

• Pickering: We are working on installing cameras now due to recent vehicle break ins. In the upgrade to 
Pickering, cameras were planned but the project is not slated to be released until mid-2021. We will 
be able to reuse the cameras when the project is done. 

• Please see Park & Ride informational page for more details. 
• Met with City Engineer and Public Works Director on Pear Orchard conditions and resuming work.  

T-CC Parking Lot: 
• Project is complete and looks amazing! 
• Ribbon Cutting will be held August 18 at 4:00pm in conjunction with the Board meeting. 
• We are still finishing up the documents for the No Further Action opinion. 
• It has cost MTA approximately $140k to complete the Voluntary Cleanup Program requirements. The 

biggest cost is transporting contaminated soil. It was a costly process to receive a NFA opinion and we 
are still working through the final details, but this will set any concern aside that DOE would later 
require us to clean up the site.  

EDC:  Attended monthly June EDC Board meeting (virtually). 
PRTPO:  

• Attended bi-monthly PRTPO meeting (virtually). 
WSTIP: Attended the following meetings/webinar (virtually): 

• Monthly Executive Committee meeting.  
• Quarterly Board Meeting. 
• Emerging Risk & Opportunities Committee meeting. 
• Governance Policy Committee meeting. (2) 

WSTA/SMTA: 
• Participated in weekly SMTA call with other GMs. 
• Attended virtual quarterly board meeting 

Webinars: Attended the following webinars: 
• COVID-19 Transportation Dashboard (topic was current travel patterns on roads) 
• Workforce Challenges During and Post COVID-19. 
• How COVID-19 Has Changed Public Transportation (current and future challenges were discussed) 
• COVID-19 Return-to-Work Issues for Washington Employers. 
• Restoring and Reimagining Transit Service in a Pandemic-Transformed World. 
• Transit Tuesday – Human Resources Best Practices During a COVID-19 World. 
• National RTAP ADA Toolkit Update. 
• CALSTART Campaign for Innovative Mobility in Federal Surface Transportation Bill.  

External Activities: 
• Participated as a panelist in TCC Transit Chat – Washington’s Rural Transit Systems. 
• Mike and I recorded a spot for iFiberone regarding return of some service levels. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 166



 

2 

M
TA

 M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

RE
PO

RT
S 

| 
7/

21
/2

02
0 

 

Internal Activities: 
• Updated the Transit Development Plan to present first look at the July board meeting. 
• Continued efforts on a daily and weekly basis on COVID-19 matters and planning as we work through 

the different Phases as well as new mandates. 
• Prepared for and attended negotiations meetings for the drivers’ contract. 
• Began preparing a policy review schedule. 
• Worked with marketing firm on finalizing tail signs, pamphlets and weekly ads. 
• Participated in WSDOT (virtual) Site Visit in June. 
• Working on DBE and ADA policies. 
• Updated the STIP. 
• Weekly meeting with Ops Manager to keep abreast of service needs, ridership and other operational 

aspects. 
• Staff planning with managers. 
• Outreach planning discussion with Kathy. 
• Visited Belfair office to present WSTIP Safety Awards to Tilman Robson and Lis Cree. 
• Met with Matt and Deb regarding drivers’ contract. 

Board Assistance, Awareness and Support: 
• With Rob’s assistance, we have begun the process of litigation with DoubleMap for breach of contract. 
• It is expected property insurance will increase on July 1, 2020 by approximately 20%. This will impact 

our assessment for our insurance premium in 2021. 
• It is expected healthcare cost will increase as high as 7% in 2021. 
• With the above two expected cost increases, along with expected decrease in revenue due to I-976, 

LeeAnn and I will be working on a budget scenario with assumptions of higher cost but lower revenue. 
A revenue decrease will relate to decreased service. Service decreases will need to be equitably 
reduced between fixed route and dial-a-ride. We will be seeking public input as we go through the 
process of potential service reductions. 

• Requesting Finance Board Committee to meet in August to assist with direction for preparing the 
2021 budget. 

• In our RTIP/STIP, we have two planning projects for potential park & ride or transit transfer stations – 
one in Allyn and one in Hoodsport. The planning projects would be to do a feasibility study to 
determine whether there is land available and whether it is needed and would be used. We had 
planned to submit a grant in 2020 through the Consolidated Grant Program for the Allyn study and in 
2022 submit a grant for the Hoodsport study. In light of our expected challenges, should we move 
forward with submitting a grant for the Allyn feasibility study?  

TEAM UPDATES 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES MANAGER – LeeAnn McNulty 
HR Support   

• Provided continuing support to the employees who remain out on COVID--19 related medical leave. 
• Assisted several employees with FMLA cases as access to medical services opens back up. 
• Attended AWC Benefit Trust virtual annual regional meeting. 
• Participated in WSDOT virtual Drug and Alcohol program compliance review.  Provided requested 

documentation to WSDOT for review and received great feedback for MTA’s program management. 
• Prepared revisions to the Drug and Alcohol policy at the recommendation of WSDOT.  The change 

incorporates Washington State language for reporting terms of when a positive result is reported to 
Department of Licensing into the policy. 

• Participated in WSTA HR Committee virtual meeting. 
• Attended L & I virtual training for new overtime exemptions that took effect July 1, 2020. 
• Attended WSTA sponsored Transit Talk: Human Resources Best Practices During a COVID 19 World 

webinar. 
Wellness 

• We have pressed pause on the wellness program while our employees manage the stresses of the 
current situation.  

 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 167



 
 3 

M
TA

 M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

RE
PO

RT
S 

|7
/2

1/
20

20
  

Recruiting 
• There are currently no open positions. 

Administrative Functions 
• We continue to await notification of when this year’s SAO audit will take place. 
• Participated in WSDOT virtual Admin and Financial audits. Provided documentation to WSDOT as 

requested to facilitate a virtual audit format. 
• Received validation from WSDOT for our Cost Allocation Plan. This plan that outlines how we allocate 

costs between our 3 primary operating projects when submitting for reimbursement. 
• Attended WSDOT training for the new Summary of Public Transportation reporting portal. 
• Prepared and submitted the 2019 Summary of Public Transportation to WSDOT. 
• Prepared first submission to the CARES Act grant. 
• Prepared and submitted all capital and operating grants reimbursement requests for Q2 2020. 
• Submitted Quarterly Progress Reports for all active grants for Q2 2020. 
• Completed IT security training. 
• Facilitated response to WSDOT for second round NTD report validations. 
• Participated in WSTA Finance Committee virtual meeting. 
• Processed vehicle licensing on the 9 new cutaways and two new worker driver coaches. 
• Attended WSTIP Medium Member Rep virtual meeting. 
• Attended WSTIP virtual board meeting. 

 
MAINTENANCE/FACILITIES – Marshall Krier 
 
Outreach and meetings: 

• Attended the WSTA Spring Maintenance Meeting and Forum. Because of the Covid-19 Virus, the event 
was conducted via Zoom.  

• Assisting with the Washington State Fuel and Bus Procurement Contract development via Zoom 
meetings. 

T-CC Facility: 
• Gym: Pickleball program has resumed 
• Conference Room: No activity due to COVID-19 virus. 
• Kitchen: No activity due to COVID-19 virus. 
 

T-CC Building Projects/Purchases/Maintenance 
Projects/Purchases 
• Continuing with Covid-19 virus cleaning protocol . 
• The parking lot project construction has reached substantial completion and we are addressing items 

from the punch list.   
• Resolved HVAC issues in gym building and repaired the software. 

Johns Prairie and Belfair Building Projects/Purchases/Maintenance: 
• Continued prep work for Unite GPS and Ecolane. 
• Driver barriers for five Gillig coaches have arrived and will be installed soon. 
• Ordered drivers barriers for 6 cutaways form Schetky N.W. 
• The two 40-foot Gillig Worker Driver buses have been placed in service. 
• The nine new cutaways have been placed in service. 
• Submitted documents WSDOT vehicle procurement audit. 
• Performed the Belfair round about walkthrough and punch list with ACI and SCJ. 
• Scheduled meeting with the City of Shelton to discuss environmental options for the Pear Orchard 

Park and Ride project and what we need to do to proceed with construction. 
 
OPERATIONS – Mike Ringgenberg 

• COVID-19:  COVID-19:  We have spent countless hours keeping up with all the changes for COVID-19.  
Due to social distancing we only allow 10 riders on a coach and 4 riders on a DAR. 

o The Good:  We gained 4,277 riders back in June over May!  Drivers and Operations   
Supervisors are doing an “AWESOME” job of educating riders on the requirement of wearing a 
mask and providing them one if needed. 

o The BAD:  Our June ridership is still down 67% or 26,159 riders compared to Feb. 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 168



 

4 

M
TA

 M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

RE
PO

RT
S 

| 
7/

21
/2

02
0 

 

o The UGLY:  We have lost approximately 98,903 riders in the last 4 months due to COVID-19 
(using Feb 2020 ridership data).       

• DOL:  Lisa Davis drafted and submitted a plan to the Department of Licensing on how MTA will train 
new bus drivers in the COVID-19 environment and it was approved.  Congrats LISA! 

• Ecolane:  We are slowly rolling out Ecolane DAR software and hardware on July 13 and hope to have a 
full rollout on July 20.   

• Recovery Rides:  We conducted seven recovery rides in June to help stranded passengers who missed 
routes due to reduced services.  Operations Supervisors conducted 11 driver/passenger assistance 
calls in June. 

• Training:  Lisa trained three staff on CPR/AED/FA.  Matt conducted backing training at Glacier West 
with two drivers.  

• Meals on Wheels:  Senior Center requested our help with the Meals on Wheels program. During June 
we delivered 1,154 meals to Mason County residents.   

• New Cutaways:  We have nine new DAR vehicles in service and they are performing great! 
• New Worker/Driver buses:  We received 2 new Gillig 40’ diesel buses (870 and 871) for our 

Worker/Driver routes to Puget Sound Naval Shipyard.  We had them inspected by PSNS on July 13 and 
hope to have them on the road by July 17.        

• Shake ups:  During the month of July, the CommCenter conducted one shift shake up.  The Drivers 
conducted two shift shakeups: 

o June 1 shake up: We only allowed one driver per 11 blocks of work. 
o June 15 shake up: We had many drivers return to work, so we increased from 11 blocks of 

work to 20 blocks of work. 
Our next shake up will take effect on July 27 for drivers.    

• Outreach presentations:  All outreach presentations have stopped during the COVID-19 outbreak. 
• Vanpool: Usage rate for June 2020 was 70%; 7 of 10 vans were in use.  (Technically 2 of the 7 vans 

are parked while the workers are waiting to be allowed to go back to work)   
  

  

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 169



 
 5 

M
TA

 M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

RE
PO

RT
S 

|7
/2

1/
20

20
  

 

 

 

2020 WORK ITEMS UPDATE 
 

 

 

 

 

SEE ATTACHED SPREADSHEETS 

MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 170



2020 Work Items Completed as 
of 7/17/2020

1st Quarter Driver training and refresher training as required √

2nd Quarter Driver training and refresher training as required

Complete CAD/AVL/GPS installation

Change from flag stop to fixed stop in urban area of Shelton

Curbs or bollards at Johns Prairie

Purchase rain jackets

Manager or supervisor on-duty during service - Move Ops office √

Ensure L & I safety compliance through training

Review WSTIP Best Practices for Safety

Define Safety Committee's purpose and direction

Review DAR services and hours for efficiency and availability √

Expand Zipper route time to 8:00am-5:00pm √

Seek Pilot opportunities and funding

Continue review of Comp Service Review √

Conduct outreach for all service changes

Improve passenger amenities 

Plan for 2021 service adjustments due to impact of funding √

Progress

First Quarter Training included: 10 CPR/AED/FA Trainings; all drivers did 8 hours of refresher training on ADA 
callouts, Mindful Driving, G.O.A.L., Safety Incentives and PASS(wheelchair) Training.  One Vol. Driver trained 
and one new Worker/Driver; 57 of Operations staff participated in a 90 minute presentaton by the National 
Alliance of Mental Illness; retrained one driver on a coach; and training on the new Hybrid bus with 
Worker/Drivers. 

Letter of Termination has been sent; waiting refund and starting the process over. Testing with UniteGPS for 
CAD/AVL and working on contract with Ecolane for scheduling software. Have almost completed training on 
new scheduling software. Testing of Unite GPS is going well. Currently testing passenger counting. Ready 
for soft launch on Ecolane!

Objective 1: Safe and Secure

See Mike's Operations Update in the Manager's Report.

Working on logo to be placed on the jackets; will be using our WSTIP Safety Grant of $2,500 to purchase the 
rain jackets.

Operations office at T-CC is complete. Operations Supervisors are now available while service is operating.

Working on pilot route for Lakeland Village and ATS (Agate, Timberlake and Shorecrest).
We have completed looking at recommendations from the Comp. Service Review. However, we will continue 
to use this document as a reference.

We did outreach on our current service changes - public meetings, direct communication with riders and a 
radio spot. Outreach has/is being conducted during the COVID-19 crisis through press releases and rider 
alerts; keeping website up-to-date with current information and route changes.
Completed the information center at the T-CC; working on new scheduling software that has an app for 
scheduling a ride and knowing where the bus is.

Objective 2: Effective Transportation Services

Once regular service hours resume, we will continue to track DAR and complete a survey on the whether the 
changes we made in Feb are providing efficiency and availability. Until then, the project is considered 
completed as our Feb. 3, 2020 shake up changes showed an 8% increase in DAR ridership.

Service levels will be returning to 75% of what we had pre-COVID. We will be using this base line 
as the premise for future service levels should the impact of I-976 becomes a reality. In the TDP, 
we show a reduction in service in 2021-2022.

Zipper route time has been expanded.

N:\Admin\Admin Shared\MTA Authority Board ARCHIVAL\2020 Authority Board\Workplan Update 2020 MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 171



Benchmark route performance and monitor low-performing routes

Procurement training for Public Works projects √

Prepare for I-976 impacts

Create needed financial policies or manual

Ensure compliance of grant contracts

Review 5-year sustainability plan √

Prepare for Paid Family Medical Leave rollout √
Maintain Fair Labor Standard Act compliance through updated 
training

Records Management - Network reorganization

Conduct Community Conversations to solicit input

Participate in community events

Promote City and County partnerships

Participate in outside committees, RTPO and boards

Participate in mentorship programs

Promote Volunteer Driver Program

Park & Ride project (through 2023)

Brand vehicles √

Progression toward inclusion of electric vehicles

Improve communications through established methods

Incorporate wellness program and encourage participation

Promote skills and job knowledge

Kick off of Wellness Program was done at the All-MTA Meeting with the first wellness challenge. The 
committee has several activities planned.

GM working with Ops and Finance on expanding knowledge of staff.

Objective 5: Workplace Culture

The Employee Engagement Committee is working through a communication plan.

This is currently on hold due to COVID-19.

Delivering meals to seniors during the COVID-19 crisis.

Working with City on T-CC Parking Lot project

Danette: PRTPO, EDC, WSTIP, WSTA. Kathy: Moving Mason Forward, TIP CAP, Opiate Stakeholders. LeeAnn: 
WSTIP. Marshall: Centralia College Diesel Advisory Committee.

No activities this month.

See Park & Ride informational page for update.

Reviewing a grant opportunity for electric bus.

Objective 4: Community Partnerships and Responsibility

Staff talked to Patty Wagon to discuss forming a partnership so if we are short drivers we can get some 
assistance from them. Since several of our Volunteer Drivers are older, they are not driving as much so MTA 
drivers are filling the gap and taking clients to essential appointments in an MTA vehicle.

Standard design for branding buses is complete;  some of the new cutaways will have taglines on them 
promoting MTA.

Objective 3: Financial Stewardship

Staff attended training. Policy has been updated. Processes and forms have been created. Finance staff 
trained department heads.

We will begin to look at the financial impact as it appears the initiative will be upheld. 

The 5-year sustainability plan has been updated. Staff will be seeking input from the Board.

Policy has been created. Employees have been presented with information at the All-MTA Meeting.

The file structure has been planned and the IT Team is in the process of creating a new drive. New drive has 
been created. Next step is to begin using new drive and naming structure.

N:\Admin\Admin Shared\MTA Authority Board ARCHIVAL\2020 Authority Board\Workplan Update 2020 MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 172



Bargain contracts for drivers and Comm Center

Employee Engagement committee 

Enhance meaningful employee recognition √

Provide more Belfair interaction and oversight

Prepare a policy review schedule GM began review of policy dates.

Drivers' contract has a tentative agreement. Have not started the Comm Center contract yet.

Committee continues to meet. A survey was prepared for the All-MTA meeting and we had 78% participation. 
The next project to work on is a communication flow chart. Last committee meeting was canceled due to 
coronavirus. Meetings will resume later in July.

We have revised the employee recognition policy; have incorporated a safety bonus for drivers; are being 
mindful of showing appreciation. 

N:\Admin\Admin Shared\MTA Authority Board ARCHIVAL\2020 Authority Board\Workplan Update 2020 MTA Regular Board Meeting 
July 21, 2020, Pg. 173


	ADPBDCB.tmp
	Mason Transit Authority
	Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting
	May 19, 2020
	NEW BUSINESS
	UPCOMING MEETING

	ADP915B.tmp
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	AGREEMENT   1
	ARTICLE 2 RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT 1
	ARTICLE 3 JOINT LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 2
	ARTICLE 4 NON-BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES 2
	ARTICLE 5 EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS 2
	ARTICLE 6 STRIKES OR LOCKOUT 3
	ARTICLE 7 UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES 3
	ARTICLE 8 BUSINESS REPRESENTATIVES AND UNION ACTIVITY 4
	ARTICLE 9 INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED TO THE UNION 5
	ARTICLE 10 NON-DISCRIMINATION  5
	ARTICLE 11 DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE  6
	ARTICLE 12 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  9
	ARTICLE 13 ALTERATION OF AGREEMENT  12
	ARTICLE 14 SAFETY AND TRAINING  13
	ARTICLE 15 REQUIREMENT OF MEDICAL EXAMINATION 14
	ARTICLE 16 HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, INCLEMENT WEATHER
	PAY AND OTHER WORK ASSIGNMENTS  15
	ARTICLE 17 RATES OF PAY AND CLASSIFICATIONS  18
	ARTICLE 18 PAID AND UNPAID LEAVES  19
	ARTICLE 19 PERSONNEL BENEFITS  26
	ARTICLE 20 PERSONAL TOOLS AND WORK CLOTHES 28
	ARTICLE 21 SENIORITY  28
	ARTICLE 22 LAYOFF, RECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADES  29
	ARTICLE 23 PROBATION  31
	ARTICLE 24 PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS  31
	ARTICLE 25 SUBCONTRACTING  32
	ARTICLE 26 SHIFT BIDDING  33
	AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE 2 - RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT
	ARTICLE 3 - JOINT LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
	ARTICLE 4 - NON-BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES
	ARTICLE 5 - EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS
	ARTICLE 6 - STRIKES OR LOCKOUT
	ARTICLE 7 - UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES
	ARTICLE 8 - BUSINESS REPRESENTATIVES AND UNION ACTIVITY
	ARTICLE 9 - INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED TO THE UNION
	ARTICLE 10 - NON-DISCRIMINATION
	ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE
	ARTICLE 12 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	ARTICLE 13 - ALTERATION OF AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE 14 – SAFETY AND TRAINING
	ARTICLE 15 - REQUIREMENT OF MEDICAL EXAMINATION
	ARTICLE 17 - RATES OF PAY AND CLASSIFICATIONS
	ARTICLE 19 - PERSONNEL BENEFITS
	ARTICLE 20 - PERSONAL TOOLS AND WORK CLOTHES
	ARTICLE 22 - LAYOFF, RECLASSIFICATION, DOWNGRADES & RECALL
	ARTICLE 23 - PROBATION
	ARTICLE 24 - PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS
	ARTICLE 25 - SUBCONTRACTING
	ARTICLE 26 - SHIFT BIDDING
	ARTICLE 27 - SAVINGS CLAUSE
	ARTICLE 28 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT
	THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK
	APPENDIX A - WAGE SCHEDULES
	APPENDIX B
	ACCIDENT REVIEW COMMITTEE
	New Article
	APPENDIX C


	ADPDE57.tmp
	Plan Adoption, Public Hearing and Distribution
	Plan Adoption
	Public Participation Process
	Plan Distribution
	Description of Service Area, Operations and Facilities
	Service Area
	Operations
	Map 1 – Service Area
	Table 1 - Fares
	Facilities
	MTA operations, maintenance and administrative facilities are located at 790 E. Johns Prairie Road in Shelton, Washington.  A rented satellite operations facility is located at 23780 NE State Hwy 3 in Belfair, Washington.  MTA also leases space at the...
	Park and Ride Lots

	State and Agency Goals, Objectives and Strategies
	Table 2:  2020 – 2025 Goals, Objectives, and Strategies, and Alignment with State Goal
	Local Performance Measures and Targets
	Table 3:  2020 – 2025 Performance Measurements and Targets
	Plan Consistency
	Planned Capital Expenses
	Table 4 – Planned Capital Expenses
	Planned Operating Changes
	Table 5 – Planned Operating Changes
	Multiyear Financial Plan
	Capital Improvement:
	Table 6 – Capital Purchases
	Operating Financial Assumptions through 2025
	Table 7 – Operating
	Projects of Regional Significance
	Agency History, Organizational Structure, Accomplishments, Outlook and Outreach Coordination
	Board of Directors:
	Citizen Adviser to the Board:
	Public Outreach:
	2019 Accomplishments:
	Table 9 – 2019 Accomplishments

	ADP5074.tmp
	1.0 Purpose of Policy
	2.0 Covered Employees
	3.0 Prohibited Behavior
	4.0 Consequences for Violations
	Zero Tolerance

	5.0 Positive Test Reporting
	6.0 Circumstances for Testing
	Pre-Employment Testing
	Reasonable Suspicion Testing
	Post-Accident Testing
	Random Testing

	7.0 Testing Procedures
	Dilute Urine Specimen
	Split Specimen Test

	8.0 Voluntary Self-Referral
	9.0 Prescription Drug Use
	10.0 Contact Person

	ADP66EE.tmp
	GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT
	Below is a list of major activities for the month:
	Board Assistance, Awareness and Support:

	TEAM UPDATES
	2020 WORK ITEMS UPDATE

	Workplan Update 2020.pdf
	2020




